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As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 4, 1999

Registration No. 333- / IO&,

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
L FORM F-1 -
\ : REGISTRATION STATEMENT ;,
‘ UNDER :

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 RECD 8.E.C.

NDS Group plc NOV 4 1999

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Not Applicable 074
- (Translation of registrant’s name into English)
England and Wales 7372 Not apl!)licable
(State or other jurisdiction of (Primary Stendard Industria] (LR.S. Employer
incerporation or organization) Classification Code Number) Identification Number)
NDS Group plc
1 Heathrow Boulevard
286 Bath Road
West Drayton, Middlesex, UB7 0D(QQ, England
44-181-476-8000
(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of regisirant’s principal executive offices)
ARTHUR M. SISKIND, ESQ.
The News Corporation Limited
1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, New York 10036
(212) 852-7000
(Name, address, ncluding zip code, and teiephone number, including area code, of agent for service)}

Copies of all communications to:

JEFFREY W. RUBIN, ESQ. VINCENT J. PISANO, ESQQ.
Squadron, Ellenoff, Plesent & Sheinfeld, LLP Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
551 Fifth Avenue 919 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10176 New York, NY 10022
(212) 661-6500 {212) 735-3000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement
becomes effective.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are (o be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under
the Sccurities Act check the following box. .

If this Form is filed (o register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the
l'?}‘]oyvmg box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same
offering. —

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list
the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective re gistration statement for the same offering. -

[f this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list
the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective regisiration statement for the same offering. [J..__

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box. [}

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Proposed
maximum Proposed
Amount offering maximum
fo be price agpregate Amount of
Title of each class of securities to be registered registered(l) | per unit(2) { offering price(2) | registration fec
Series A Ordinary Shares, nominal value $0.01 per share (3) ... .. 10,350,000 | $17.00 [$175,950,000 | $48,914.10

{1} Includes Series A Ordinary Shares in the form of American Depasitary Shares (*"ADSs™) that (i) are to be offered and sold in the United States, (ii)
are expected to be offered and sold outside the United States, and (iii) may be purchased and resold by the Underwriters pursuant to an over-allotment
cpton. See “Underwriting."

(2) Estimated solely for the purpose of computing the amount of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(0) under the Securities Act of 1933.

(3) A separale Registration Statement on Form F.6 (Registration No. } is being filed with respect to the registration of ADSs evidenced by
American Depositary Receipts issuable upon the deposit of the Seres A Ondinary Shares registered hereby. Each ADS represents one Series A
QOrdinary Share.

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay
its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specificaily states that this Registration
Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the
Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to Section 8(a), may
determine.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This registration statement contains two forms of prospectus: one to be used in connection with an offering
in the United States and Canada and one to be used in a concurrent offering outside the United States and
Canada. The prospectuses are identical in all material respects except for the front cover page. The US.
prospectus is included herein and is followed by the alternate front cover page to be used in the Intemational
prospectus. The alternate page for the International Prospectus included in this registration statement is labeled
“Alternate Cover Page for International Prospectus.” Final forms of each prospectus will be filed with the
Commission under Rule 424(b) (2).
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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. A repistration statement relating to these securities has been filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell

these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state or other jurisdiction where the offer or salie is not permitted.

PROSPECTUS (Subject to Completion)
Issued November 4, 1999

9,000,000 American Depositary Shares

REPRESENTING SERIES A ORDINARY SHARES

NDS Group plc is offering 9,000,000 Series A ordinary shares in the form of American deposilary
shares, or ADSs. Each ADS represents one Series A ordinary share and will be represented by
American depositary receipts, or ADRs. This is our initial public offering and no public market
currently exists for our shares or ADSs. We anticipate that the initial public offering price will be
between $15 and $17 per ADS.

We have applied te quote our ADSs on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “NNDS” and
on the European Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation. *

Investing in our ADSs involves risks. See “Risk Factors™ beginning on page 5.

- PRICE § PER ADS

Underwriting
Price Discounts and Proceeds to
o Public Commistions NDS Group ple
Per ADS .. e . b ] ¢
Total .. ... k3 3 i3

NDS has granted the underwriiers the right to purchase up to an additional 1,350,000 ADSs to
cover over-allotments.

The Securities and Exchange Cormmission and stale securities regulators have not approved or
disapproved these securities, or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any
representation o the contrary is a ecriminal offense.

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated expects to deliver the ADSs to purchasers on , 1999.

MORGAN STANLEY DEAN WITTER
ALLEN & COMPANY INCORPORATED
MERRILL LYNCH & CO.

November |, 1999
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You should rely only on the information contained in this document. No one has authorized any person to
provide you with different information, If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you
should not rely on it. No one is making an offer to sell the ADSs in any jurisdiction where such offer or sale is
not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this document is accurate only as of the date
on the front cover of this document unless such information is stated to be given as of another date. Our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since any such date. No one has taken
any action that would permit a public offering to occur in any jurisdiction other than the United States and
Belgium. Persons who possess this document should leam about and observe any restrictions on the offering of
the ADSs and the distribution of this document.

We were organized under the laws of England and Wales in September 1985 and were reorganized as a
public limited company in 1996. Qur principal executive offices are located at 1 Heathrow Boulevard, 286 Bath
Road, West Drayton, Middlesex, UB7 0DQ, England, and our telephone number is 44-181-476-8000,

Until » 1999 (25 days after the date of this prospectus), ail dealers that buy, sell or trade the
ADSs or the Series A ordinary shares, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to
deliver s prospectus. This is in addition to the obligation of dealers to deliver a prospectus when acting as
underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or Subscriptions.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

You should read the following summary together with the more detailed information regarding NDS and the
ADSs and our financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus,

About NDS

We are a leading provider of conditional access systems to digital pay-television broadcasters based upon
the number of subscribers to our customers’ services. We also provide broadcast control software and related
products and services to pay-lelevision and data broadcasters.

Conditional access systems scramble programming content to prevent unauthorized access to this content
and, therefore, are a necessary component of every pay-televiston system. Our conditional access systems enable
our customers to package programiming content in pay-television channels and pay-per-view events and charge
their subscribers for access to these channels and events. Our conditional access systems also enable cur
customers to provide to their subscribers electronic program guides and interactive services, including interactive
advertising and e-commerce.

Our conditional access systems consist of three principal components:
*  software that we develop that is installed at the broadcaster’s facilities;
*  software that we develop that is integrated into a viewer’s set-top box or digital television; and

*  aremovable credit card-sized smart card which is inserted into each viewer’s set-top box, digital
television or personal computer.

Smart cards contain an embedded computer chip that we design and also incorporate software that we
develop. Smart cards allow broadcasters to separate the implementation of conditional access services from the
set-top box, which, in wum, allows broadcasters to introduce new features and services to their subscribers by
upgrading their smart cards rather than by requiring the replacement of all set-top boxes,

We also design and develop broadcast control software that is essential for managing and operating a digital
television broadcasting facility. We complement our product offerings with a wide range of services, including
consuling, broadcast system design and integration, support and maintenance and, in some cases, on-site
operation and management of our customers’ conditional access systems.

Our customers include leading pay-television broadcasters worldwide. In the digital saeellite television
market, our customers include DIRECTYV in the U.S.; BSkyB in the U.K.; Galaxy, NetSat and Innova in Latin
Americz; and DIRECTV Japan, STAR TV and Sky New Zealand in the Asia-Pacific region. We estimate that
our customers provide services using our conditional access systems and smart cards to over 50% of the world’s
digital satellite subscriber base. In the emerging digital cable market, our customers include Cablevision in the
U.S., NTC in China and Madritel in Spain. :

We currently derive the majority of our revenues from long-term contracts with broadcasters with respect Lo
their conditional access systems, inctuding the supply of smart cards. Our revenues depend in large pant on the
number of customers for our systems and services, the number of our customers’ subscribers and the number of
smart cards required by our customers’ systems.

Our principal operations are located in the UK, and Israel. We also have sales, technical and customer
suppon facilities in the U.S., Hong Kong and Australia,
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We are currently an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of The News Corporation Limited, a South Australia
corporation. Upon the closing of this offering, News Corporation will beneficially owe all of our Series B
ordinary shares, which represent approximately 97.9% of the voting power of our ordinary shares, By reason of
this ownership, News Corporation will be able to elect our entire board of directors and to control the vote on all
other matters submitted to our shareholders, In addition, broadcasters in which News Corporation has an
ownership interest, including BSkyB, currently account for, and are expected to continue to account for, a
significant portion of our revenues. In fiscal 1999, approximately 42% of our revenues from continuing
operations was derived from these broadcasters, the majority of which was derived from BSkyB.

The Offering
ADSsoffered .................... 9,000,000 ADSs
US.offeing................. ADSs
International offering . .......... ADSs
Offeringprice. . .................. $ per ADS

Ordinary shares outstanding after the
offering ........... P 9,000,000 Series A ordinary shares®
42,001,000 Series B ordinary shares®
Over-allotment option. . . ........... 1,350,000 ADSs

Voting rights

Series A ordinary shares ........ One vote per share
Sertes B ordinary shares ........ Ten votes per share
ADSs. ... ., Each ADS represents the right 0 receive one Series A ordinary

share. The ADSs are evidenced by American depositary receipts, or
ADRs. See “Description of American Depositary Receipts.”

Useof proceeds .................. We estimate that the net proceeds of the offering will be
approximately $130.0 million, assuming an initial public offering
price of $16.00 per ADS, based on the midpoint of the price range
set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. We intend to use the
net proceeds to repay indebtedness to a subsidiary of News
Corporation. See “Use of Proceeds.”

Dividend Policy .................. We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our ordinary shares.

Proposed Quotations . . ... ........,. We have made applications for the ADSs (and the Series A ordinary
shares which they represent) to be quoted on the Nasdag National
Market under the symbol “NNDS” and on the European
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation Market,

(1) Excludes 3,121,791 Series A ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding options. See
“Capitalization.”

(2) Series B ordinary shares generally vote as a class with Series A ordinary shares and are convertible into
Series A ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis. All of the Series B ordinary shares are beneficially owned
by News Corporation. See “Relationship with Principal Shareholder and Certain Related Party
Transactions” and “Description of Share Capital.”
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Summary Financial and Operating Data

The summary financial data presented below for NDS Group plc and its consolidated subsidiaries for each of the
years in the three-year period ended June 30, 1999 and at June 30, 1998 and 1999 have been derived from our
consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus,
which have been audited by Arthur Andersen, independent chartered accountants, and should be read in conjunction
with those financial statements and related notes.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK. GAAP, which differs in some
respects from U.S. GAAP. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—U.S. GAAP Reconciliation” and Note 28 of the notes to our consclidated financial statements for a
discussion of the principal differences between U.K. and U.S. GAAP.

On July 1, 1999, we sold our digital broadcasting business to Ordinto Investments, which is also a subsidiary of
News Corporation, which subsequently sold the business to Tandberg Television ASA on October 14, 1999,

UK. GAAP
Flacal Year Ended June 30,
1997 1998 1999 1999
(ln thousands, except per share data}

Profit and Loss Accounts;

Tumover —Continuing operations . .................... £ 89022 £ 101332 £ 127,574 $§ 201,120
—Discontinued operations(l) ................. 78,515 87,465 88,348 139,281
167,537 188,797 215,922 340,401
Costofsales .......o.oiiiinuen (89,256) (90,276)  (101,020)  (159,258)
Gross profit ... ... . 78,281 98,521 114,902 181,143
Operalng eXpenses . ........i (69,981) (87,394) (98,029)  (154,543)
Operating profit {loss)
—LContinuing operations .. ................... 5,742 8,137 18,734 29,534
—Discontinued operations(1) ................. 2,558 2,990 (1,861) (2,934)
8,300 11,127 16,873 26,600
Finance charges(net) .. ............................. (11,066) (10,444) (13,205) (20,818)
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation .......... (2,766) 683 3,668 5,782
Taxation ... ... 312 (508) (1,194) (1,882)
Profit (foss) on ordinary activities after taxation . . ....... ... (2,454) 175 2,474 3,900
Minority interests(2). . . ... ..ot (527) (293) (356) (561)
Profit (loss) for the financial -2 S £ (2981 ¢ (118) £ 2,118 § 3,339
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share ............... (7.1p) (0.3p) 5.0p 7.9¢
Weighted average shares outstanding basic and diluted ... ... 42,000,666 42,001,000 42,001,000 42,001,000

(1) Discontinued operations refer to the digital broadcasting business that we transferred on July 1, 1999 to Ordinto
Investments and which was subsequently sold to Tandberg on October 14, 1999 for £130.7 million.

(2) Minority interests represent the interest that News America Incorporated held in NDS Americas, Inc. prior Lo our
acquisition of this interest on November 1, 1999,
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The pro forma as adjusted financial information is adjusted to reflect the sale of our digjtal broadcasting business
on July 1, 1999 as if it had occurred on July 1, 1998 and to reflect this offering and the application of the expected net
proceeds of this offering, including repayment of a portion of the intercompany debt. For full details of the adjustments,
see “Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Information.”

The pro forma adjustments for the sale of the discontinued digital broadcasting business reflects the receipt of
cash of the digital broadcasting business and the repayment of intercomnpany and other debt financing from the
proceeds of the sale of £70.6 million. The impact of the debt repayment on financing charges is reflected in the
condensed income statement.

The pro forma adjustments also reflect the application of the net proceeds of the offering (o repay a portion of the
long-term intercompany debt and the impact upon associated finance charges. The net proceeds have been computed
assuming the sale of 9,000,000 ADSs at a price of £10.15 per ADS (US$16.00 per ADS), after deducting an estimated
£8.880,000 of offering expenses.

US. GAAP
Fisea} Year Ended June 30, 1999
Adjustments  Adjustments
for the sak for the

of the application
discontinued of the

digital Pro
broadcasting from this Forma

Actual business offering As Adjusted

(in thousards, except per share data)
Condensed Income Statement Information:
Revenues ....... ... .. . .. ... .. .. . . . ... £137,024 £f — £f — £137,024 3216018

Operatingincome ............... ..., 21,434 — — 21,434 33,791
Interest income/(expense} (net) . ................. (13,205) 6,799 6,463 57 90
Income before income taxes .................... 8,229 6,799 6,463 21,491 33,881
Incometaxes...........ooviueennnnnnnnn. (2,258) (2,091 {1,987) {6,336)  (9,989)
Income from continuing operations ............... £ 5971 £4.708 £4476 £ 15155 § 23,892
er— e = e —
Income from continuing operations per share . ... .... 14.2p —_ —_ 29.6p 46.7¢
UK. GAAP US. GAAP
Az of June 30,
Adjustments
for the
application
Adjustyents ofthe
for the sale of the proceeds
discontinued digital from this Pro Forma
Actual Actual broadcasting business offering As Adjusted
1998 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet:
Total assets........... £ 140377 £182,163 £ 183,252 £(75,836) £ — £107,416 $169,341
Long-term liabilities .... (132,996) (133,540) (133,540) 11,687 82,461 (39,392) (62,101)
Total other liabilities . . . . (94.516) (132,757) (136,297) 69,341 — (66.956) (105,556)
Minority interests .. ..., (1,268) {1,753} —_ — — _
Sharehoiders’ equity

{deficit). . .......... (88,403) (85,887) (86.585) 5,192 82,461 1,068 1,684

ESC0179792
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the following risks before making an investment decision. Our business,
operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. The trading
price of our ADSs could decline due to any of these risks, and You could lose all or part of your investment. You
also should refer 1o the other information set forth in this prospectus, including our financial statements and the
related notes to those fmancial statements.

Risks Related to Our Industry

Our business will suffer if we do not respond rapidly to the commercial and technological changes in
the broadcasting industry.

The market for conditional access systems, broadcast control software and interactive television applications
is characterized by rapid technological change, evolving industry standards and frequent product enhancements.
Many digital broadcasters are seeking more sophisticated software which will afford them greater flexibility in
delivering programming material such as films and sports events, Intenet web pages as well as other information
to viewers, including the ability to offer:

® interactive services which permit viewers to request information about a specific program or subject,
respond to advertisements and purchase products and services:

¢ video-on-demand which allows viewers to select and view flms at their convenience from an electronic
catalog of titles; and

®  pay-per-view events which permit viewers to select and view events at scheduled times for a perevent
charge.

Broadcasters are also seeking to furnish programming and other content through newer forms of
transmission, such as digital terrestrial television and data broadcasting to computers. Digital terrestrial television
is a digital television service that uses land-based broadcasting facilities similar to those used by traditional
analog free-to-air television services. Data broadcasting facilitates the rapid distribution of large amounts of data
simultaneously to a number of computers by using infrastrycture similar to thar used for broadcasting television
programming. Our continued success will depend, in part, upon:

®  the pace of the commercialization and acceptance by consumers and businesses of a wide variety of
broadband digital media, such as digital satellite, cable and terrestrial television and the Internet and
applications; and

®  our ability to develop and market products and services that respond to technological changes and
evolving industry standards in a timely and cost-effective manner.

If the market for conditional access systems, broadcast control software and interactive television applications
does not develop or develops more slowly than we anticipate, or if we should fail to develop and introduce products
and services that are compatible with industry standards, satisfy customer requirements and compete effectively
with products and services offered by our competitors, our business, operating results and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected. :

Our operating results and growth could decline if our customers’ subscriber bases do not continue to
increase,

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from our sales of smart cards to our customers, ongoing
support and maintenance fees paid by our customers based upon the number of their subscribers and royalties
paid to us by third-party manufacturers for each set-top box incorporating our technology which is used by our

5
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customers’ subscribers. This portion of our revenues is largely dependent wpon our customers’ subscriber
numbers and the number of smart cards required by our customers’ systems. A majority of the existing large
digital satellite broadcasters have already entered into arrangements relating to conditional access software and
services, and few new large systems are being planned. In addition, digital cable and digital terrestrial
broadcasting have only recently been introduced. If our digital broadcasting customers® subscriber numbers do
not continue to increase or if the number of smart cards required by our customers' systems decreases
substantially, we are unlikely to be able to generate or sustain substantial revenue growth and our operating
results will be seriously harmed.

Our business could be harmed if the security provided by our conditional access systems and products
is compromised.

In common with all providers of conditional access systems, we face risks relating to the failure of those
Sysiems to protect broadcasters and content providers from signal theft. An important component of our
conditional access systems is the smart cards we provide for the broadcasters’ individual subscribers.
Unauthorized viewing and use of content may be accomplished by counterfeiting or otherwise thwarting the
security features of the smart card. Any significant increase in the incidence of signal theft could require the
accelerated replacement of a broadcaster’s smart cards sooner than otherwise planned. In those cases where we
have accepted specific responsibilities for maintaining the security of a broadcaster’s conditional access system,
significant costs could be impesed on us if a security breach requires an accelerated replacement of smart cards.
To the extent that signal theft may result in the cessation of all or some portion of the per-subscriber fees paid 1o
us by a broadcaster while the security breach is being remedied or, in the termination by the broadcaster of cur
agreement if the breach is not satisfactorily remedied, the resultan: loss of revenues could have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. A significant increase in the level of signal theft,
whether or not resulting from a failure of our conditional access systems, could also injure the reputation of our
conditional access systems among our customers and potential customers, also adversely impacting our business.

Our business could be harmed if a defect in our software or technology interferes with or causes any
failure in our customers’ systems.

Cur software and technology are integrated into the products and services of our customers. Accordingly, a
defect, error or performance problem with our sofiware or technology could interfere with or cause a critical
component of our customers’ digital satellite, digital cable and digital terrestrial television or Internet service
systems to fail for a period of time. Although we have not experienced any such interference or failure in the
past, any future problem could cause severe cusiomer service and public relations probiems for our customers
and could damage our relationship with our customers. As a result, any interference with or failure of any critical
component of our customers’ systems caused by our technology could result in:

®  delayed or lost revenue due to adverse customer reaction:

®  impaired ability of our customers to bill subscribers for services:

®  negative publicity regarding us and our products and services; and

®  claims for substantial damages against us, regardless of our responsibility for such failure.

Any claim brought against us could be expensive to defend and require the expenditure of a significant
amount of resources, regardless of whether we prevail,

Intense competition could reduce our market share and harm our financial performance,

We compete both 10 attract new customers and to retain our existing customers. As new pay-television
providers enter the market, and as existing broadcasters announce plans which will require them to acquire new
software in order to transition their services from analog to digital transmission, we and many of our competitors
solicit this new business. Our principal competitors include NagraVision, a division of Kudelski SA: Scientific
Alanta, Inc.; General Instrument Corporation; Canal+ Technologies S.A.; Viaccess, a division of France Telecom;

6
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Sony Corporation; Irdeto B.V., a subsidiary of MIH Ltd.; and Philips Electronics. Many of our competitors and
potential competitors have significant financial, product development and marketing resources. While we believe
most purchases of conditional access systems are not based solely on cost, to the extent that our competitors seek
to compete with our software and related products and services on the basis of price, such competition may cause
us to lose market share and may result in reduced profit margins. It may also hinder our ability to enter into and
successfully develop our business in emerging areas, such as data broadcasting and interactive television services
that enable the viewer to purchase goods and services using their television and remote control. In addition, some
of the companies that currendy operate in the software business but have not historically been active competitors
of ours may, in the future, through acquisitions or the development of their own resources, seek to enter and obtain
significant market share in our current or planned business areas. This increased competition from existing
competitors or new entrants into our business areas could resuit in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of
market share, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition.

Year 2000 complications may disrupt our operations and harm our business.

Many existing computer programs and electronic devices mistakenly treat dates falling after December 31,
1999 as dates during the twentieth century because they use only two digits (o identify a year in the date field. If
not corrected, those programs or devices could fail or create erroneous results by or at the Year 2000, Year 2000
1ssues may affect us in connection with our products and the software and systems we use in our operations as
well as the software and systems which our suppliers, customers and strategic partners operate ot upon which
they rely. If we or any of those entities fail to successfully resolve any Year 2000 issues, our business, operating
results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected, including as a result of claims which could
be time consuming to defend, result in costly litigation and divert management’s attention.

Our operations are dependent upon the proper functioning of our intemal information systems. We have
conducted a program to identify and remedy any Year 2000 issues with our principal information systems, We
identified some systems that were not Year 2000 compliant. We have, however, completed our remedial work on
these systems. If that remediation work is not effective in remedying those Year 2000 issues, our business, results
of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

As part of our Year 2000 compliance program we have conducted an audit or tested our products to
determine if they are Year 2000 compliant. As pan of this program, we have offered customers of our non-
customized products limited guarantees with respect to the Year 2000 compliance of those products. The
guarantee s limited to the purchase price of the products, However, in the event of a Year 2000 related failure of
those products, we cannot assure you that this limitation of liability would be effective in all circumstances and
our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

We are conducting a Year 2000 customer update program for customers with our customized conditional
access systems that have been developed by us 10 address the specific requirements of individual customers. At
the date of this prospectus, our updates have not been fully implemented and tested by all of our customers. We
cannol be certain that the updates, even when implemented and tested, will be effective to remedy any Year 2000
compliance issues and will be compatible with our customers’ other software or systems. In addition, our
agreements with some of our customers contain limited representations as to the Year 2000 compliance of some
of our products.

Although we have taken steps to contact our customers, we do not have extensive information regarding the
overall Year 2000 readiness of our customers. Our cusiomers’ operations also depend on the Year 2000 readiness
of third parties such as telecommunications providers and equipment manufacturers. If our customers experience
material Year 2000 failures, whether or not they are related to failures of products supplied by us, our business,
operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected,
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Our products also incorporate third-party software products. Any failure by third parties to provide us with
Year 2000 compliant software products could result in harm to our reputation and resuit in significant financial
loss and harm to our business. In addition, any Year 2000 related failure that disrupts the supply of components
or software supplied by third parties and that are critical to our operations could harm our ability to deliver our
products 1o our customers and could result in loss of sales and customers if we cannot find an alternative source
of supply in a timely manner. .

Risks Related to Our Company

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of large customers, and our
revenues could decline significantly if any of our large customers significantly reduces its purchases of our
products or services or terminates its relationship with us.

Our growth has depended historically on large digital satellite broadcasters introducing, marketing and
promoting products and services that utilize our technology. We currently derive, and we expect to continue 1o
denve, a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of large customers. Our two largest customers
are DIRECTV in the U.S. and BSkyB in the UK. In fiscal 1999, DIRECTV directly accounted for 22% of our
total revenues from continuing operations, and BSkyB directly accounted for 26% of such revenues. Together,
DIRECTV and BSkyB indirectty accounted for an additional 25% of our total revenues from contiruing
operations. Indirect revenues consist of royalties paid to us by set-top box manufacturers for each set-top box
incorporating our technology, which is manufactured for use by our customers’ subsctibers. We expect that we
will continue to be dependent upon a limited number of customers for a significant portion of our revenues in
future periods, although the customers may vary from period to period. Because of the integral role of conditional
access systems o the operations of pay-television broadecasters, the transition by a pay-television broadcaster
from one conditional access system to another would involve considerable time and expense, However, if a large
customer purchases significantly less of our products or services, defers or cancels orders, or terminates its
relationship with us, our direct revenues could decline significantly and our indirect revenues attributable to these
customers could decline significantly, As a result, our business, operaiing results and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected.

Fluctuations in our quarterly financial results could adversely affect our stock price,

Our quarterly operating results have varied in the past and are likely to vary significantly from quarter to
quarter. Qur quarterly revenues in large pan depend upon the timing of orders from new customers and on when
our customers undertake smart card replacements which, in either case, can be unpredictable. Histarically, our
quarterly revenues have reflected a small number of relatively large orders for our conditional access systems
and products, which generally have long sales and order cycles. From time (o time, our customers replace their
subscribers’ smart cards either to upgrade the features of the sman cards or for security purposes. As a result,
we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be a good indication of our future
performance. Our actual quarterly results may differ from analyst expectations, which could adversely affect our
stock price.

Failure to adequately protect the intellectual property rights upon which we depend could harm our
business.

We rely primarily on a combination of patent laws, trademark laws, copyright laws, trade secrets.
confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property rights. Notwithstanding
these measures, we may not, and the third-party owners of the intellectual property rights we license may not, be
able 1o detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. In
addition, the laws of many countries in which our products are used do not protect our intellectual property rights
to as preat an extent as do the laws of the UK. and the U.S. Qur competitors may also independently develop
competitive software and systems using technology that is not protected by our intellectual property rights, The
above factors could result in our competitors offering products that incorporale our most technologically
advanced features, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating resuits and financial
condition.
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Defending against intellectual property infringement claims could harm our business.

We may increasingly be subject to the risk of infringement claims as the number of products and
competitors grows and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps. From time to time,
we hire or retain employees or consultants who have previously worked for independent software vendors or
other companies developing products similar to those offered by us. These prior employers may claim that our
products are based on their products and that we have misappropriated their intellectual property.

Our liability insurance may not protect us against the risk that licensed third-party technology infringes the
intellectual property of others; Intellectual propetty claims could be time consuming 10 defend, result in costly
litigation, divert management’s attention and resources and cause product shipment delays. These claims could
also require us to seek to enter into royalty or license agreements, redesign our products or potentially cease
using those rights which could have 2 material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition,

Any significant disruption in our processing of smart cards could adversely affect our business.

We process all of our smart cards at two facilities, one located in England and the other in Califomia. A
significant disruption in the processing of smart cards at either facility could result in delays in our ability 10
deliver smart cards to our customers. The sale of smart cards which we have processed is a material portion of
our business and significant interruption to this part of our business could result in the loss of revenues, custorners
and future sales.

We may not be able to process sufficient quantities of smart cards because we obtain certain
components from, and depend upon, a limited number of suppliers.

We currently obtain the computer chips used in our smart cards from a Eimited number of suppliers. In the
event of a disruption of supply, we may not be able to develop an alternative source in a timely manner or at
favorable prices. Such failure could harm our ability to deliver our smart cards to our customers, which could
negatively affect our operating margins and could result in the loss of revenues, customers and future sales.

Political, regulatory and economic risks associated with our international customers could harm our
business.

Cur customers are located throughout the worid, and we derived approximately 10% of our revenues from
continuing operations during fiscal 1999 from sources outside of Europe and the U.S. Inherent risks of doing
business in international markets include changes in regulatory requirements, export restrictions, exchange
controls, tariffs and other trade barriers and longer payment cycles, among other risks. We may incur substantial
¢xpense as a result of the imposition of new restrictions or changes in the existing legal and regulatory
environments in the terrtories where we conduct our business or due to political and economic instability in
these territories.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could harm our financial condition.

A risk inherent in our international operations is the exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates.
Substantially all of our revenues are denominated in either pounds sterling or U.S. dollars. In addition, some of
our costs are subject to contracts under which we purchase supplies denominated in Deutsche marks. As a result,
we arc exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates. We do not currently engage in hedging transactions in respect
of such currency fluctuations, and such fiuctuations may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results and financial condition. We may in the future determine to engage in hedging transactions.

We are subject to certain risks relating to our operations in Israel.

Our conditicnal access systems research and development facilities are located in Israel. Although most of
our sales are currently being made to customers outside of Israel, we are nonetheless directly influenced by the
political, economic and military conditions affecting Israel. Any major hostilities involving Israel, or the
interruption or curtailment of trade between Israel and its current trading partners, could significantly harm our
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business. operating results and financial condition. Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a state
of hostility has existed, varying in degree and intensity, between Israel and the Arab countries. In addition, Israel
and companies doing business with Israe]l have been the subject of an economic boycott by the Arab countries
since Israel’s establishment. Although Israel has entered into various agreements with certzin Arab countries and
the Palestinian Authority, and various declarations have been signed in connection with efforts 1o resolve some
of the economic and political problems in the Middle East, we cannot predict whether or in what manner these
problems will be resolved. In addition, certain of our officers and empioyees are currently obligated to perform
annual reserve duty in the Israeli Defense Forces and are subject t0 being called for active military duty at any
time. We have, in the past, operated effectively under these requirements. We cannot predict the effect of these
obligations on us in the future.

In addition, we receive tax benefits from, and participate in, various programs sponsored by the Government
of Israel. To be eligible for these programs and tax benefits, we must continue to meet certain conditions,
tncluding making certain specified investments in fixed assets. If we fail to meet such conditions in the future,
we could be required to refund tax benefits already received. We cannot guarantee that these programs will
continue in the future at their current levels or at all. Moreover, the termination or reduction of these programs
or tax benefits could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

We are controlled by, and dependent upon our relationship with, News Corporation.

We are currently an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of The News Corporation Limited, 2 South Australia,
Australia corporation, which, to date, has appointed our board of directors, financed our operations and controlied
our activities. News Corporation is a diversified international communications company. Following the closing of this
offering, News Corporation will beneficially own approximately 82.4% of our total issued and outstanding share
capital. Because News Corporation beneficially owns 100% of our Series B ordinary shares having ten votes per share
(as opposed to the Series A ordinary shares underlying the ADSs, which have one vote per share) it will control
approximately 97.9% of our voting power. By reason of such ownership, News Corporation will be able to elect our
entire board of directors and to control the vote on all other matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders.
Moreover, five of our seven directors following this offering will be employed by News Corporation or other
entities in which News Corporation has an interest. Dr. Abraham Peled, our President and Chief Executive, has
previously been employed by, and rendered services to, various affiliates of News Corporation.

By virtue of shares of News Corporation owned by Mr. K. Rupert Murdoch and certain corporations, and
Mr. Murdoch's position as Chairman and Chief Executive of News Corporation, Mr. Murdoch may be deemed
to control the operations of News Corporation.

Broadcasters in which News Corporation has an interest currently account for, and are expected to continue
lo account for, a significant portion of our revenues. Such broadcasters include BSkyB, currently one of our
largest customers in terms of revenues, as well as STAR TV in Asia, and NetSat and Innova in Latin America.
During fiscal 1999, approximately 42% of our revenues from continuing operations was derived from News
Corporation-related broadcasters.

Our future financial performance will, 10 a certain extent, depend upen the pricing we are able to obtain
from customers which are News Corporation-related broadcasters, as well as our ability to satisfactorily perform
our obligations to such customers. In addition, because a number of major broadcasters arcund the world are
owned or controlled by entities that compete with News Corporation and entities in which News Corporaticn
has an interest, our ability to attract customers in which News Corporation does not have an ownership interest
may be affected by News Corporation’s relationships with such potential customers and their perception of our
relationship with News Corporation.

Prior to the closing of this offering, we will enter into a series of intercompany arrangements with News
Corporation. Because News Corporation beneficially owns all of our Series B ordinary shares, these
arrangements may not be the result of arm’s-length negotiations. Although we believe the terms of the
intercompany arrangements are no less favorable 1o us than those that we could obtain from unaffiliated third
parties, we cannct assure you that this is the case.
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Immediately following the closing of this offering and the application of the net proceeds, we will owe
approximately £63.5 million to News Corporation or its subsidiaries, or approximately £50.6 million if the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in full.

Your rights as shareholders will differ from the rights of sharcholders under U.S. law.

NDS Group plc is a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales. The rights of
holders of ordinary shares and, indirectly, many of the rights of ADS holders are governed by English law and
by our memorandum and articles of association. These rights differ from the rights of shareholders in typical
U.S. and other European companies. In particular, English law significantly limits the circumstances under which
shareholders of English companies may bring derivative actions. Under English law generally, only NDS can be
the proper plaintiff in proceedings in respect of wrongful acts committed against us. In addition, it may be
difficult for you to win a claim against us under, or to enforce liabilities predicated upon, ¥1.S. securities laws.
See ““Description of Share Capital,” “*Description of American Depositary Receipts” and *“‘Service of Process
and Enforcement of Civil Liabilities.”

We do not anticipate paying dividends.

Because we intend 1o apply our future earnings for use in our business, we do not currently anticipate that
we will pay dividends to our shareholders, including holders of our ADSs.

Risks Related to this Offering
We will use the net proceeds of this offering to repay related party indebtedness.
The net proceeds of this offering will be used to repay indebtedness to a subsidiary of News Corporation,

As a result, none of the amounts raised in the offering will be available for use in our business. See “Use of
Proceeds.”

Our stock price may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses for investors purchasing ADSs
in this offering. _

Prior to this offering, you could not buy or sell our ordinary shares or ADSs publicly. An active public
market for our ADSs may not develop or be sustained after this offering. A number of factors could cause the
market price of our ADSs to fluctuate significantly from the price paid by investors in this offering, including
but not limited to:

®  the loss of a major customer:
®  the addition or departure of key personnel;
®  variations in our quarterly operating results;
® announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, new products or product
enhancements, acquisitions, distribution partrerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;
changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;
our sales of ADSs or other securities in the future:
®  changes in market valuations of conditional access software companies and technology companies
generally; and
®  fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes,
Our share price could be affected by shares becoming available for sale in the future.

If new investors or News Corporation sell substantial amounts of our ADSs o1 ordinary shares in the public
market following this offering, the market price of our ADSs could fall. The negative effect of such sales on the
market price of our ADSs could be more pronounced given the relatively small number of our shares offered 10
the public in this offering relative to the total number of shares to be outstanding following this offering. In
addition, such sales could create the perception to the public of difficulties or problems with cur products and
services. These sales may also make it more difficult for us to seil equity or equity-related securities in the future
al a time and price that we deem appropriate if we require additional financing,
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After this offering, if the underwriters do not exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs, we will
have outstanding the ADSs being sold in this offering, representing 9,000,000 Series A ordinary shares, as well
as 42,001,000 Series B ordinary shares which are beneficially owned by News Corporation. In addition, options
to purchase 3,121,791 of our Series A ordinary shares will be outstanding upon the completion of this offering,
including options to purchase 1,192,839 of our Series A ordinary shares which will be immediately exercisable.
Our directors and executive officers have entered into agreements with the underwriters under which they have
agreed that they will not sell any options or Series A ordinary shares issuable on exercise of such options for a
period of 180 days after the date of this prospectus, However, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated can waive
this restriction without prior notice. All options outstanding upon the closing of this offering will have exercise
prices at or below the offering price. The Series B ordinary shares indirectly beneficially owned by News
Corporation are cenvertible at any time into Series A ordinary shares, and would convert automatically upon any
sale of the shares by News Corporation to any entity which is not controlled by News Corporation.

The Series A ordinary shares sold in the form of ADSs in this offering are freely tradable unless purchased
by one of our affiliates. The Series B ordinary shares beneficially owned by News Corporation, which will
represent 82.4% of our total shares following the closing of the offering (80.2% if the underwriters exercise their
option to purchase additional ADSs in full) are restricted from immediate resale but may thereafter be sold into
the market. News Corporation has entered into an agreement with the underwriters under which it has agreed
that it will not sell any of its Series B ordinary shares for a period of 180 days after the date of this prospectus.
However, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated can waive this restriction without prior notice and allow News
Corporation to sell its shares at any time, As restrictions on resale end, the market price could drop significantly
if News Corporation sells its Series B ordinary shares or other securities whose value is based on the value of
those shares or if News Corporation is perceived by the market as intending to sell its ordinary shares.

We cannot predict if future sales of our ADSs or ordinary shares, or the availability of our ADSs or ordinary
shares for sale will materially adversely affect the market price of our ADSs or our ability to raise capital by
offering equity or equity-related securities.

The value of your investment will be diluted upon the completion of this offering,

Based on the estimated initial offering price of $16.00 per ADS, purchasers of ADSs offered by this
prospectus will experience an immediate and substantial dilution in net tangible book value of $15.10 per ADS
purchased, or $15.54 if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in full. To the extent
outstanding options (o purchase Series A ordinary shares are exercised, there may be further dilution. See
“Ditution.”
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING F ORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements under “Prospectus Summary,” “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” “Business” and elsewhere in this prospectus
constitute forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially
different from any future resuits, levels of activity, performance, or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among other things, those listed under Risk Factors and
elsewhere in this prospectus.

In some cases, you' can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” *“could,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or
“continue™ or the negative of such terms or other comparable terminology.

Although we believe that the expectations refiected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any
other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of such statements. We are under no duty
to update any of the forward-looking staternents after the date of thig prospectus.

GENERAL INFORMATION

None of the financial information in this prospectus constitutes the statutory accounts of NDS Group plc,
which are the financial statements we are required by the Companies Act 1985 to prepare and file with the
Registrar of Companies in England in respect of each of our fiscal years. Statutory accounts for each of the four
years in the four-year period ended June 30, 1998 have been delivered 10 the Registrar of Companies in England
and the auditors made a report on them under Section 235 of the U.K. Companies Act 1985, None of these
reports was qualified or contained any statements under Section 237 of that Act.

Solely for your convenience, some pound sterling amounts appearing in this prospectus have been translated
into U.S. dollars at the rate of $1.5765 per £1.00, which was the noon buying rate on June 30, 1999 in The City
of New York for cable transfers in foreign currencies as certified by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York for
customs purposes.

Unless otherwise indicated, references to our business, operating results and financial condition refer to
NDS and its consolidated subsidiaries, excluding the discontinued digital broadcasting business that was disposed
of on July 1, 1999,

The use of the symbol *“®" throughout this prospectus indicates that the preceding word, words or design is
a registered trademark of NDS in the United States (and may also be registered in other territories). Other
proprietary trademarks, trade names or service marks used by NDS, which may include registrations in the
United States and elsewhere, are sometimes indicated with a “™” symbol in this prospectus. This prospectus
also includes trade names and trademarks of companies other than NDS,
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds of this offering will be approximately $130.0 million, assuming an initial
public offering price of $16.00 per ADS, based upon the midpoint of the price range set forth on the cover page
of this prospectus, or $150.3 million if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in
full.

We intend to use the net proceeds o repay a portion of our indebiedness to News International plc, a
subsidiary of News Corporation, pursuant to our Term Loan Agreement with News Intemational. At the date of
this prospectus, £131.2 million was payable under this agreement. This loan bears interest at sterling 12-month
LIBOR plus 1.75%, which is payable quarterly. Immediately following the closing of this offering and the
application of the net proceeds, we will owe approximately £63.5 million to News Corporation or its subsidiaries,
or approximately £50.6 miliion if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in full.

We anticipate thar cash provided by future operations will be sufficient to meet our working capital
requirements. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operaticns—
Liquidity and Capital Resources,” “Relationship with Principal Shareholder and Certain Related Party
Transactions™ and Note 24 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We do not intend (o declare any dividends on the ordinary shares for the foreseeable future. Under English
law, a company may only pay dividends out of profits available for that purpose. In general, such available profits
consist of a company’s accumulated realized profits, to the extent not previously distributed or capitalized, less
its accumulated realized losses, to the extent not previously written off in a reduction or reorganization of capital,
In the case of a company with subsidiaries, dividends are payable only out of those profits in the holding
company. Those profits include dividends received or receivable from subsidiaries, but not profits retained by
subsidiaries.

As a public company, we may make a distribution only if, and to the extent that, at the time of such
distribution the amount of our net assets is not less than the aggregate of our called-up share capital and
undistributable reserves, as these terms are defined in the Companies Act. As of June 30, 1999, we had
distributable reserves of £146.4 million.

The payment of final dividends with respect to any fiscal year must be recommended by our board and
approved by our shareholders at the annual general meeting. After this approval, we may pay these dividends to
eligible shareholders. We may pay interim dividends at the discretion of our board without the need for
shareholder approval. Our board’s decision whether to propose that dividends be paid for any fiscal year will
depend upon a number of factors, including our operating results and financial condition, See “Description of
Share Capital—Dividends."”

If we decide to pay dividends on ordinary shares, they may be paid in any currency. We will pay dividends
on ordinary shares represented by the ADSs to the depositary bank and, if the dividends are not paid in U.S,
dollars, the depositary bank will covert them into U.S. dollars at the prevailing rate of exchange, net of
conversion expenses of the depositary. As a result, exchange rate fluctuations will affect the U.S. dollar amounts
received by holders of ADSs on conversion by the depositary bank of dividends paid in other currencies. See
“Exchange Rates” and “Description of American Depositary Receipts.”
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DILUTION
The dilution table has been presented below in accordance with UK. GAAP.

The net tangible book value of NDS Group plc at June 30, 1999 was a liability of £116.8 million, or
approximately a liability of £2.78 per Series A ordinary share and per ADS. Net tangible book value per ordinary
share represents the amousnt of our total tangible assets reduced by the amount of our total liabilities, divided by
the total number of ordinary shares outstanding. After giving effect to our issuance and sale of 9,000,000 ADSs
at an offering price of $16.00 per ADS, after deducting the underwriting discounts and the digital broadcasting
business commissions and estirmated offering expenses and the application. of the net proceeds from the sale of
our digital broadcasting business and from this offering, the pro forma net tangible book value of NDS Group
plc at June 30, 1999, would have been £(29.1 million), or approximately £(0.57) per ordinary share and per ADS.
This represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value of £2.20 per ordinary share and per
ADS to our existing shareholder and an immediate dilution in net tangible book value of £9.58 per ordinary
share or per ADS to new investors purchasing ADSs in this offering. The following table illustrates the per share
dilution:

Per Share  Per ADS(1)

Public offering price per ADS L £10.15  £10.15
Net tangible book value at June 30, 1999 before giving effect to this offering (4) .. £(2.78) £ (2.78)
Increase attributable to this offering and the sale of the digital broadcasting

DUSINESS . . .o £ 221 £ 221
Pro forma net tangible book value at June 30, 1999 after giving effect to this
offering (3) ..o £00.57) £00.57
Dilution to mew investors (2) . .............. oo £ 9.58 £ 9.58

(1) Calculated as the average per ADS. Each ADS represents one Series A ordinary share.

(2) Further dilution of £0.28 per share would result if the over-allotment option is not exercised,

(3) The pro forma net tangible book value is calculated after the application of proceeds from the sale of our
digital broadcasting business and from this offering.

(4) Net tangible book value is calculated as net liabilities after the elimination of intangible fixed assets.

The following table sets forth, on a pro forma basis, as of June 30, 1999 the number of ordinary shares we
issued, the total consideration paid to us and the average price paid per ordinary share by Newscorp Investments,
our sole existing shareholder, a wholly owned subsidiary of News Corporation, and by new investors purchasing
ADSs in this offering:

Ordinary
Shares Purchased Tetal Comsideration® Average Price
Number % Amoumt i Per Share
Existing Shareholder .................. ... 42,001,000 82 £ 42,001,000 31 £ 1.00
Newlnvestors . ......................... 9,000,000 18 91,350,000 _§2 £10.15
Toal ... 51,001,000 100 £133,351,000 1_@

(1) Consideration is stated before any issue costs,

The foregoing discussion and tables assume no exercise of outstanding options. As of June 30, 1999, there
were outstanding options to purchase 2,226,791 Series A ordinary shares with a weighted average exercise price
of $8.66, representing a range of exercise prices from $8.14 to $9.85 per ordinary share. See “Management—
Incentive Schemes.” To the extent any of these options are exercised, the new investors will incur additional
dilution,
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EXCHANGE RATES

Our revenues are predominantly denominated in pounds sterling and U.S. dollars depending on the location
and preference of our customer. A portion of our operating costs and costs of sales are alsc denominated in US,
dollars, principally our Israeli and U.S. operations, and Deutsche marks, principally related to our purchase of
some components. For a discussion of the impact of exchange rate movements on our financial condition and
results of operations, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Foreign Exchange and Inflation.”

The following table sets forth, for the periods and dates indicated, information concerning the noon buying
rates in The City of New York for cable transfers in foreign currencies as certified by the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York for customs purposes for pounds sterling expressed in U.S. dollars per £1.00.

ZTear Ended Junc 30, Arerege () Hgh, _Lew PeriodEnd
1995 .o 1.5787  1.6440 1.5244  1.5905
1996 ..t 1.5470  1.6073 1.4948  1.5529
1997 16137 17123 15375 1.6650
1998 Lo 1.6458 17035 1.5775  1.6695
1999 . 16417 17222 15765 1.5765
2000 (through November 3,1999) ............ 1.6158  1.6765 15515 1.6440

(1) The average of the noon buying rates on each day during the relevant period.

On November 3, 1999, the noon buying rate was $1,6440 per £1.00.

EXCHANGE CONTROLS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS AFFECTING SECURITY HOLDERS

Although there are currently no U.K. foreign exchange control restrictions on the acquisition of, or payment
of dividends on, the ordinary shares or the ADSs, there are from time to time sanctions which apply to us which
restrict our ability to sell securities, pay dividends or make other distributions to the governments of certain
countries, persons associated with those governments or residents of those countries. Currently such restrictions
arising as a result of the United Nations sanctions have been imposed against;

(1) the governments of Iraq, the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia and Serbia (or people exercising public
functions in those countries or companies controlled by such people);

(2) any resident of Iraq or any person treated as so resident; and

(3) senior officials of UNITA (Uniao Nacional para a Independencia Total de Angola) or adult members
of their immediate family or any person or bady acting on their behalf,

There are no restrictions under our memorandum and articles of association that limit the right of non-
resident or foreign owners to hold our securities, including the ordinary shares and the ADSs. However, under
current English {aw, any person prohibited from receiving dividends, as described above, may not own any of
our ordinary shares or the ADSs.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the short-term borrowings, and the capitalization of NDS Group plc on a
consolidated basis as at June 30, 1999, in accordance with U.K. GAAP, based upon our consolidated financial
statements:

(1) on an actual basis; and

(2) pro forma as adjusted to give effect to; (a) the sale of our digital broadcasting business on July 1, 1999 as if it
had occurred on June 30, 1999; and (b) our issvance and sale of 9,000,000 Series A ordinary shares, to be represented
by ADSs, in this offering, assuming an offering price of $16.00 per ADS (the midpoint of the price range set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus) and the application of the net proceeds from this offering o repay indebtedness to a
subsidiary of News Corporation. Adjustment is also made to give effect of the reclassification of ordinary shares as
Series B ordinary shares.

The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.K. GAAP, which differs
in some respects from U.S. GAAP. See “Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—U.S. GAAP Reconciliation” and in Note 28 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a
discussion of the principal differences between UK. and U.S. GAAP. The adjustments would be the same if the table
below were presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

June 30, 1999
Adjustments
for the sale
of the Adjustments
discontinued for the
digital application of the
broadcasting from Pro Forma
Actual business this offering As Adjusted
(in thousands)
Short-term portion of shareholder financing............ £ 17,724 £17.724) £f — £ — 35
Other shorttermdebt ... ....ooveennnvenennn ... 43,707 (43,707 — — —
Long-term portion of shareholder financing ............ 131,245 (9,176)  {82,461) 39.608 62,442

Shareholders’ deficit:

Ordinary shares, $.01 nominal value per share:

100,000,000 shares authorized, 42,001,000 issued

and outstanding actual; no shares authorized, issued

or outstanding pro forma as adjusted(l) ......... 264 —_ (264) —_ —
Series A ordinary shares, $.01 nominal value per

share; no shares authorized, issued and outstanding,

actual; 48,000,000 shares authorized, 9,000,000

shares issued and outstanding pro forma as

adjusted(2) . ......... .. . e — — 57 57
Series B ordinary shares, $.01 nominal value per

share, no shares authorized, issued and outstanding

actual; 52,000,000 shares authorized, 42,001,000

shares issued and outstanding pro forma as

adjusted ..... ... .. e, — 264 264 416
Deferred shares, £1 nominal value per share;

42,000,002 shares authorized, issned and

8

|

outstanding, actual and pro forma as adjusted . . . . . 42,000 - — 42,000 66,213
Sharepremium . ........ ... eun... — — 82,404 82,404 129910
Capital contribution ......................... 133,265 — — 133,265 210,091
Accumulated deficit ......................... (261,416) 5,192 — (256,224)(403,937)
Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) .............. (85,887) 5,192 82,461 1766 2,783

Minority IMerests . .. .....uvvuintt e, 1,753 — — 1,753 2,764
Total capitalization(3)(4) ......................... £ 47111 £ (3989 £ — £ 43,127 § 67,989

(1}  On November 1, 1999, all the 42,001 000 issucd ordinary shares were converted into Series B ordinary shares.

(2)  Excludes 3,121,791 Serics A ondinary shares reserved for issuance pursuant 1o outstanding options.

(3)  Capitalization exciudes short-term debt and the short-term portion of shareholder financing,

(4)  For the purpose of the capitalization statement, under U.S. GAAP, the gain on sale of our digital broadcasting business will result in an
increase in equity.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL AND QPERATING INFORMATION

The selected financial data presented below for NDS Group plc and its consolidated subsidiaries for each of
the years in the three-year period ended June 30, 1999 and as at June 30, 1998 and 1999, have been derived
from our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those financial statements included elsewhere in this
prospectus, which have been audited by Arthur Andersen, independent chartered accountants, and should be read
in conjunction with those financial statements and related notes. The selected financial data presented below for
NDS for the years ended June 30, 1996 and 1995 have been derived from the audited financial statements of the
companies within NDS, and the notes to those financial statements, for those periods.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.K. GAAP, which differs in
some respects from U.S. GAAP. See *“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Resuits of Operations—U.S. GAAP Reconciliation” and Note 28 of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements for a discussion of the principal differences between UK, and U.S. GAAP.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 1999
(in thousands, except per share amountsy

Profit and Loss account:
In accordance with U.K, GAAP

Tumover—Continuing operations . . ... .... £43,736 £76,569 £89022 £101,332 £ 127,574 $201,120
—Discontinued operations(l) .. ... — 37,606 78515 87,465 88,348 139,281
43,736 114,175 167,537 188,797 215922 340,401
Costof sales ........................ (32,386) (56,595) (89,256) (90,276) (101.020) {159,258)
Grossprofit ......................... 11350 57,580 78,281 98521 114,902 181,143
Operatingexpenses ................... (13,063) (48,826) (69.981) (87,394) (98,029) (154.543)
Operating profit (loss)
—Continuing operations . . ....... (1.713) 9917 5,742 8,137 18,734 20,534
—Discontinued operations(1) ... .. — (1,163) 2,558 2,990 (1,861 (2,934)
(L,713) 8,754 8,300 11,127 16,873 26,600
Finance charges(net) .................. (1.066)  (1,489) (11,066) (10,444) (13,205 (20,818
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities
before taxation ..................... 2779  7.265  (2,766) 683 3,668 5,782
Taxation ............ ... .. ... ... ..., 800 (1,741) 312 (508) (1,194)  (1,882)
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities
aftertaxation. ...................... (1,979) 5524 (2,454) 175 2,474 3,900
Minority interests . ... ................. (93) (265) (527 (293) (356) (561}
Profit (loss) for the financial year ......... £ (2072) £ 5259 £ 2981) £ (l11IR) £ 2118 § 3339
= e e e e e

Basic and diluted eamings (loss) per share .. @49 125p 7.1p) (0.3p) 5.0p 7.9¢

Profit and Loss account;
In accordance with U.S, GAAP

Revenues ... ... .. i i £94328 £ 93492 £137.024 $216,018
Operating income . . ..........ooveeiinnnn . 7,258 5,897 21,434 33,791
Interestexpense (neL) ........... ... ... . s (11,066) (10,444) (13,205) (20,818)
Income (loss) before income taxes and discontinued
operations(l) . ... ... (3.808) (4.547) 8,229 12,973
Income tax benefit (expense). ... ........... ..\ 985 (54D (2.258) (3,560)
Income before discontinued operations(l) .................. (2,823) (5,088) 5,971 9,413
Discontinued operations, net of tax(1) ... .................. 1,392 1,746 {1,627)  (2,565)
Netincome (oss) .........ooiiineunnnnnn i, £(1431) £ (3342)£ 4344 § 6,848
Basic and diluted eamings (loss) pershare.................. (3.4) (8.0) 103 16.3
—Continuing eamings (loss) per share .............. Q2.1 14,2 224
—Discontinued earnings (loss) per share ............ 42 (3.9 6.1

(1) Discontinued operations refer 1o the digital broadcasting business that we transferred on July 1, 1999 10
Ordinto Investments and which was subsequently sold to Tandberg on October 14, 1999,
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As of June 30,

1998 1999 1999
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet:
In accordance with U.K. GAAP
Total aSsels . .. ..ot £140,377 £182,163 § 287,180
Long-term liabilities ................ .. ... ... .. ... .. ..., (132,996}  (133,5400  (210,526)
Toral other Habilities .. .......... ... .. .o 0. (94.516) (132,757) (209291
Minofity interests ... ... ... .. .. (1,268) (1,753 (2,764)
Shareholders’ funds . . ... n e £ (88,403) £ (85,887) $(135,401)
Balance Sheet:
In accordance with U.S. GAAP ,
Total assets continuing Operations. ... .............c.oououuno... £142311 £107.416 $169341
Total assets discontinued operations . ..................0.0...... —_ 75,836 119,556
Total assels . . ... e 142,311 183,252 288,897
Long-term liabilities ...........oovuuuneune e (132,996) (133,540} (210,526)
Total other liabilities .. ............... ... ... .. ... ... ... (100,756)  (136.297)  (198,444)
Net assets of discontinued operations ......................... — 65415 103,127
Shareholders’ equity (deficit) .. ......oovvrei £ (91,441) £ (86,585) $(136.501)
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended June 30, 1999, presented below includes
adjustments 10 the U.K. GAAP information in order to reflect the U.S. GAAP adjustments described in Note 28
of the notes to our consolidated financial statements and to reflect the application of the proceeds of the offering.
The U.K. GAAP information has been derived from our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those
financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus, which have been audited by Arthur Andersen,
independent chartered accountants, as well as unaudited information which is not included in such audited
financial statements.

The unaudited condensed pro forma statement of operations for the year ended June 30, 1999 reflects the
use of the consideration received upon the transfer of the digital broadcasting business to repay intercompany
and other debt financing and has been adjusted to reflect the results of operations of NDS under U.S. GAAP as
if the application of the proceeds of this offering had occurred on July I, 1998. The unaudited condensed pro
forma balance sheet as of June 30, 1999 reflects the use of the proceeds from the sale of the digjtal broadcasting
business to repay intercompany and other debt financing and has been adjusted to reflect the financial position of
NDS under U.S. GAAP as if the application of the proceeds of this offering had occurred on June 30, 1999,

Unaudited Condensed Pro Forma Statement of Operations
Year ended June 30, 1999

Adjustnents
for the Adjusbnents
sale of the for the

. discontinued application of
digltal the procecds
GAAP(a) broadcasting  from this Pro Forma
UK. GAAP adjustments U.S. GAAP business offering As Adjusted

{in thousands, except per share data)

Reverues.................. £ 127574 £9450 £ 137024 £ £ £ 137,024
Costofsales ............... (52,174) (6,750) (58,924) _ — (58,924)
Gross profit .. .......... S 75,400 2,700 78,100 — —_ 78,100
Sales & marketing expenses . . ., (7.012) — (7.012) —_ —_ (7.012)
Research & development

CXDENSES . ... .......... .. (36,050) — (36,050} —_ — (36,050)
General & administration

CXPENSES ... ... .iiuunenn. (13,794 — (13,794) —_ —_ (13,794)
Gain on foreign exchange

MOVEMENtS. . . ... vuun.. 1,559 —_ 1,559 — — 1,559
Goodwill amortization ........ (1,369) _ (1,369 —_ —_ (1,369
Operating income., . ........., 18,734 2,700 21,434 —_ —_— 21,434
Finance charges:

Interest payable ........... (13,262) _ (13,262) 6,799 () 6,463 (c) —

Interest receivable ......... 57 - 57 —_ — 57
Taxation .................. (1,428) (830) (2,258) (2,091)(d) (1,987%D) (6,336)
Minornty interests . . .......... (356) 356 (a) — —_ — -—
Net income from continuing

operations(d) ............. £ 3,745 £2226 £ 5971 £4708 £4.476 £ 15,155
Basic earnings per share from .

continuing operations(e) . . . , . 89p 142 p 296 p
Weighted average shares

outstanding .............. 42,001,000 42,001,000 51,151,000

(a) The GAAP adjustments result from the different basis of consolidation of NDS Americas, In¢. and the treatment of
subscriber fees under UK. GAAP and U.S. GAAP as described in Note 28(i) 1o the consolidated financial statements.

(b) The adjustment 10 financing charges reflects the application of the net proceeds from the sale of the digital broadcasting
business for £70.6 million to repay a portin of the long-term intercompany debt (which bore interest at 9.63%), the
shon-term intercompany financing debt (which bore interest at 7%) and the overdraft (which earned no interest charge).

{footmates on next page)
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{c) The adjustment to financing charges reflects the applicaticn of the net proceeds of the offering to Tepay a portion of the
long-term debt. The net proceeds has been computed assuming the sale of 9,000,000 shares and ADSs at a price of
£10.15 per share (US$16.00 per ADS), after deducting an estimated £8,880,000 of offering expenses. The effective
interest rate on the long-term intercompany debt was 9.63% during the period.

(d) Tax effect has been computed based on the statutory rate of 30.75%,

{e} As disclosed in Note 7 of the notes to our cansolidated financial statements, we have granted certain employee options
to purchase shares in NDS which, upon the ciosing of this offering, will become exercisable, subject to vesting. Of the
3,121,791 options which will be outstanding upon the closing of this offering, 1,192,839 options will be immediately
exercisable. For 180 days, any Series A ordinary shares issued to our directors or executive officers on exercise of any
such options will be subject to the lock-up arrangements described under *Shares Eligible for Future Sale—Lock-Up
Arrangements.” It is estimated that, under U.5. GAAP, compensation expeuse of $12,472.056 (£7,.597,037) will be
recognized at the time of the offering relating to all vested options at that date. The intrinsic value of the granted but

. unvested options as at that date will Suctuate as those options will need to be marked to market. Based on the intrinsic
value as at the time of the offering, future campensation expense (transiated at the average exchange rate for the year
ended June 30, 1999 of £1 equals $1.6417) will be recognized as follows:

$ £
Offering date to June 30,2000 .. ..............oooi oo 1,725,229 1,050,880
Yearending June 30,2001 ................. ... .. .. 1,475,836 398,968
Yearending June 30,2002 . ................ o oo 542975 330,739
Yearending June 30,2003 . ......... ... oo 119,837 72,996

The dilutive effect of such options on net incoms and eamings per share has not been reflected in the unaudited
condensed pro forma statement of operations shown above,

Unaudited Condensed Pro Forma Balance Sheet

As at June 30, 1999
Adjustuents  Adjustments
for the sale for the
of the application
discontinued of the
digital proceeds
Historical GAAP(n) hroadcasting frem this Pro Formma
UK. GAAP adjustients US. GAAP business(b) offering(c) As Ad justed
(In thousands)
Current assets...,...... £114,660 £1,089 £ 115,749 £(43,670) £ — £72079
Long-term assets ....... 67,503 67,503 (32,166) — 35,337
Total assets ........... 182,163 1,089 183,252 (75,836) —_ 107,416
Current liabilides ....... (132,757) (3,540) (136,297) 69,341 — (66,956)
Long-term liabilides . . . . . (133,540) (133,540 11,687 82,461 (39.392)
Minority interest. . ... ... (1.753) 1,753 — — — —
Shareholders’ equity
(deficit) ............ (85,887 {698)(a) (85,585) 5,192 82,461 1,068

(a) The GAAP adjustments result from the different basis of consolidation of NDS Americas, Inc. and the
treatment of subscriber fees under UK. GAAP and U.S. GAAP as described in Note 28(i) of the notes to
our consolidated firancial statemnents. :

(b) The adjustment to reflect the sale of the digital broadcasting business and repayment of intercompany and
other debt financing. .

(¢) The adjustments to sharcholders equity and debt reflect the issuance of common shares and ADSs, and the
application of the net proceeds of the offering to repay a portion of the long-ierm intercompany debt. The
net proceeds has been computed assuming the sale of 9,000,000 shares and ADSs at a price of £10.15 per
share (US$16.00 per ADS), after deducting an estimated £8,880,000 of offering expenses.
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{c) The adjustment to financing charges reflects the application of the nel proceeds of the offering to repay a portion of the
long-term debt The net proceeds has been computed assuming the sale of 9,000,000 shares and ADSs at a price of
£10.15 per share (US$16.00 per ADS), after deducting an estimated £8,880,000 of offering expenses. The effective
interest rate on the long-term intercompany debt was 9.63% during the period.

(d) Tax effect has been computed based on the statutory tate of 30.75%.

(e} As disclosed in Note 7 of the notes 10 cur cansolidated financial statements, we have granted certain employee options
to purchase shares in NDS which, upon the closing of this offering, will become exercisable, subject to vesting. Of the
3,121,791 options which will be outstanding upon the closing of this offering, 1,192,839 oplions will be immediately
exercisable. For 180 days, any Series A ordinary shares issued to cur direclors or executive officers o exercise of any
such options will be subject to the lock-up arrangements described under “Shares Eligible for Future Sale—Lock-Up
Armangements.” It is estimated that, under U.S. GAAP, compensation expense of $12,472.056 (£7,597,037) will be
recognized at the time of the offering relating to all vested options al that date. The intrinsic value of the granted but
unvested options as at that date will fluctuate as those options will need to be marked to market. Based on the intrinsic
value as at the time of the offering, future compensation expense (translated at the average exchange rate for the year
ended June 30, 1999 of £1 equals $1.6417) will be recognized as follows:

$ £
Offering date to June 30, 2000 .. ............. ... oo 1,725,229 1,050,880
Yearending June 30,2001 . ........ ... 1,475,836 898,968
Yearending June 30,2002 . ....... ... o 542975 330,739
Year ending June 30,2003 .. ................... ... . ... .. e 119,837 72,996

The dilutive effect of such options on net income and eamings per share has not been reflected in the unaudited
condensed pro forma statement of operations shown above.

Unaudited Condensed Pro Forma Balance Sheet

As at June 30, 1999
Adjustinents Adjustinents
for the sale for the
of the application
discontinued of the
digital procecds
Historical GAAP(n) broadcasting from this Pro Forom
UK. GAAP adjustments US. GAAP business(b) offering(c) As Adjusted
{In thousands)
Current assets........., £114,660 £1,089 £ 115,749 £(43,670) £ — £72,079
Long-term assets ....... 67.503 67,503 (32,166) —_ 35,337
Total assets . .......... 182,163 1,089 183,252 (75,836) —_ 107,416
Current liabilities ... .. .. (132,757 (3.540) (136,297) 69,341 — (66,956}
Long-term liabilities . . , . . (133,540 {133,540) 11,687 82,461 (39,392
Minonty interest. .... ... (1,753) 1,753 —_ — _ —
Shareholders’ equity
(deficity ............ (85,887 (698)a) (86,585) 5,192 82,461 1,068

(@) The GAAP adjustments result from the different basis of consolidation of NDS Americas, Inc. and the
treatment of subscriber fees under UK, GAAP and U.S. GAAP as described in Note 28(i) of the notes to
our ¢onsolidated financial staternents. .

(b} The adjustment to reflect the sale of the digital broadcasting business and repayment of intercompany and
cther debt financing.

(c) The adjustments to shareholders equity and debt reflect the issuance of common shares and ADSs, and the
application of the net proceeds of the offering to repay a portion of the long-term intercompany debt. The
net proceeds has been computed assuming the sale of 9,000,000 shares and ADSs at a price of £10.15 per
share (US$16.00 per ADS), afier deducting an estimated £8,880,000 of offering expenses,
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The jollowing discussion should be read in conjunction with our Sfinancial data and the consolidated
Jmancial statements, including related notes, that appear elsewhere in this prospectus. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with UK. GAAP which differs in some respects from U.S. GAAP.
See “U.5. GAAP Reconciliation” and Note 28 of the notes to our consolidated Jfinancial statements for a
discussion of the principal differences between UK. GAAP and U.S. GAAP.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements relating to future events and our Sfuture
Jmancial performance, each of which involves risks and uncertainties. These events and actual results could
differ materially from those described in these Jorward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or
contribute to such differences include those set forth under “Risk Factors,” “Business” and elsewhere in this
Drospectus.

We provide conditional access software, broadcast control software and related products and services for
the management, control and distribution of entertainment and information to televisions and personal computers
and the interaction of the subscriber with such content. Our conditional access systems enable the secure
distnibution of content over a variety of broadcasting media including analog and digital television, the Intemnet
and other broadband networks.

We also provide consulting, system design, integration, and maintenance and suppott services to digital
broadcasters, System integration includes both the selection of appropriate vendors and the integration of various
components, including those of third-party manufacturers, into a single operatioral broadcast system which also
utilizes our conditional access and broadcast control software. Our consulting services include business
consulting and technical assistance, as well as security desi gn for interactive and other advanced services. Once
our customers’ systems are operational, we offer our customers ongoing support and maintenance,

Presentation of Financial Information

On July 1, 1999 we sold the entire business, assets, including goodwill, and liabilities of our digital
broadcasting business to an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of News Corporation, Ordinto Investments, for
£70.6 million. On October 14, 1999, Ordinto Investments sold the digital broadcasting business to Tandberg
Television ASA for £130.7 million. We sold our digital broadcasting business in order to devote all of our
resources to opportunities which exist in the market for conditional access systems and related software, For
additional information relating to this disposal, see Note 26a of the notes to our consolidated financial statements,

Since the sale of our digital broadcasting business to Ordinto Investments and until the sale from Crdinto to
Tandberg, we continued to operate this business on behalf of Ordinto Investments. Ordinto Investments has
agreed to reimburse us with respect to the activities we undertook on their behalf at cost. Upon compietion of
the sale by Ordinto Investments to Tandberg, we transferred the 618 employees engaged in the digital
broadcasting business to Tandberg, as well as agreements relating to this business. We have established an
ongoing contractual relationship with Tandberg as part of which Tandberg supports digital broadcasting business
products which have been sold to customers we retain, and we support our products scld to Tandberg's
customers. These contractual relationships have been negotiated on an arm’s-length basis and each party will be
remunerated at open market prices for the services provided to the other party. Each party will also appoint the
other as a reseller in relation to future business opportunities.

The digital broadcasting business is a leading supplier of digital video compression, transmission and
reception equipment for the broadcasting market. Its principal activities are the design, development, supply and
support of its products. We acquired this business and its assets in 1995.

For the purposes of our consolidated financial statements, we have treated the di gital breadcasting business
as a discontinued operation. In order to provide a meaningful commentary on the business that we will carry out
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going forward, this discontinued operation has been excluded from this discussion of our financial condition and
resuits of operations. However, the commentary on taxation and liquidity and capital resources inciudes the
digital broadcasting business.

We conduct our activities in the U.S. through NDS Americas, Inc., which was a subsidiary of News
Corporation. On November 1, 1999 we acquired the entire share capital of NDS Americas, Inc. for consideration
of £170,000. See Note 26b of the notes to our consolidated financial Statements, Within our consolidated financial
statements, NDS Americas, Inc. is treated as a subsidiary of NDS. See Note 1b of the notes 10 our consolidated
financial statements.

Revenues

Our revenues consist primarily of conditional access revenues, integration, development and support fees,
and license fees and royalties. We derive revenues from customers in Europe, the U.S., Laiin America and the
Asia-Pacific region. Our operations are located principally in the UK., Israel and the U.S. Our revenyes have
increased significantly over the last three years due in large part 10 the growth in the number of customers for
our systems and services and the growth in the number of our customers’ subscribers. For the period from July
1, 1996 10 June 30, 1999, the number of subscribers using the services offered by those customers increased to
13 million from 5.2 million,

Conditional Access Revenues

Our conditional access revenues from a particular broadcaster are generally related to the number of
subscribers to the broadcaster’s system. Qur contracts with our customers typically provide for the long-term
supply of smart cards, integration of some software components in each set-top box used by the customers and
provision of conditional access services to preserve the security of the system. Demand for smart cards depends
on demand by the consumers for set-top boxes which enable the viewer to receive a broadcaster’s programs and
services. The nature and extent of the security services vary by customer and are reflected in their pet-subscriber
monthly fees. A significant portion of our revenues is based upon growth in our customers” subscriber bases and
the number of smart cards required by their sysiems. In particular, in the three years ended June 30, 1999, we
have benefitted from the rapid growth of the digital subscriber bases of Sky digital in the UK., DIRECTV in the
U.S. and our customers in Latin America.

Revenues from the provision of conditional access systems comprise the following elements:

*  Smart cards

Smart cards are sold to the broadcaster for distribution to and use by their subscribers, The revenues
derived from these sales are recognized upon shipment of the cards.

* Subscriber fees

In some circumstances, NDS receives fees from broadcasters for the maintenance of security of
conditional access systems for a specified duration which is typically between 18 and 40 manths. Fees
are received over the duration of the agreed service period and are related to the number of subscribers
that the broadcasters have. These revenues are recognized in the period in which the security services
are performed. The extent of services, which comprise maintenance of security of the conditional
access systems, will vary between customers and, on occasion, may inclide the supply of smart cards
for no extra charge to the broadcasters at a future date in order to replace a population of sman cards
to maintain their security. This is an integral part of the wider security maintenance activities and the
subscriber fees continue to be recognized as the services are performed. Costs associated with such
arrangements include, therefore, the production of the smart cards fo be provided. In these
circumstances, a provision is made in the financial statements, which reflects the amount of the total
anticipated costs relating to the subscriber fees recognized to date. The proportion of revenues
recognized to date as compared with total security fees expected over the duration of the maintenance

24

CASE NO. SA CV03-950 DOC(JTL)

ESC0179813



agreement is applied (o the total anticipated costs in order to calculate the proviston required as at each
balance sheet date. Movements in the provision are included within the profit and loss account as part
of cost of sales. Depending on the nature of the security plan entered into with a customer, when a
customer undertakes such a replacement of smart cards, we can experience a significant increase in
revenue from the supply of smart cards for that period.

Integration, Develapment and Support

Integration, development and support consists of activities such as software development and adaptation;
design, implementation and project management of broadcasting systems; and ongoing support and maintenance
of software and broadcaster systems. Integration, development and support fees are related to the ability to obtain
new customers for our systems and technology and our ability to resource major projects. Such revenues are
determined by the amount of time needed to manage the integration, customize or develop the software and the
level of support required by the customer,

License Fees and Royalties

We derive license fees and royalties from licensing our technology to broadcasters for use in their head-end
and subscriber management systems and to set-top box manufacturers. Such revenues are dependent upon our
ability to obtain new customers for our systems and technology and upon the ongoing needs of those customers
to expand their services or upgrade their systems to new technology. Royalties are generally a function of the
number of set-top boxes manufactured, which is in tum dependent upon the ability of the broadcaster or service
provider to generate new subscribers and the level of churn of their subscriber base. Churn is the number of
subscribers in any given period who terminate their subscriptions and are replaced by new subscribers.

Expenses

Expenses comprise cost of goods sold, sales and marketing expenses, research and development costs and
general and administration expenses. The largest component of expenses, excluding cost of goods sold, is
personnel costs.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold primarily consist of the physical and processing costs of smart cards, personnel costs
incurred in the provision of services and license faes and royalties we must pay to owners of technology we use.

Cost of goods sold also includes an appropriate provision towards the cost of replacing smarn cards where
we have agreed 10 assume that obligation and it is reflected in the fees charged to the customer. The amount
provided to replace a card population in any period is matched with the revenues earned over the life of the card
to be replaced. There may be a material impact on costs in any period if the planned card changeover is
accelerated or deferred as this changes the assumptions used in determining the liability incurred by us in any
period. In the two years ended June 1999, we have benefited from the fact that planned card changeovers have
been deferred, primarily as a result of the effectiveness of our security services.

The physical costs of smart cards include the costs of the integrated circuits manufactured by third-party
suppliers, the plastic smart cards, and the micromodule which houses the computer chips, as well as the
processing and distribution costs associated with the sman cards. Total costs are dependent upon the costs of
raw materials, such as the cost of the computer chips and plastic, and the volume of smart cards processed in the
year,

Although we do not manufacture smart cards, we design their embedded computer chips and also
incorporate software we develop onto the smart card.

The personnel costs included in cost of goods sold are largely determined by multiplying the number of
man hours spent on customer contracts by the underlying salary costs of development and support staff. They
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include an allocation of direct overhead. Royalties are a function of revenues aitributable to sales of products
incorporating technology which we have licensed from third parties and are payable under the licensing
agreements in respect of that technology.

Operations costs include the costs of smart card processing facilities, procurement and materials
management, and our customer support and project management teams, These costs are attributable against
conditional access; integration, development and support; and other revenue categories.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing costs mainly consist of personnel and related costs of our sales teams in the UK., U.S.
and the Asia-Pacific region and our marketing teams in the U.K. and Israel. The remaining costs are mainly
marketing activities and include advertising, exhibitions and marketing communications and demonstration
activities,

Research and Development

Research and development costs consist mainly of personnel and related costs from our teams in Israel and
the UK. and related equipment used in our development and test activides. We write off all research and
development expenditures in the period in which they are incurred.
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General and Administration

General and administration costs consist primarily of personnel, facilities, infrastructure and administration
costs, amortization of goodwill and foreign exchange gains and losses. Foreign ¢xchange gains and losses arise
on the translation of receivables and payables denominated in currencies other than pounds sterling. All such
foreign exchange gains and losses are included in general and administrative costs, rather than in the individual
revenue and expense categories to which they relate, Amorization of goodwill was £1.4 million in each of fiscal
1997, 1998 and 1999, and this goodwill arose from the reorganization of the group and acquisition of minority
interests in the group's subsidiaries in July 1992,

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
{In thousands)
Results of operations:
Revenues
Conditional access ............ouveunvvnninnnnn. ... £ 63,021 £ 60,782 £ 90,504
Integration, development & support. .................. ~ 12,643 21,251 14,457
License fees & royaliies .. ........ e, 10,342 14,379 21,268
Other. ..o 3,016 4,920 1,345
Totalrevenues ...................................... 89,022 101,332 127,574
Cost of goods sold
Smart card and changeover provisions. . ................ (28,343) (18,470) (24,039
Integration and development . .. ...................... {5,881) (18,893) (15,123)
Operations . .......................... ... .. (8,125) (4,487 (8,091)
Royalties . ... ..., (3.765) (2,770) (3.770)
Other. ..o {1,889) (4,105) (1,151)
Total cost of goodssold ........................ (49,003) (48,725) (52,174)
Grossprofit ............ ... ... ... . ... .. 40,019 52,607 75,400
Sales & marketing expenses ......................... (2310) (6.535) (7.012)
Research & development ........................... (20,555) (22,876) (36,050
General & administration ........................... (11,412) (15,059) (13,604
Total operating expenses .. ..................... (34,277) (44,470) (56,666)
Operatingprofit............................... ... . 5.742 8,137 18,734
Results of discontinued operations. . ................... 2,558 2,990 (1.861)
Finance charges (neQ)(1) . ..., (11,066} (10,444 (13,205)
Profit (loss) before taxation .. ..... ... ... ... ... . . (2.766) 683 3.668
'I‘axalion(Z)......‘........., ........................ 312 {508) (1,194)
Profit (loss) after taxation .. ...................... £ (2.4549) £ 175 £ 2474

(1) Includes finance charges related (o the digital broadcasting business disposed of on July 1, 1999,
(2) Includes taxation related to the digital broadcasting business disposed of on July 1, 1999,
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Fiscal Year Ended Jume 30,

1997 1998 1999
Results of operations:
Revenues
Conditional aCCESS . . ..o v vttt e 70.8% 60.0% 70.9%
Integration, development & support ...............0ovreonnn.. 14.2 21.0 11.3
License fees &rovalties .. ... ... ... 116 14.1 16.7
Other. . _34 _49 _ Ll
Totalrevenues . ................... ... ... .. .. 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Smart cards & changeover provisions . ......................... (31.8) (18.3) (18.8)
Integration & development . . ........... ... ., D (18.6) (113
Operations . . ... 9.2) 4.4) (6.3)
Royalties .. ... ... . o i (4.2) 2.7 3.0y
1 1 (2.1) 4.1) 0.9
Total costof goods sold .. ..............coovirnrmnnnn _(2_5_2) _4.'4_8_1_ ) _(4.;.9)
Grossmargin. ......... ... ... 45.0% 51.9% 59.1%
Sales & marketing eXpenses .. ................... oo (2.6) (6.4) (5.5)
Research & development ....... .. e e e (23.D) (22.6) {28.3)
General & administration ................... ..., (12.8) (14.9) (10.6)
Total operatingexpenses . .............................. (38.5) (43.9) (44.4)
Operatingprofit. . . ...... ... ... ... ... ... 00 i 6.5 80 14.7
Results of discontinued operations ............................ 2.9 30 (1.43
Finance charges (Met)(1) ..o oo ie e e (12.5) (10.3) (10.4)
Profit (loss) before taxation ... ................................. (B3.1)% 0.7% 2.9%

(1) Includes finance charges related to the digital broadcasting business disposed of on July 1, 1999.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1999 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998
Revenues
Revenues increased to £127.6 million in fiscal 1999 from £101.3 million in fiscal 1998, a 26% increase.

Conditional access revenues, which increased to £90.5 million in fiscal 1999 from £60.8 million in fiscal
1998, an increase of 49%, represented the largest component of our overall revenue increase during this period.
The number of sman cards sold increased by 77% in fiscal 1999 primarily reflecting the increase in new
subscribers of DIRECTV and the launch of Sky digital by BSkyB in the UK. In addition, volumes of cards
supplied also benefitted from the increase in purchases of smart cards by DIRECTYV. Conditional access revenues
also increased as a result of the growth in the number of our customers’ subscribers. As of June 30, 1999, our
customers had approximately 13 million subscribers compared to 9.2 million at June 30, 1998, an increase of
41%. Partially offsetting the increase in smart card revenues referred to above, the average subscriber fee was
lower in 1999 than in 1998. Both BSkyB and DIRECTV paid a lower fee per subscriber in comparison with the
previous year as a result of renegotiations of aspects of their contractual relationships. In part, the changes were
the result of effective security services provided by NDS which made it possible for the broadcasters to delay
their planned card changeovers,

The increase in conditional access revenues offset a decline in integration, development and suppon
revenues, which decreased to £14.5 million in fiscal 1999 from £21.3 million in fiscal 1998, a reduction of 32%.
This reduction reflects the substantial completion in fiscal 1998 of work undertaken on a number of large digital
satellite projects, including Sky digital, DIRECTV Japan, Innova, NetSat and Indovision. In fiscal 1999, work
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continued t0 complete the Sky digital, SkyColumbia and SkyChile projects. We recognized that the large digital
satellite projects would be substantially complete during fiscal 1998 and we have therefore focused on winning
smaller digital satellite and cable systems. In fiscal 1999, we entered into contracts with Matav and DBS Israel,
Madritel in Spain and NTC in China, Under these contracts, a greater proportion of the revenue derives from
license fees and ongoing royalties than from integration and development. As at June 30, 1999, these projects
were in the early stages of implementation,

License fees and royalties received increased to £21.3 million in fiscal 1999 from £14.4 million in fiscal
1998, an increase of 48%. This increase primarily resulted from an increase in the number of subscribers 1o our
broadcasting customers and from a number of new contracts we entered into for the licensing of our systems and
software. License fees also increased in fiscal 1999 as we sold broadcasting control software to NTL
Iacorporated, a UK. digital terrestrial broadcasting services provider.

Other revenues consist principally of income from shipping smart cards and third-party systems supplied as
part of a complete broadcasting system. The decrease in revenue in fiscal 1999 reflects the nature of current
contracts where customers are being invoiced directly by third-party suppliers.

Expenses

Total operating expenses increased to £108.8 million in fiscal 1999 from £93.2 million in fiscal 1998, an
increase of 16,7%.

Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold increased to £52.2 million in fiscal 1999 from £48.7 million in
fiscal 1998, an increase of 7%. This increase reflects the increase in our revenues and berefited from the deferral
of the BSkyB card changeover and the full year effect of a transitional agreement entered into with DIRECTV.
We also benefited from reductions in the costs of raw materials which resulted from design improvements and
volume discounts. Gross margin improved to 59.1% in fiscal 1999 from 51.9% in fiscal 1998 as a result of the
BSkyB and DIRECTV agreements. The increase also refiects the change in the revenue mix as license fees and
royalties have no associated cost of goods sold. Additionally, the decline in revenues on software and equipment
sourced from third parties improved overall profitability as such items eam a low margin.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased from £6.5 million in fiscal 1998 to £7.0
million in fiscal 1999, an increase of 7%. As a percentage of revenues, these expenses fell from 6.4% to 5.5%.
These costs mainly consist of personnel and related costs and marketing communications. Following a period of
rapid expansion in fiscal 1998, fiscal 1999 saw a stabilization in the number of personnel and expenditures in
this area, as we have pursued a policy of developing indirect sales channels consisting of third-pany resellers
and agents for expanding our market and geographic coverage. In addition we have entered into a number of
marketing alliances with other technology providers.

Research and Developmens. Research and development costs increased to £36.1 million in fiscal 1999
from £22.9 million in fiscal 1998, an increase of S8%. Such costs represented 28.3% of revenue in fiscal 1999
compared to 22.6% in fiscal 1998. The main reasons for this increase were:

(1) an increase in our activities to develop interactive applications and secure Internet technologies,
including the development of our AccessGear and CastGear products;

(2} an increase in our activities to develop broadcast control software and related applications;

(3) investment in developing conditional access systems for the digital cable and digital terrestrial
markets;

(4) a reduction in the number of hours worked on chargeable customer projects by employees in the
research and development teams: and

(5) continuing development of data broadcasting software.
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General and Administration. General and administration costs which includes gains and losses on foreign
exchange decreased to £13.6 million in fiscal 1999 from £15.1 million in fiscal 1998, a decrease of 10%. In fiscal
1999, personnel, facilities and infrastructure costs increased in line with the growth in revenues to support
the increased size of the business and the number of employees wotld-wide. These increases were offset by
d reversal in movements in foreign exchange, which moved from a loss in fiscal 1998 to a gain in fiscal 1999,
See “—Foreign Exchange and Inflation,”

Operating Profit

Operating profit increased to £18.7 million in fiscal 1999 compared to a profit of £8.1 million in fiscal 1998,
an increase of 131%. The growth in conditional access revenues, license fees and royalties, principally generated
by the growth in our customers’ subscribers bases and, in particular, large volumes of smart cards purchased by
DIRECTYV and the iaunch of Sky digital by BSkyB in the U.K., were the most significant factors in the increase
in operating profit in the period under review. We €xpect to see operating profit growth in future years, although
it is unlikely to match the percentage growth achieved in fiscal 1999 due to the fact that this growth was from a
relatively low base and benefited from the very strong card sates to DIRECTV which may not be repeated in

future years. We have no reason, however, to believe that the growth in our total customers’ subscriber base will

not continue at similar rates as they had grown in the past.

We continued to invest heavily in our research and development activities to support existing customers
technologies and to develop new business opportunities. The number of our full-time employees increased from
an average of 450 in fiscal 1997 to an average of 717 in fiscal 1999. Associated with this increase have been
investments in premises and facilities to accommodate the additionat staff and administrative support 1o enable
the growth to be managed and controlled. Direct personrel costs accounted for 45% of operating expenses,
excluding cost of goods sold, in fiscal 1999 compared with 44% in fiscal 1998,

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations consist of the activities of our digital broadcasting business which we sold to
Ordinto Investments on July 1, 1999, In fiscal 1999, our digital broadcasting business reported revenues of £88.3
million compared to £87.5 million in fiscal 1998, an increase of 1%. This low increase disguised the fact that
revenues from non-News Corporation customers increased by 50% to £76.6 million in fiscal 1999 from £51.0
million in fiscal 1998. The revenues from News Corporation related broadcasters decreased to £11.7 million from
£36.5 million due to the fact that the major News Corporation related satellite broadcasters had completed their
installations in fiscal 1998,

Gross margin in fiscal 1999 was 45% compared to 52% in fiscal 1998. The decrease was as a result of the
change in the type of sales from large complete broadcasting systems to smaller systems and more stand alone
products, and the inciusion of a greater proportion of products sourced from outside the NDS group. Furthermore,
we experienced some problems with the introduction of new products that resulted in a considerable amount of
additional cost due to rework in the manufacturing process. In fiscal 1999, gross margins also benefited from a
reduced charge for warranty costs of £0.3 million compared to a charge of £3.6 million in fiscal 1998. The
reduction in the charge resulted from a detailed review being undertaken of the incidence of warranty claims and
the requisite provision, which concluded that only a small additional provision was required in fiscal 1999, In
fiscal 1999, £2.0 million of the warranty provision brought forward at June 30, 1998 was utilized.

In order to offset the small increase in revenues, cost growth was contained and operating expenses
increased only 4% to £28.7 million in fiscal 1999, The discontinued operations reported an operating profit before
royalties and amortization of £10.8 million compared to an operating profit before royalties and amortization of
£18.3 million in fiscal 1998, The main reasons for the decrease in this profit was that revenues only increased by
£0.9 million, and the fall in the gross margin percentage as described above. In addition, there was a license
charge in fiscal 1999 consisting of an £11.7 million royalty payable by us to a subsidiary of News Corporation.
In fiscal 1998, the royalty payable was £14.4 million. In addition, in both fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998, there was
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a goodwill amortization of £0.9 million. The goodwill arose on the acquisition of the business and assets of this
segment from NTL in 1995. After these charges there was an operating ioss in fiscal 1999 of £1.9 million
compared to an operating profit of £3.0 million in fiscal 1998.

Profit On Ordinary Activities Before Taxation

We reported an increase in profit on ordinary activities before taxation 10 £3.7 million in fiscal 1999 from
£0.7 million in fiscal 1998. Net interest payable increased to £13.2 million from £10.4 million due principally to
the increase in our borrowings from News Corporation to fund working capital and capital investment.

Taxation

NDS, including the discontinued operations, incurred a taxation charge of £1.2 million in fiscal 1999,
compared with a charge of £0.5 million in fiscal 1998, This represented an effective tax rate of 32.5% compared
with a UK. corporation tax rate of 30.75%. The main reasons for the increased tax rate were expenditures for
which no deduction against taxable income was allowed. Examples include goodwill amortization and certain
ltems of marketing expenses.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 1998 Compared to Fiscal Year June 30, 1997

Revenues

Revenues increased to £101.3 million in fiscal 1998 from £89 million in fiscal 1997, a 14% increase.

Conditional access revenues decreased to £60.8 million in fiscal 1998 from £63 million in fiscal 1997, a
reduction of 3.5%. The number of sman cards sold decreased by 18% in fiscal 1998 primarily reflecting a
decrease in the growth of BSkyB’s analog subscribers in the UK. in anticipation of the launch of Sky digital in
October 1998. Secondly there was a reduction in the volume of cards supplied to DIRECTV as a result of the
large volume of smart cards that had been shipped to DIRECTV's set-top box manufacturers in fiscal 1997 in
anticipation of their marketing activities building an increase in demand.

Conditional access revenues were also affected by a change of terms in the DIRECTV supply agreement,
whereby DIRECTYV took responsibility for ordering and paying for all new and replacement smart cards in
exchange, amongst other things, for a reduction in the monthly fee per subscriber. As of June 30, 1998, our
customers had approximately 9.2 million subscribers compared with 7 million at June 30, 1997, an increase of
31%. .

Integration, development and support revenues increased to £21.3 million in fiscal 1998 from £12.6 million
in fiscal 1997, an increase of 69%. In fiscal 1998, work was undertaken on a number of large ongoing digital
satellite projects, including Sky digital, DIRECTV Japan, Innova, NetSat and Indovision. Such digital satellite
projects were substantially completed during that year. In fiscal 1997, work had continued or commenced on
projcts for NetSat, Innova and STAR TV. In addition we signed long-term support agreements with Innova,
NetSat and STAR TV,

License fees and royalties increased to £14.4 million in fiscal 1998 from £10.3 million in fiscal 1997, an
increase of 40%. This increase is a function of the increase in the number of subscribers to our broadcasting
Customers and our new systems and software contracts. In fiscal 1998, a number of our broadcasting customers
launched their services.

Other revenues comprise principally mailing income and third-party systems supplied as a component of a
complete broadcasting solution. In fiscal 1998, this principally comprised bought-in third-party systems supplied
to broadcasters in preparation for the launch of their services. In fiscal 1997, other revenue principally comprised
mailing income associated with the smart card changeovers for BSkyR and DIRECTV,
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Expenses

Total operating expenses increased to £93.2 million in fiscal 1998 from £83.3 million in fiscal 1997, an
increase of 11.9%. The growth in operating expenses was in line with the growth in revenues.

Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold decreased to £48.7 million in fiscal 1998 from £49 million in
fiscal 1997, a reduction of 1%. This small reduction reflects the change in the revenue mix with a decline in the
proportion of revenue from conditional access offset by an increase in integration, development and support.
Retated to the decrease in the revenue per subscriber noted above, cost of goods sold benefited from the change
in the contractual relationship with DIRECTV. Under the transitional contractual arrangements, the liability to
replace cards was capped at a quantity less than the number of cards in issue at that time. Accordingly, the
provision accrued in accordance with our accounting policies was reduced, resulting in a reduction in the charge
for the year of approximately £1.1 million. In addition, there was no significant increase in cost of goods soid
associated with the increase in license fees and royalties, As a result of this reduction, gross margin percentage
increased to 51.9% in fiscal 1998 from 45.0% in fiscal 1997.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses increased from £2.3 million in fiscal 1997 to £6.5
million in fiscal 1998, an increase of 183%. As 3 percentage of revenues, these expenses increased to 6.4% from
2.6%. This reflects the decision made in fiscal 1997 o substantially increase sales resources, panticulary in the
U.S. and Asia-Pacific, and to commence an aggressive marketing plan. Further, we established a team of
technical consultants to support the sales and marketing activities and we also established extensive systems
demonstration facilities for customers.

Research and Development. Research and development costs increased to £22.9 million in fiscal 1998
from £20.6 million in fiscal 1997, an increase of 11%. Such costs represented 22.6% of revenue in fiscal 1998
compared to 23.1% in fiscal 1997. We invested significant resources in fiscal 1998 in developing our MediaStorm
and data broadcasting systems and released our NDS Broadcaster conditional access and Provider II subscriber
management systems.

General and Administration. General and administration costs increased to £15.1 million in fiscal 1998
from £11.4 million in fiscal 1997, an increase of 32%. The significant increase in costs reflects the increase in
infrastructure, facilities and administration to suppont the increases in revenue and headcount. In addition, we
received notice of patent infringement claims arising from the use of technology in the U.S. pursuant 1o the
provisions of our contract with DIRECTV and made provisions for license fees, royalties and professional fees
that could arise out of those claims. These claims were brought against DIRECTV, NDS and centain set-top box
manufacturers alleging usage of technology protected by patents owned by the plaintiff. These patent
infringement claims have been settled.

Operating Profit

Operating profit increased to £8.1 million in fiscal 1998 compared to a profit of £5.7 million in fiscal 1997,
an increase of 42%, The increase in operating profit between fiscal 1998 and fiscal 1997 reflects the increase in
revenues and gross margin percentage, resulting in a £12.6 million increase in gross profit. This additional gross
profit has been invested by us in recognition of the need to invest in sales and marketing activities and, in
particular, increase our presence in the U.S. and the Asia-Pacific region. This was mainly driven by the
recognition that most large digital satellite systems and, in particular, News Corporation-related broadcasters, had
now launched their services and that the future market for conditional access systems was in cable, digital
terrestrial and smaller off-the-shelf conditional access systems deployed by operators with less than 1 million
subscribers. Furthermore, we continued to invest heavily in its research and development activities to support
existing customers technologies and to develop new business opportunities. In addition. there were a number of
non-recurring items as described above.
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Discontinued Operations

. In fiscal 1998, discontinued operations reported revenues of £87.5 million compared to revenues of £78.5
million in fiscal 1997, an increase of 11%. The increase in revenues was due in part to an increase in products
supplied to News Corporation related broadcasters and in part due to the growth in sales in Eurcope,

Gross margin improved to 52% in fiscal 1998 from 49% in fiscal 1997 due to our success in reducing
component prices and a change in the sales product mix in favour of higher margin products. Operating expenses
increased 28% to £27.0 million reflecting our increased investment in research and development to develop
products for the digital terrestrial television market and our investment in manufacturing and operations facilities
to support an increase in product volumes, In fiscal 1998 there was a charge for warranty costs of £3.6 miilion
compared to a charge of £1.8 million in fiscal 1997. The increase in the warranty provision in fiscal 1998 was as
a result of an extended warranty being offered to certain customers and the introduction of a new range of
products for which the incidence of warranty was uncertain. In fiscal 1998, £1.6 million of the warranty provision
brought forward at July 1, 1997 was utilized.

The discontinued operations reported an operating profit before royalties and amortization of £18.3 million
in fiscal 1998 compared to an operating profit before royalties and amortization of £16.7 million in fiscal 1997,
an increase of 9.6%. Profits increased primarily as a result of a £9 million, or 11%, increase in revenues and an
improvement in the gross margin. In addition, there was a license charge in fiscal 1998 consisting of a £14.4
million royalty payable by us to a subsidiary of News Corporation. In fiscal 1997, the royalty was £13.2 million.
In addition, in both fiscal 1998 and 1997, there was goodwill amortization of £0.9 million. The goodwill arose
on the acquisition of the business and assets of this segment from NTL in fiscal 1996. After these charges there
was an operating profit in fiscal 1998 of £3.0 million compared to an operating profit of £2.6 million in fiscal
1997.

Profit On Ordinary Activities Before Taxation

We moved to a profit on ordinary activities before taxation of £0.7 million in fiscal 1998 from a loss of
£2.8 million in fiscal 1997, Net interest payable decreased to £10.4 million from £11.1 million due principally to
£40 million of cash flow from operating activities.

Taxation
NDS, including the discontinued operations, incurred a taxation charge of £0.5 million in fiscal 1998. This
compared to a credit of £0.3 million in fiscal 1997. The tax credit in fiscal 1997 arose as a result of the loss

before taxation of £2.8 million. This represented an effective tax rate of 28% in fiscal 1998 compared with a
U.K. corporation tax rate of 31%.

Recent Developments

Since June 30, 1999 we have continued to see healthy growth in the subscriber bases of our customers and
we have continued to trade in line with expectations.

We have announced a number of new contracts, including our first digital conditional access system in the
U.S. cable market for Cablevision Systems Corp. We have also been awarded a contract for the provision of a
broadcasting system including conditional access for Madritel in Spain, a digital cable television company. We
have also signed an agreement with QVC The Shopping Channel to design and implement an interactive home
shopping service based upon our Value@TV technology. On August 13, we also renewed our conditional access
services agreement with DIRECTYV for a further four years. ‘
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Foreign Exchange and Inflation
Foreign Exchange

Gains or losses arising on the translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included within general and
administration costs, as explained more fully in the accounting policies accompanying the financial statements.

Substantially all of our revenues are denominated in either pounds sterling or U.S. dollars, depending on
the location and preference of the customer. In fiscal 1999, revenues of £90 million (representing 70.5% of total
revenues) were denominated in U.S. dollars (fiscal 1998, £68.1 million (67.3%); fiscal 1997, £55.6 million
(62.4%)) and almost all the remainder was denominated in pounds sterling, The growth in the percentage of
revenues denominated in U.S. dollars reflects our sales to customers outside of the UK. and the growth of
revenues from DIRECTV,

A proportion of our operating costs and cost of go0ds sold is also denominated in U.S. dollars, principally
our Israeli and U.S. operations and the purchase of computer chips and smart cards. In fiscal 1999, costs of £71.5
million (65.7% of total costs) were denominated in U.S. dollars (fiscal 1998, £54 million (57.9%); fiscal 1997,
£52.7 million (63.3%)). The reduction in the proportion of dollar denominated costs to total costs in fiscal 1998
compared to fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1999 reflect the lower proportion of conditional access revenues out of total
revenues in fiscal 1998 and the resulting reduction in cost of good sold. We also pay for purchases from a number
of suppliers in Deutsche marks, which in fiscal 1999 amounted to £10.5 million, or 9.6% of total costs.

All matenial transactions of our Israeli subsidiaries are denominated in U.S. dollars. All material contracts
with Latin American and Asia-Pacific customers are denominated in U.S. dollars. Such customer payments may
from time to time be subject to locally imposed exchange controls.

As aresult of the foregoing, we are exposed to fluctuations in the pound sterling versus U.S, dollar exchange
rate and each of those currencies versus the Deutsche mark. We do not currently engage in hedging transactions
in respect of cumrency fluctuations as any hedging is undertaken by our parent company at a consolidated level.
We had foreign exchange gains of £1.6 million in fiscal 1999 (fiscal 1998, loss of £2.4 million; fiscal 1997, loss
of £1.9 million). We may enter into foreign currency exchange rate contracts in the event of any future material
mismatch of foreign currency cash flows,

We intends (o make investments in facilities and equipment in fiscal 2000, the equivalent of approximately
£3.4 million of which, at current exchange rates, is expected to be denominated in U.S. dollars.

European Economic and Monetary Union

Evropean Economic and Monetary Union commenced on January 1, 1999, in the eleven member states of
the European Union which satisfy the convergence criteria set forth in the Maastricht Treaty and elected to
participate at that stage. As a result, on January 1, 1999, (1) exchange rates in the Member States became
irevocably fixed, (2) the euro, a single currency intended to replace the national currencies of the Member States
was introduced, and (3) authority for conducting monetary policy for the Member States was transferred 1o the
European Central Bank, Full implementation of European Economic and Monetary Union will occur over a
three-year transitional period, during which time both the euro and the national denominations of the Member
States will exist side by side. Although the U.K. Government has stated that the U.K. may wish to join the single
currency at a later date, the UK. Government has opted out from European Economic and Monetary Union at
this stage. Accordingly, the UK. was not a participant on January 1, 1999 and the pound sterling was unaffected
on fanuary 1, 1999,

As substantially all of our revenues and the majority of our expenses are denominated in currencies of
countries not currently participating in European Economic and Monetary Union, we do not anticipate a
significant level of euro-denominated transactions in the period following January t, 1999. In addition, because
the pound sterling was unaffected by the impiementation of the European Economic and Monetary Union on
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January 1, 1999, we will continue to record and report our business transactions in pounds sterling. We believe
thar the introduction of the European Economic and Monetary Union and the euro have not had, and are not
expected to have, a material adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition. If and when the UK.
does participate in the euro, there can be no assurance that the cost of ensuring that our UK. operations are euro
compliant will not have an adverse affect on our operating results and financial condition.

Infiation
Inflation has not had a significant impact on our results of operations during the three vear period ended
June 30, 1999,

Seasonality

Our business is subject to seasonal fluctuations in our customers’ markets. Broadcasters typically aim to
achieve new channel or service launches in the autumn or spring periods to coincide with demand in their
markets and consequently integration, development and license fee revenues tend to be linked to these cycles,
Smart card sales and set-top box royalties depend upon the marketing campaigns of our customers and this has
led to stronger periods in the first half of each fiscal year. Significant conditional access revenues are generated
from customers who pay for their smart cards when a changeover takes place.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Throughout the period under review our funding has been provided either directly or indirectly by News
Corporation in the form of share capital and intercompany loans, We have participated in News Corporation
banking facilities, whereby overdrafts and cash balances are aggregated. We have paid interest on our loans from
News Corporation at commercial rates.

In fiscal 1999, net cash flows from operating activities moved to a cash outflow of £25.3 million compared
to a cash inflow of £39.7 million in fiscal 1998. This is as a result of collecting conditional access revenues
related to the maintenance of security of customers conditional access systems in 1997 and 1998 in advance of
the need to purchase and process the volumes of replacement smart cards. These changeovers took place in fiscal
1999. In addition stock increased by £15 million and receivables by £31.9 million at June 30, 1999 compared (o
June 30, 1998. This reflects the decision to increase stock in order to shorten lead-times in the digital
broadcasting business and the build-up of smart card components in response to increased customer orders, The
increase in receivables is a result of the strong sales in the last two months of fiscal 1999 relating to smart cards
and compression products. Days sales outstanding increased from 64 days at June 30, 1998 to 100 days at
June 30, 1999. The increase in days sales outstanding resulted from commercial agreements to extend the
payment terms for certain customers for a short period. Two of these agreements were with related parties; we
allowed BSkyB to defer a payment of £9.4 million and Innova SdRL to defer a payment of £0.5 million which
were due before June 30, 1999 into fiscal 2000. Both these amounts have now been paid and the payment terms
under these contracts have reverted back to the standard contractual terms of between 30 and 60 days.

At June 30, 1999, we owed News International £131.2 million pursuant to our term loan agreement with
News International. The loan is repayable on June 29, 2001 and carries interest at sterling 12 month LIBOR plus
1.75%. payable quarterdy.

At June 30, 1999 and June 30, 1998, we had both net current liabilities and negative shareholders equity.
These positions derive from the methodology of funding of NDS used by News Corporation, reflecting our
position as a wholly-owned subsidiary of News Corporation. NDS has benefited from access to News
Corporation funding as required and has always been able to mest its liabilities as they fall due. This offering
will provide resources to reduce the net debt, and together with the sale of the digital broadcasting business, will
result in a net equity position.

Immediately following the closing of this offering and the application of the net proceeds, we will owe
approximately £63.5 million to News Corporation or its subsidiaries, or approximately £50.6 million if the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in full.
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We made capital expenditures, net of grants receivable, of £13.5 million in fiscal 1999, £14.8 million in
fiscal 1998 and £19.7 million in fiscal 1997. These figures include expenditures for our digital broadcasting
business. Our board of directors has authorized a further £6 million in fiscal 2000 for various projcts. We expect
to finance these expenditures out of cash flow or through short-term borrowings from News Corporation.

We cannot predict with certainty the extent to which internally generated cash flows will be sufficient to
sausfy future capital requirements, Therefore the amount of required capital and the availability of additional
financing cannot be determined at this time. However, capital requirements in the next tweive months wiil be
funded out of internally generated cash flow or shor-term borrowings from News Corporation. Sources of
additional capital may include debt and equity financing. However there can be no assurance that additional debt
or equity financing will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all,

U.S. GAAP Reconciliation

Qur financial staterents are prepared in accordance with U.K. GAAP which differs in certain respects from
U.S. GAAP. For the years presented, there were differences between UK. GAAP and U.S. GAAP which resulted
in adjustments to net income and sharehoiders’ equity. In addition, differences existed which related to the
presentation or classification of amounts within the financial statements, including the presentation of the
discontinued operations and the format of the statement of cashfiows. The effects of all these differences are set
out in Note 28 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting standards and pronouncements which come into effect subsequent to June 30, 1999 include
Financial Reporting Standard (“FRS”) 15 “Tangible Fixed Assets” under UK. GAAP and SFAS 133
“Accounting for Derivative Investments and for Hedging Activities” under U.S. GAAP. Compliance with these
standards, to the extent that it is not already achieved, will be ensured in future periods. The main impact is
likely to result in additional disclosures being made in the financial statements, We expect minimal disclosure
impact from SFAS 133 because NDS has no instruments that fail within its scope. In addition, compliance with
those standards which apply to entities with listed securities only, including FRS 13 “Derivatives and Other
Financial Instruments: Disclosures” under U.K. GAAP will be ensured where appropriate.

As disclosed in Note 7 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements, we have granted employee
options which. upon the closing of this offering, will become exercisable, subject to vesting. Of the 3,121,791
optons which will be outstanding upon the closing of the offering, 1,192,839 options will be immediately
exercisable. For 180 days, any Series A ordinary shares issued to our directors or executive officers on exercise
of any such options will be subject to the lock-up arrangements described under *Shares Eligible for Future Sale
—Lock-Up Arrangements.™ It is estimated that, under U.S. GAAP, compensation expense of $12.5 million (£7.6
million) will be recognized at the time of this offering. Under UK. GAAP, it is expected that such options will
have no impact on profit. As the remaining options become vested and therefore exercisable in future periods,
there will be further compensation expense under U.S. GAAP. This further expense is not yet fixed due to
potential fluctuations in the intrinsic value of those options which were granted but unvested as at the time of the
offering since the options will be marked 1o market for the purposes of calculating that intrinsic value. Based
upon the intrinsic value as at the time of the offering, this furure compensation cost (translated at the average
exchange rate for the year ended June 30, 1999 of £1 equals $1.6417) will be recopnized as follows:

s £
Offering date to June 30,2000 ..................... 1,725,229 1,050,880
Yearending June 30,2001 ........................ 1,475,836 898,968
Yearending June 30,2002 .................0.iunn. 542,975 330,739
Yearending June 30,2003 ........................ 119,837 72,996

In fuwure periods, differences between UK. GAAP and U.S. GAAP could significantly impact net income
and shareholders’ equity, specifically with respect to differences in accounting compensation costs in respect of
employee options discussed above.
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Year 2000

We are currently working to resolve the potential impact of the Year 2000 on the processing of date sensitive
information by our computerized information systems. Many correctly installed computer systems, software
products and processor based hardware products are coded to accept or generate two digit year entries in date
fields. Consequently, on January 1, 2000, many of these systems and the systems they are connected to, could
fail or malfunction because they may not be able to distinguish 21st century dates from 20th century dates. As a
result, computer systems, software and processor based hardware products used by many companies, including
us, our customers and our potential customers, may need to be upgraded to comply with such “Yaar 2000”
requirements.

We have developed and implemented a company-wide program to identify and remedy the Year 2000 issues.
We commenced Year 2000 work in 1997 in some parts of the group, and the company-wide program was begun
in February 1998. The scope of our company-wide program includes the review and evaluation of:

®  our IT systems such as hardware and software utilized in the operation of our business;

®  our non-IT systems or processor embedded technology such as micro-controllers contained in various
equipment, smart cards and facilities;

¢  the readiness of key suppliers and third-party equipment supplied to our customers in systems; and
®  our standard and customized range of products.

We are using as the basis for our certification program the criteria contained in the British Standard Institute
(BST) PD-2000-1 standard. This standard defines two levels of compliance:

® “Year 2000 Compliant,” which qualifies the system as fully compliant to all of the specified
requirements, and

®  “Year 2000 Compliant With Reservations,” which qualifies systems as compliant in principle although
certain minor problems or limitations may persist.

In our compliance program a number of systems have been classified as ‘“Year 2000 Compliant With
Reservations.” Based on our close examination of these minor problems or limitations, we believe that they wiil
not have 2 material impact on our operations or the systems that we supply to our customers.

We have inventoried and conducted a program of remedial work to our principal information systems and
believe that with certain known exceptions that they are Year 2000 Compliant. The exceptions were the subject
of the ongoing company-wide program. We have, however, completed our remedial work for these systems.
Because we and our customers are substantially dependent on the proper functioning of our computer systems, if
that remediation work is not effective in remedying these Year 2000 issues, our operations could be materially
disrupted which could seriously harm our business.

We have audited or tested our products to determine if they are Year 2000 Compliant. For our standard
products, the results of the audits and tests have been compiled and sent to our customers. For these standard
Year 2000 Compliant products we have issued a limited guarantee. For customers of our customized conditional
access systems, we have conducted a customer update program.

In addition to the individual product actions, we have constructed a system from a number of our Year 2000
Compliant products together with a number of third party products declared by their suppliers to be Year 2000
Compliant. We operationally tested these together for Year 2000 compliance for a limited set of dates after
December 31, 1999. The tested products performed in a Year 2000 Compliant manner together as expected. Any
failure of our audits or tests to identify any Year 2000 related problems could result in products which are not
Year 2000 Compliant and could result in financial loss, harm to our reputation and liability to others and could
seriously harm our business.
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The Year 2000 probiem may also affect third-party software products that are incorporated into our products.
We have reviewed the use of third-party products and any issues where they are Year 2000 Compliant with
Reservations. However, for some products there are rapid changes, introduced by the supplier, such as the
addition of operating system patches, which may or may not be necessary for the Year 2000 Compliant operation
of a software product using it. We do not guarantee or certify that the software licensed by these suppliers is
Year 2000 Compliant. Any failure by third parties to provide Year 2000 Compliant software products that we
incorporate into our products could resuit in financial loss, harm to our reputation and liability to others and
could seriousty harm our business.

Although we have taken steps to contact customers we do not have extensive information regarding the
overall Year 2000 readiness of our customers. Our current and potential customers may incur significant expense
to achieve Year 2000 compliance. If our customers are not Year 2000 compliant, they may experience material
costs to remedy problems, or they may face litigation costs or lost revenue costs.

Because our Year 2000 compliance work is pan of ongoing system upgrades, we have funded cur Year 2000
program from operating cash flows and have not separately accounted for these costs in the past. With the
exception of our testing program, these costs have not been material to date. For our testing program, we have
incurred costs as of June 30, 1999 of £0.4 million, We anticipate future Year 2000 costs to complete our
preparations 1o also be funded in the same way. Although we currently do not expect future Year 2000
compliance costs to be material, we may experience material problems and costs with Year 2000 compliance
which could seriously harm our business, including:

*  Operational disruptions and inefficiencies for us, our customers and our vendors, that will divent
managements time and attention and financial and human resources from ordinary business activities;

*  Business disputes, warranty and pricing claims by our custcmers some of which could result in
litigation or contract termination; and

* Harm to our reputation to the extent that our customers products, whether supplied by us or not,
experience interruptions or errors,

The worst case scenario for Year 2000 problems for us would be to cease nomal operations for an indefinite
period of time while we atternpted to respond to Year 2000 problems in our internal systems and our products.
Although it is not fully developed, we are in the process of developing our Year 2000 contingency plan to address
situations that may develop if products and systems are not fully Year 2000 compliant. We expect to complete
our Year 2000 contingency plan in advance of December 31, 1999,

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market Rate Sensitive Instruments and Risk Management

The following discussion summarizes the financial instruments we held at June 30, 1999, which are sensitive
to changes in interest rates or foreign exchange rates. We do not have significant exposures to other forms of
market risk, including commodities risks, We have not historically hedged such exposures, as a result of our
relationship with News Corporation. As a result, we held no derivative instruments at June 30, 1999 or at June
30, 1998. Following the closing of this offering, we expect to adopt a hedge policy, which may provide for the
use of derivative financial instruments in the future to manage our risks.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Our exposure to interest rate fluctuation arises from certain of our variable rate short-term and long-term
intercompany debt. The long-term debt instrument payable to News International is repayable on June 29, 2001
and carries interest at sterling 12-month LIBOR plus 1.75%, payable quanerly. Early repayments can be made
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against the loan at the discretion of management. The short-term debt instrument payable to News International
is payable on demand and carries interest at sterling 3-month LIBOR plus 1%. Based on the June 30, 1999
balances of such short-term and long-term borrowings totalling £154,489,000, a 1% hypothetical increase in
interest rales would cause finance charges to increase, and profit ({oss) on ordinary activities before taxation to
decrease, by approximately £1,544,890.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations arises because we have revenues and purchases
denominated in currencies other than pounds sterting. In fiscal 1999, revenues of £90 million were denominated
in U.S. dollars. Also in fiscal 1999, costs of £71.5 million and £10.5 million were denominated in U.S. dollars
and Deutsche marks, respectively. We had no significant financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies
at June 30, 1999 or at June 30, 1998,
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BUSINESS

About NDS

We are a leading provider of conditional access systems to digital satellite and cable pay-television
broadcasters. We also provide broadcast control software and rel ated products and services to pay-television and
data broadcasters.

Conditional access systems are a necessary component of every pay-television system. Qur conditional
access systems enable our customers [0 manage and control the distribution of programs and information and to
protect content from signal theft. Our systems allow our customers to charge their subscribers for access io
content through a variety of pay-television channels, pay-per-view events and interactive services. The
conditional access systems that we provide include software that is installed at the broadcasters’ facilities as well
as software and smaut cards in set-top boxes, digital television sets and PCs. Our conditional access systems also
cnable our customers to provide interactive services to their subscribers. These services include electronic
program guides, interactive advertising and TV-commerce.

In 1989, we pionecred the use of smart cards as an inexpensive, easily replaceable, conditional access
security device for pay-television. A smart card is a plastic card, the size of a credit card, carrying an embedded
computer chip that implements the secure management and delivery of decryption keys necessary to descramble
content and enable and disable access according to whether the subscriber is authorized to receive a particular
service. The smart card receives instructions as to whether to enable, disable, upgrade or downgrade a
subscriber’s subscription package via the data stream sent 1o the set-top box within the broadcast signal. Smart
cards allow broadcasiers to separate the implementation of conditional access services from the set-top box.
Previously, conditional access systems were only available as a built-in feature from manufacturers of set-top
boxes. This separation allows broadcasters to introduce new features and services by issuing new smart cards
without requiring replacement of all of its subscribers’ set-top boxes,

Our products also include broadcast control software systems that perform various functions necessary for
managing and operating a digital television broadcasting facility. Our products support a variety of broadcasting
media, including analog and digital satellite television, digital cable television, digital terrestrial television, the
Internet and other digital broadband media, We complement our product offerings with a wide range of services,
including consulting, broadcast system design and integration, support and maintenance and, in some cases, on-
site operation and management of our customers’ conditional access systems.

Our systems assist broadcasters both in their basic operations and in the development and implementation
of value added services from which broadcasters can derive additional revenues. We believe that these services
will become increasingly important in the future, as broadcasters will need systems that integrate multiple
sources of programming and content, have the capacity to make the viewing process increasingly interactive,
monitor the content viewed by individual subscribers and create viewer profiles to assist in targeted marketing
activities.

Since the commencement of operations in 1989, we have concentrated on providing systems and software
to major broadcasters worldwide. Our customers include the leading broadcasters DIRECTV in the U.S., the
world’s largest digital satellite broadcaster, and British Sky Broadcasting Group plc (“BSkyB™) in the U.K., one
of the largest digital satellite broadcasters in Europe, as well as a number of the digital satellite broadcasters in
Latin America, and a number of broadcasters in the Asia-Pacific region. We are a leading supplier of conditional
access systems in a number of market segments, including digital satellite television, in which we estimate that
our customers’ systems provide services requiring the use of our smart cards to over 40% of the world's
subscriber base. In addition, over 20 manufacturers of consumer electronic devices, including television set-top
boxes, have incorporated our technology in their products.
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Market Opportunities

Television today is predominantly distributed using analog transmission technologies that limit the amount
of programming that can be distributed at any one time to the viewer, Television broadcasting is currently
undergoing a major transition from analog to digital broadcasting and transmission. Digital technologies will
enable broadcasters to:

®  provide viewers with more channels;
package content into targeted channels;
offer viewers a number of value-added services, including interactive applications;

combine their program content with content from other information sources, such as the Internet; and

move from broadcasting a single advertisement to all viewers to viewer-specific advertising,

The transition to digital is currently at an early stage. Of the approximately one billion television households

throughout the world, fewer than 26 million television households are currently receiving programming by means
of digital wansmission. Digital television transmission commenced in the mid 1990°s, initially in the digital
satellitt market through broadcasters such as DIRECTV and PrimeStar. According to Allied Business
Intelligence, the pace of conversion is expected to accelerate significantly over the next seven years. By 2005,
Allied Business Intelligence expects that 241 million television households will be receiving programming by
digital transmission. Digital transmission technology has recently been introduced to cable television and
terrestrial television systems. An increasing number of operators have or have announced the launch of digital
services. In the UK., the first national digital terrestrial system commenced operations in 1998. In the U.S., the
Federal Communications Commission has mandated that by the year 2002, all U.S. viewers must have access (o
digital television transmissions, and by 2006, stations must cease their analog service.

We believe that the adoption of digital technologies will accelerate the convergence of previously distinet
media, resulting in the development and commercialization of new services, including interactive services, A
number of our broadcasting customers, such as BSkyB and DBS Israel, have introduced or will be introducing
interactive services that will transform the television into an ingeractive multi-media resource in the home. Using
these services, subscribers will be able to browse the Intemnet, engage in electronic commerce, conduct banking,
view localized weather reports, or play interactive games on their televisions.

We expect that the shift to digital technologies will result in broadcasters relying te an increasing degree on
revenues from subscribers in the form of subscription fees, charges for pay-per-view events, fees for value-added
services and revenues from targeted viewer-specific advertisements and transactions. We also expect set-top box
manufacturers to incorporate hard disk drives into digital set-top boxes, which will enable the set-top box 10
perform functions similar to those of a VCR. Viewers will be able to store programs of interest and watch them
at their leisure or even alter the sequence of viewing in accordance with their individual preferences.

The economic opportunities made possible by digital technologies require systems which manage and
control the broadcaster’s relationship with the viewer and protect the broadcaster’s programming content from
unauthorized viewing.

Our customers operate in two principal markets, digital broadcasting and Internet/broadband networks. They
are prncipally digital satellite and digital cable broadcasters and digital terrestrial broadcasters, which broadcast
digital transmissions over-the-air. With the expected convergence of the Internet and broadcasting, we believe
new markets for our products and services will develop.

The NDS Advantage

We are a leading systems supplier in the evolving digital television market as a result of (1) the inteprity
and sophistication of our software and systems, (2) our experience in meeting the needs of broadcasters
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worldwide and (3) our reputation as a leading supplier of conditional access systems. We believe that our
leadership is due to the following factors: .

Scope and quality of our software solutions. We offer our customers a broad range of conditional access
and broadcaster head-end control software which can be tailored to our customers’ specific requirements, Our
Systems are open and modular, and compatible with all significant intemational standards. We have implemented
a rigorous software development and testing program. As part of cur commitment 1o the quality of our Systems,
we have created test facilities which simulate the operating environments of some of our large customers. We
use these facilities to thoroughly test our systems prior to releasing them to these large customers. In addition,
we devote significant resources to ensuring the interoperability between our systems and the other broadcasting
systems used at our customers’ head-end facilities.

Track record of innovation We have consistently offered our customers innovative products and services,
including the first commercially-adopted smart cards used to decrypt television signals, the first digital
conditional access system capable of supporting millions of subscribers and the first data broadcasting system
fully integrated with digital video and conditional access. These innovative products and systems are largely
based upon our proprietary technology. We have and continue to invest significantly in our research and
development efforts,

Broad industry knowledge. We have developed a unique global customer base. Our access fo
broadcasters and content providers located in different parts of the world and operating on different platforms
has provided us with a wide range of experience. allowing us to respond effectively to our customers’ evolving
system needs.

Our Strategy

Our primary strategic objective is to retain our position as a market leader in the development,
implementation, supply and support of conditional access and related management and control systems for the
distribution of entertainment and information to televisions and personal computers.

We intend to accomplish this strategic objective through the following key initiatives:

Endeavor to be the provider of choice to new broadcasters as well as established operators making
the transition to digital broadcasting. Through our leadership in introducing & number of technological
innovations in the conditional access technology market, we have established a significant pontfolio of prominent
customers, including some of the world’s largest digital satellite broadcasters. Our goal is to obtain as customers
a significant percentage of new pay-television broadcasters, including broadcasters transitioning from analog
systems, and to grow with them. We actively identify and pursue opportunities to provide our services to new
entrants in the digital broadcasiing industry, including digital cable, digital terrestrial and data broadcasters. Our
intention is to assist such broadcasters in designing, integrating and implementing their initial systems, and to
continue (0 meet their needs as they grow.

Assist our existing customers to expand their businesses. We intend to continue to place significamt
emphasis on our close working relationships with existing broadcasting customers. In cooperation with us, many
of our customers are expanding into new technologies, cnabling them to offer interactive and transaction-oriented
value added services, including interactive advertising, shopping at home, loyalty programs and other multimedia
services.

Capitalize on new market opportunities. We intend to use our expertise and industry relationships to
enable us to anticipate and adapt to developments in the broadcasting industry. We intend to continue to be
prominently involved in the development and application of new technologies and standards for the distribution
of entertainment and information, including the development of interactive consumer applications, such as home
shopping by television. In addition, we expect to continue to create new products to serve these emerging
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technologies, such as Value@TV, our family of software tools for developing interactive services using our
conditional access systems; and xTV, our software for managing broadcast materials stored in the digital set-top
box.

Maintain our technological leadership though our commitment to research and development. in
order to achieve our current leadership, we have invested heavily in research and development in the core areas
of cryptography, data security and smart card technology. We have also invested in the research and development
of the technology underlying broadcasting control systems for video and data. In fiscal 1999, approximately 28%
of our revenues and approximately 33% of our employees were devoted to research and development. We will
continue to devote substantial resources to research and development in the future in order to improve our current
products as well as to develop new technologies.

Strengthen and develop our industry alliances. An increasing number of companies are actively
participating in the business opportunities afforded by the convergence of the broadcasting, telecommunications.
information, entertainment and computer industries. We have endeavored to develop alliances with major players
in relevant sectors, including

®  OpenTV, Inc. and Liberate Technologies in the development of set-top boxes and related software;

® Intracom S.A., Gilat Communications Limited and BroadLogic, Inc. in connection with data
broadcasting; and

® Banca Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A. and Saras S.p.A. in the area of Internet authentication and security,

In the future, we expect (o expand both the number of companies with which we are working, and the scope
of the initiatives we seek 10 explore with them.
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How Our Conditional Access Systems Operate

NDS Conditional Access System Architecture

Our conditional access systems consist of:

software components that are installed on dedicated server systems ai the broadcaster’s head-end and
are responsible for interfacing with the broadcasters subscriber management system, back-office and
billing systems and playout and transmission management systems;

software components and applications that are integrated into the viewer's set-top box or integrated
into a digital television that are responsible for decrypting the broadcasters’ signals as well as enabling
the provision of interactive services; and

a removable credit card-sized smart card which is inserted into each viewer’s set-top box or digital
television and contains an embedded compater chip that generates the code words that are used by the
sel-1op box to unscrambie the broadcasters’ signals, and which also maintains charging information,
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There are four basic components of a conditional access system that are located at the broadcasier’s
head-end:

®  the entitlement management message generator;
®  the entitlement control message generator,

® the security server; and
L

the return path manager.

At the broadcaster’s head-end, the subscriber management system maintains a database of information
regarding the programming that each subscriber is authorized to view based on their subscription package. The
entitlement management generator processes information regarding subscribers’ viewing entitlements from the
subscriber management system and transmits that entitlement information as part of the broadcast transmission
to the subscribers’ smart cards,

Systems in the broadcaster’s head-end also generate information that describes the programs currently being
transmitied. The entitlement control message generator processes this information and transmits that information
as part of the broadcast transmission to the subscribers’ smart cards.

The security server at the broadcaster’s head-end generates the codes which are used by the broadcaster’s
Lransmission equipment to scramble the program material. The scrambled program maiterial and the program and
subscriber entitlement information are combined into a single transmission stream using technology commonly
referred to as multiplexing. This transmission stream is then transmitted to subscribers,

In the subscriber’s home, the conditional access software in the subscriber’s set-top box passes the
scrambled program material portion of transmission stream to the subsystem in the set-top box responsible for
descrambling. In parallel, the conditional access software in the subscribers’ set-top box passes the program and

" subscriber entitlement information to the smart card. The information is processed by the sman card which
records any updates to the subscriber’s viewing entitlement. The electronic program guide software application
in the set-top box processes the program information contained in the transmission stream and provides an
on-screen listing of programs available 1o the subscriber,

When a subscriber tunes to a program, the program information is checked against the subscriber’s viewing
entitlements. If the subscriber is entitled to view the program, the smart card generates the codes necessary to
descramble the content and permit the subscriber to view the program. If the subscriber decides to watch a
pay-per-view program, the smart card generates the viewing entitlement and the purchase is securely recorded
on the smart card. Periodically, the set-top box automatically calls the conditional access system at the
broadcaster’s head-end using the subsctiber’s telephone line. The set-top box downloads the stored pay-per-view
purchase information to the retumn path manager compeonent of the conditional access system which reformars
the information and then sends the reformated information to the broadcaster’s subscriber management system
to charge the subscriber as part of the broadcaster’s billing cycle.
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Products and Services
We offer products and services in three main areas:
¢  conditional access systems and services;
®  head-end and network infrastructure software and services; and

® interactive applications and services.

NDS Product Family

o

o=

NDS Markets
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Conditional Access Systems and Services
We receive revenues from our conditional access systems from a combination of:
®  license and ongoing maintenance fees from broadcasters for head-end conditional access Systems;

® fees from broadcasters for the design and adaptation of our conditional access systems to meet such
broadcaster’s specific requirements;

® the saie of smart cards:
®  the periodic replacement by our customers of their subscribers’ smart cards;
®  ongoing service fees from broadcasters on a per subscriber basis;

¢ upfront integration fees from set-top box manufacturers for the use of our conditional access and other
technology; and

® subsequent royalties from set-top box manufacturers based upon the number of set-top box’s
manufactured or sold.

We negotiate individual agreements with each of cur conditional access customers. Generally, our customers
pay us a fixed monthly fee per active subscriber for smart cards under these agreements, These fees depend on
the number of smart cards the customer requires and the level of responsibility the customer assumes for the
costs involved in the replacement of their subscribers’ smart cards. These fees may be reduced if the customer
agrees to bear some or all of the costs involved in a smart card replacement,

VideoCrypt™

Qur first conditional access product was VideoCrypt, a system developed jointly with Thomson Consumer
Electronics and first used for BSkyB’s analog broadcasting service in 1989, This system was based on the use of
a removable smart card in the subscriber’s set-top box. Today, approximately 2.3 million subscribers are using
this system. In view of the current transition of BSkyB to digital transmission, we do not expect the VideoCrypt
product family to generate significant future revenues. BSkyB has stated that it aims to have transitioned its
analog subscribers to Sky digital by December 31, 2002 at the latest.

VideoG uard®

We first supplied our VideoGuard conditional access system for digital broadcasting services to DIRECTV
in connection with their 1994 launch in the U.S. The VideoGuard family of products is compatible with all
internationally accepted digital television transmission standards. Over 20 major consumer electronics vendors
worldwide include VideoGuard technology in their set-top boxes, including RCA/Thomson, Sony, Philips,
Zenith, Pace, Matsushita, Samsung and Hitach.

VideoGuard’s standard features include efficient over-the-air subscription entitlements, suppon for multiple
service providers and the ability for the broadcaster 1o establish a database of its subscribers” individual profiles
and viewing preferences. VideoGuard also offers numerous program packaging features, inctuding providing
content in muitiple subscription services, flexible pricing of services in tiers and video-on-demand. Moreover, it
supports different modes of pay-per-view operation, such as:

®  order-ahead pay-per-view, which permits a subscriber to order a pay-per-view event from the operator
prior to its transmission by calling the operator’s subscriber management center; and

*  impulse pay-per-view, permitting a subscriber to order pay-per-view programming directly from the
electronic program guide for instantaneous viewing,

Both pay-per-view options support different pricing for different subscriber groups, multiple currencies and
programming offered on a promotional basis, known as “token support.” VideoGuard also permits the blackout
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of programming on the basis of various criteria, including geographical location and subscriber group
demographics. To assist parents’ ability to control their children’s viewing, VideoGuard includes parental rating
and impulse pay-per-view spending limit restrictions under password control.

The VideoGuard family includes the following products:

® Large, customized versions of VideoGuard are used by major broadcasters, including DIRECTV
worldwide, BSkyB, NetSat and Innova. It provides unique features for each broadcaster, including
multicurrency impulse pay-per-view, and interfaces to subscriber management and traffic control
systems.

¢  NDS Broadcaster is a system designed for medium-sized broadcasters with less than one million
subscribers. It includes standard VideoGuard conditional access software and optional compression
hardware and subscriber management systems. NDS Broadcaster is currently in use in cable and
satellite systems around the world.

®  NDS Director is a complete broadcasting head-end system for secure broadcaster-to-broadcaster and
business-to-business transmissions. NDS Director consists of broadcasting equipment and PC-based
control software, including VideoGuard. NDS Director can support up to 50,000 receivers with up to
64 channels,

®  Open VideoGuard is a standalone conditional access system, designed for broadcasters that are
integrating their own systems. Open VideoGuard conditional access software plugs directly into
broadcaster’s systems and integrates with equipment purchased from third-party vendors.

In addition, we are developing a next generation conditional access system targeted at the medium-sized
broadcaster. This system is a further development of the Open VideoGuard system optimized for ease of
operation and based on Windows NT platforms instead of the UNIX servers which most broadcasting systems
currently use. This new system will be fully integrated with our interactive and set-top box large storage
applications, including Value@7V and x7V,

Security of Our Conditional Access Systems.

The security of our customers’ broadcast information is a primary concemn both for the protection of the
broadcasters’ revenue streams and also for our reputation as a provider of conditional access systems. We
maintain a pro-active security policy designed to protect the broadcaster’s revenue stream and increase the length
of time the current version of a broadcaster’s smart cards remain in service, There have been, in the past, and we
expect that there will continue to be, instances of signal theft or smart card piracy affecting broadcasters using
conditional access systems, including those developed by us, A number of individuals and organizations are
engaged in the business of selling, or attempting to sell, unauthorized viewing devices, including counterfeit
cards. Other devices have the ability to upgrade the access permitted by genuine smart cards and to reactivate
genuine smart cards that have previously been disabled by the broadcaster. Because we use a unique sman card
chip design for each of our large customers, if one of our large customer’s system suffers a security failure, such
failure may not affect our other large customers.

We refine and update our technologies on a continuing basis in order (o protect against and counteract signal
theft. Qur strategy relating to the prevention of signal theft relies upon a number of elements:

®  Smart cards are designed and manufactured under strict security conditions, and the supply of genuine
smart cards is continually monitored and controlled,

® We have undertaken extensive effoxfs to prevent the reverse engineering of our smart cards, and we
have incorporated proprietary chips not readily obtainable by third parties,
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¢ In conjunction with broadcasters, we periodically implement electronic over-the-air countermeasures,
consisting of signals transmitted by broadcasters that alter valid smart cards in a manner which then
renders counterfeit smart cards absolete.

¢ From time to time, cur broadcasting customers undertake the replacement of their subscriber's smart
cards in order to upgrade security. We use these periodic replacements as an opportunity to implement
more sophisticated technology in the new generation of smart cards.

¢  We monitor signal theft activity, and work with broadcasters and law enforcemen: officials to detect
and prosecute instances of signal theft.

Smart Card Processing and Distribution.

We currently procure, process, test and distribute smart cards from two facilities, one in the U.K. and one in
the U.S.. which together are capable of processing up to 40 million cards per year. In fiscal 1999, we distributed
approximately 10.5 million smart cards. :

In order to maintain flexibility in the smart card procurement process and to improve our ability to meet
customer requirements, we have contracted with multiple suppliers for some smart card components, With regard
to the supply of integrated circuits, we generally negotiate with multiple sources and contract with a sole source

supplier to provide a particular generation of smart card chip for each broadcasting customer for the lifetime of

the smart card generation, which may be as long as several years. We believe that a long-term contract with a
sole supplier for each smart card generation provides a higher level of system security than other available
alternatives.

AccessGear™

We have developed the AccessGear product to address the security needs for Internet-based communications
and transactions. Through the use of smart cards, AccessGear allows users (o prove their identity when
communicating over public networks. AccessGear also enables the secure execution of e-commerce transactions
over the Intemet by attaching a secure digital signature to each transaction. AccessGear utilizes a number of
advanced encryption methods, including Public Key Infrastructure (PKI).

Head-end Management Systems Software and Services

We provide a range of software products and services which assist broadcasters in their adoption and
implementation. of digital broadcasting systems. We license these products to our customers for one-time
licensing fees that may vary, depending on its scale and complexity. In addition, we provide system design,
customization and systems integration services, for which we charge either a fixed price or on a time and
materials basis. We also provide ongoing support and maintenance services for these products.

Our main products in this business area are:

Provider™

Provider is a subscriber management system which manages the authorization and billing of pay-television
and other services to a broadcaster's subscribers and maintains a detailed subscriber data base, Provider is
integrated with our conditional access systems and can be integrated with conditional access systems from other
companies. Provider enables the broadcaster 1o manage a number of critical tasks, including:

®  the creation, storage and updating of each subscriber record, including services purchased and fnancial
and pay-per-view event history;

®  automated billing and payment collection;
®  debt control and analysis;

49

CASE NO. SA CV03-950 DOC(JTL)

ESC0179838




® the creation of management reports; and

®  communication with the card production facility to coordinate the issuance of cards 10 new subscribers
and card replacements.

Furthermore, Provider communicates with the conditional access system 1o effect on-line disabling of cards,
and the broadcasting of messages to change subscribers viewing entitlements. Provider supports interfaces with
the Internet. enabling the subscriber to obtain current account status information.

StreamServer™

StreamServer is the central system that co-ordinates the information fiow and exchange between the various
Systems at the broadcasters’ facilities, such as the subscriber management system, the programming play-out
systems and the conditional access systems. It also manages the broadcasters’ multiplexes—the combination of a
number of a programming channels into z single digital transmission stream. StreamServer incorporates unique
proprietary technology that continuously allocates bandwidth among the ielevision channels of a multiplex in
order to maximise its efficient use instead of providing a fixed bandwidth for each channel.

We can also link together StreamServer systems located at differert sites to support the concurrent
distribution of content from different origination points. For example, linked StreamServer systems can inte grate
national programming generated at one location with programming generated at several regional locations into a
single multiplexed transmission stream. This eliminates the costs associated with the relaying of programming o
a single central transmission site,

Service Information Generator

In digital transmission systems, the transmitted signal contains programming and service information which
is transmitted to the subscriber’s set-top box. Qur service information generator software system is located at the
broadcaster’s head-end facilities and is integrated with the broadcaster’s programming control sysiems to
generale programming and service information for transmission, This information is continually updated and
reflects any last-minute programming changes. This data is then used by the electronic program guide application
in the subscriber’s set-top box to provide up-to-date program listings to the viewer.

DBN and MediaStorm™

DBN is a data broadcasting system designed to enable the high-speed distribution of data and other
information to personal computers by large digital satellite broadcasters. This system provides our customers
with opportunities to derive additional revenues by providing various multimedia services, such as spotts and
news magazines, as well as Internet access services, to their subscribers utilizing their existing transmission
infrastructure. Subscribers are able to receive television programming and data on personal computers equipped
with a dedicated DBN PC card and enabled with a conditional access smart card. Subscribers select and purchase
the information they wish to access by using a computer application that acts as an electronic program guide.

MediaStorm is specificaily targeted to applications in the business-to-business market. It operates together
with the NDS Director system. MediaStorm has a simpler content manzgement system than DBN. The
MediaStorm user interface is identical to that of DBN, enabling a broadcaster, as its subscriber base grows, 1o
transition smoothly from MediaStorm to DBN without requiring any change in the end-user’s PCs hardware or
software.

CastGear™

Although most Intemet communications today are point-to-point, that is, from a server to a single receiver,
& recently adopted family of IP multicast protocols will allow broadcast-style transmissions to 2 number of
recipients over the Intemet. This simultaneous broadcasting of content to a number of Internet users is known as
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multicasting. CastGear provides security for the multicast distribution of content and can be integrated with any
multicast-enabled application, CastGear provides authentication of multicast source and recipients, data integrity,
authenticity, secrecy and accountability for multicast comtent distribution and consumption when used in
combination with our smart cards. CastGear protects multicast systems against security threats by encrypting the
content transmitted over the Internet. It also provides tools to manage the security characteristics of the multicast
content, the security attributes of receiving users and the easy distribution and maintenance of decryption keys.
CasiGear is designed for corporations, data broadcasters, content providers, multicast service operators and
intermet service providers who want to secure their multicast content distribution.

System Design, Integration and Other Services

We provide consulting, system design, integration, and maintenance and support services to digital
broadcasters. System integration includes both the selection of appropriate vendors and the integration of various
components, including those of third-party manufacturers, into a single operational broadcast system. Our
consulting services include business consulting and technical assistance, as well as security design for interactive
and other advanced services. Once our customers’ systems are operational, we offer our customers after-sale
services, including ongoing support and maintenance.

In addition, we develop specific product enhancements which we make available to our customers in the
form of software upgrades. Most of our major customers, including BSkyB and DIRECTYV, generally receive
custom upgrades based on their specific feature requirements. Smaller customers regularly receive upgrades only
if they enter into suppont and maintenance contracts with us.

Interactive Applications and Services

The ability of viewers to interact with content creates opportunities for broadcasters 10 generate revenues
by offering value-added services, including shopping-at-home and mass customization of content based upon
viewers preferences. These applications require functions to be executed both at the broadcaster’s head-end and
the subscriber’s set-top box, as well as the capability to execute secure transactions between the subscriber and
the broadcaster. Our digital conditional access systems provide this fundamental capability. We have recently
developed a range of software products that utilize our conditional access system capabilities for implementing
interactive viewer applications, as follows: :

Electronic Program Guides

An electronic program guide is an on-screen guide to the programs and setvices available to subscribers.
The electronic program guide is a software application which runs inside the digital set-top box and is controlled
by the use of a remote control unit. It allows a subscriber to view program schedule information, store favorite
channels, adjust set-top box settings and, in some applications, purchase current and future pay-per-view events.

We have developed several electronic program guides for our customers, either alone or in cooperation with
user interface design specialists, including a graphically driven electronic program guide designed specifically
for a multi-lingual environment. We implemented BSkyB’s digital electronic program guide, which provides
access to both television broadcasts and to interactive services. We are currently developing advanced electronic
program guides that can support non-Latin alphabets, such as Hebrew and Chinese. Our electronic program
guides currently operate with NDS Core and OpenTV set-top box operating systems.

NDS Core Receiver Software

We supply broadcasters with NDS Core, a low-cost entry-ievel operating system for digital set-top boxes,
which includes a simple electronic program guide. NDS Core has recently been enhanced as a second-generation
System (o support the display of specially formatied Intemet web pages on television sets and complex character
sets such as Chinese. NDS Core has been implemented in over a million set-top boxes, and is now supported by
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a number of manufacturers, including Pace, Philips, Advanced Digital Broadcast Limited and NTC, It supports
digital satellite, cable and terrestrial set-top box variants,

Value@TV™

Value@TV is our system of software tools that can be used to develop interactive applications that work
together with our conditional access systems to enhance the interactive services offered by our customers.
Value@TV allows our customers’ subscribers to execute transactions off-line because transaction information is
stored on the subscriber’s smart card to be later transmitted to the broadcaster,

We also offer to our customers specific interactive applications based on cur Value@TV technology. For
example, we are currently developing a system for QVC/The Shopping Channel UK. that allows its viewers to
purchase an item by pressing a button on his or her emote control while the product is being promoted on the
home shopping channel the viewer is watching. In addition, we have supplied BSkyB with its recently launched
SportsActive feature, which allows the viewer to waich a sporting event while selecting from multiple camera
angles, waiching replays on demand and downloading statistics about that sporting event in graphic or text forms.

xTV™

We are currently developing x7V, which is intended 10 extend the television viewing experience offered by
large-storage digital set-top boxes. The xTV software in the set-top box uses a viewer profile 1o search for
programs of special interest 1o the subscriber. The ATV software automatically scans electronic program guides
and selects programs that are subsequently recorded on the hard disk which is integrated into the set-top box.
These stored programs can then be viewed by the subscriber at his or her convenience.

Interactive Advertisements iADs™

We are developing application software that will reside in the set-top box and allow the viewer to respond
instantaneously to advertising. For example, viewers will be able to obtain more information or purchase the
product advertised or receive loyalty coupons issued by the advertiser,

Technology

We have developed core competencies in advanced technologies that are incorporated in a number of our
products and systems. These proprietary technologies address specific needs of our customers and help us
establish and maintain a competitive advantage. These technologies include:

High security encryption algorithms, Algorithms are mathematical procedures implemented in software
that are used to accomplish a specific function such as encrypting or decrypting data, messages or video signals
by means of secret keys and code words. Qur security research team in Israel has developed a number of
proprietary high-security encryption algorithms. The algorithms are utilized in our conditional access related
products, including for pay-television data broadcasting to PCs and broadband Internet protocol networks. The
proprietary nature of cur algorithms and the lack of any publicly available specifications or documentation
regarding their operation make them particularly resistant to attacks. We have optimized these algorithms in order
to minimize the computing resources they require, allowing us to implement them on our smart cards and avoid
utilizing any computing resources of the set-top box.

Custom-designed smart card chips. Our chip design team has developed a number of proprietary
extensions 10 the chips that we integrate into our smart cards. These extensions are manufactured on our behalf
by our chip suppliers and incorporate functions that hinder the unauthorized duplication of our cards or the
introduction of counterfeit cards in a set-top box. Moreover, since we provide a unique design for each of our
major customers, we lessen the risk that if one of our customers’ systems is compromised, our other customers’
systems could also be compromised.
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Broadcasting security countermeasures. We have developed a number of techniques that allow us to
send specially disguised and encoded messages that disable or alier the operating characteristics of our smart
cards. This allows our customers to disable cards of delinquent subscribers, In addition, it allows our customers
to combat signal theft more effectively by randomly altering the operating characteristics of all valid smar cards
which makes counterfeit cards incompatible with the signals transmitted by our custorners,

Efficient message transmission. We have developed sophisticated protocols for transmitting
authorization, entitlement and other control messages (o the smar cards of our customers’ subscribers, These
protocols allow control messages to be compressed in a way which consumes only a small fraction of the
broadcaster’s bandwidth, allowing the broadcaster to transmit more programs and channels to its subscribers
without having to compromise its ability to control the individual subscriber’s viewing entitlements.

Efficient and reliable head-end control systems. Based on our experience in digital television, we have
developed efficient and reliable broadcasting control systems capable of supporting millions of subscribers. Our
broadcasting control systems can grow with the broadcaster’s subscriber base.

Our Markets

Digital Broadcasting

Digital broadcasters principally use three transmission media to deliver content to viewers: satellite, cable
and terrestrial transmission.

Digital Satellite Television

The digital satellite market was the first to adopt widely a pay-television business model utilizing digital
transmission technologies. DIRECTV was the firs large-scale digital satellite broadcaster when it commenced
1ts broadcasting operations in 1994 in the U.S. According to a recent study by The Strategis Group, an
independent market researcher, the worldwide sareliite pay-television market at the end of 1998 consisted of
approximately 30 million subscribers, approximately 9 million of which were located in the U.S. Allied Business
Intelligence projects that satellite market will grow to approximately 95 million by 2005. We currently supply
conditional access systems to digital satellite broadcasters which have over 13 million subscribers, tepresenting
over 50% of the worldwide subscriber base. Although we are suppliers (¢ many of the world’s largest digital
satellite broadcasters, including DIRECTV and BSkyB, all of the existing large regional digital satellite
broadcasters have already entered into arrangements relating to conditional access technology and very few new
large systems are in the planning phase. Consequently, a significant portion of the growth we experience from
our existing digital satellite customers will derive from increases in their subscriber numbers.

Digital Cable Television

According to The Strategis Group, there were approximately 182 million cable subscribers worldwide in
1998, of whom only a smali percentage are receiving digital cable services. Upgrading from analog to digital
cable is a slow and expensive process, being influenced by three principal factors: competition with digital
satellite networks, regulatory conditions related to the use of cable networks to provide high-speed Iniemet
access and telephony, and market consolidation that makes it possible for companies to obtain the capital
necessary to finance this transition. According to the Allied Business Intelligence report, the U.S. digital cable
market alone is expected to grow from approximately 3.3 million subscribers in 1999 to over 29 million in 2005,

In the U.S., the OpenCable standard that has been adopted mandates the use of a conditional access module
called 2 POD (Point-of-Deployment) that is not integrated with the set-top box. We are working with CableLabs,
the U.S. digital cable industry standards body that developed the OpenCable standard, in the development of test
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systems for digital cable markets, We have recently entered into an agreement to supply the complete conditional
access sysiem, including smant cards and ultimately POD modules for the digital television service that
Cablevision is preparing to launch shortly.

Digital Terrestrial Television

The digital terrestrial market is relatively new, with only a few operators in the U.S,, UK. and Scandinavia.
In many parts of the world, we anticipate that digital terrestrial television will initially be free-to-air, with no
conditional access systems. As digital operators seek to benefit by providing value-added services, such as
targeted marketing, interactive services and data broadcasting, our Value@7TV product may provide the
conditional access infrastructure to meet these needs.

Internet/Broadband

We have developed a number of software systems and applications to address the requirements of network
operators for the secure distribution of data to consumers with personal computers and other devices
simultaneously over a variety of media including the Internet and other broadband digital media. Our individual
products are targeted for different market segments.

Data Broadcasting

Data broadcasting enables the transmission of large bandwidth content to many PCs simultaneously. It offers
an inexpensive high bandwidth delivery path, DTT Consulting estimates the market for satellite-based high-speed
Internet access alene at between 24 and 84 million connections, and that data broadcast satellites will have an
addressable end-user market of between 5% and 15% of all high-speed Internet access links going to the home
or business. We are well positioned to capitalize on this market opportunity through our experience in building
large digital satellite solutions and our alliances with consumer electronic manufacturers that manufacture the
necessary receiving equipment. :

Network Authentication

According to Frost & Sullivan’s 1999 report on U.S. Network Authentication Markets, the U.S. market for
public key infrastructure hardware tokens that alse include smart cards will grow from $240 million in 1998 to
approximately $1.2 billion in 2005. We believe that our encryption and smart card technologies will allow us to
capitalize on opportunities in this emerging market.

Secure Multicast

Most Intermet communications today are point-to-point, that is, from a server to a single receiver. Sending
the informaton to multiple clients generally requires sending the information many times, using excess
bandwidth and effectively limiting the number of addressees. A recently adopted family of IP multicast protocols
are expected 1o enable broadcast-style transmissions across the Intemet.

Our Customers

Our customers are located in North America, Europe, Latin America, the Middle East and the Asia Pacific
region, and consist of approximately 25 broadcasters, of which 8 are broadcasters in which News Corporation
has an interest. The News Corporation related broadcasters directly accounted for 42% and 55% of our revenues
from continuing operations in fiscal 1999 and fiscal 1998, respectively,
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Some of our customers are:

BSkyB DIRECTYV Japan NetSat

British Telecom Foxtel Reuters
Cablevision Galaxy Latin America Shinawatra
Cyberstar Innova Sky New Zealand
DBS Israel Madritel STAR TV

DIRECTV Matay QVC The Shopping Channel

Examples of relationships with some of our customers are outlined below:

DIRECTYV Operations Inc. DIRECTV, owned by General Motors’ Hughes Electronics Corporation,
broadcasts digital satellite television services across the United States. It launched its operations in 1994 and is
today the largest digital satellite television network in the world with approximately 7 million subscribers. As of
June 10, 1999, DIRECTV U.S. subscribers were using approximately 6.8 million smart cards that we have
supplied. With its recent PrimeStar acquisition, DIRECTV has added approximately 2 million subscribers. Over
the next 18 months, DIRECTV will offer to migrate all of PrimeStar’s subscribers to DIRECTV s high-power
satellite service which uses our conditional access systems. We provide the conditional access system, smart
cards, system support, maintenance and upgrade services and license certain of our technology to related set-top
box manufacturers. We also provide packaging and mailing services for the direct distribution of the smart cards
to DIRECTV’s subscribers. On August 13, 1999, we signed a new four-year agreement with DIRECTV U.S.
which provides for ongoing systems supply and support, smart cards and various other services, In fiscal 1999,
our direct revenues from DIRECTV U.S. were $45 million, or 22% of our total revenues from ongoing
operations.

BSkyB. BSkyB operates the largest pay television network in the UK. and Ireland. Its analog service was
launched in 1988 and as of June 30, 1999 had approximately 2.7 million analog sateilite subscribers. BSkyB
launched Sky digital, its digital service, in 1998. BSkyB has stated that it aims to have transitioned its analog
subscribers to Sky digital by December 31, 2002 at the latest. As of June 30, 1999, Sky digital had approximately
750.000 subscribers. All BSkyB satellite subscribers use smart cards we supply. We provide all of the broadcast
management systems, the conditional access system and systems support, and maintenance services including
operational security services. We have also developed on behalf of BSkyB the Sky digital Electronic Program
Guide, as well as the SportsActive interactive application. We also license the necessary conditional access
technologies to all manufacturers of set-top boxes for BSkyB. In fiscal 1999, our direct revenues from BSkyB
were £42.8 million which represented 26% of our revenues from ongoing operations,

Innova SARL. Innova, a joint venture between Grupo Televisa S.A., News Corporation and AT&T,
broadcasts digital satellite television services to Mexico. Innova launched ir early 1997 and as of June 30, 1999,
its subscribers were using approximarely 400,000 smart cards that we had supplied. We supply Innova with the
broadcast management system, the conditional access system, the subscriber smart cards, the subscriber
management system, an electronic program guide, and overall Sysiem support, maintenance and upgrades. In
additon, we license to Innova’s set-top box manufacturers VideoGuard conditional access and the NDS Core
operating system.

NetSat Servicos Ltda. NetSat, a joint venture between Globo Communicaes e Participacoes Ltda.. News
Corporation and AT&T, broadcasts digital satellite television services to Brazil. NetSat launched its service at
the end of 1996, and as of June 30, 1999, it’s subscribers were using approximately 450,000 smart cards that we
had supplied. We provide to NetSat broadcast management system software, the conditional access system, smart
cards, an electronic program guide and overal] system support, maintenance and upgrades. In addition, we license
to all of NetSat's set-top box manufacturers VideoGuard conditional access and the NDS Core operating system.
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Galaxy Latin America. Galaxy is principally owned by General Motors’ Hughes Electronic Corporation
and local Latin American partners. Galaxy broadcasts digital satellite television services across Latin America,
Having launched in 1996, Galaxy now broadcasts digital satellite services to several countries in Latin America,
including Mexico, Brazil, Venezuela and Argentina. As of June 30, 1999, Galaxy subscribers were using
approximately 900,000 of our smart cards. We have supplied Galaxy with the conditional access system, smart
cards for all of their subscribers and system support and maintenance services. Further we license certain of our
conditional access related technologies to all the manufacturers of set-top boxes used by Galaxy. We also manage
the conditional access management center facility, on behalf of Galaxy, that is located at Long Beach, California.
An additional agreement was signed with Galaxy in 1999 which provides for the development and supply of a
next generation smart card for Galaxys customers that is expected (o be deployed before the end of year 2000.

QVC The Shopping Channel U.K, Recently we have entered an agreement with QVC o provide an
interactive system to QVC The Shopping Channel for use with the Sky digital network in the UK. QVC
programuming is received in over 6 million homes in the U.K. and Europe. The system will allow an interactive
brochure to be broadcast providing an ability to browse the catalog to make purchase selections and 1o allow
impulse buying from the catalog with telephone confirmation.

Cablevision. We have recently entered into an agreement to supply the complete conditional access
system, including smart cards and ultimately POD modules for the digital television service that Cablevision is
preparing to launch shortly. Cablevision is currently the seventh largest analog cable television operator in the
U.S. with approximately 3.3 million subscribers in the northeastern U.S. We have also agreed 1o develop a
number of interactive applications specifically for Cablevision that will permit them to offer various value added
services to subscribers. We have agreed with Cabievision that we wil] have joint ownership of the intellectual
property rights in those applications,

Joint Ventures and Business Alliances

We have established a number of joint ventures and business alliances with the aim either to enhance our
product development capabilities or to market jointly products in some markets,

Partnership in China. We have established a technology development partnership with the Academy of
Broadcasting Science in China and have developed conditional access technologies that address the specific
requirements of the Chinese digital television market, We have also entered into a partnership with NTC, a set-
top box manufacturer in the Sichuan province, to jointly develop, set-top boxes for the Chinese digital cable
television market. Several cable system operators are currently evaluating test models of these set-top boxes.

Joint venture for the development of personal identification smart cards. In July 1999, we signed a
memorandum of understanding with a subsidiary of Banca Nazionale del Lavoro S.p.A. and 2 subsidiary of Saras
S.p.A, contemplating the establishment of a joint venture company in Italy. We anticipate acquiring 24.5% of the
equity of Tecne S.cl., the joint venture vehicle, in which we will have certain governance rights, including the
right to designate certain members of the board of directors and of the management team. Tecne will develop
and subsequently market smart card based solutions for the specific requirements of the Italian market in the
areas of personal identification and network authorization. Tecne will utilize technology based on our AccessGear
product.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing organization consists of sales account managers supported by technical sales
specialists, technology consultants and marketing staff. Because our systems and solutions are often large-scale
and cover a number of key business requirements for our customers, the time that elapses between making an
initial proposal and the signing of a binding purchase agreement can range between 6 and 24 months, We sell
our products and services primarily through a dedicated sales force and we maintain for this purpose sales and
support offices at our headguarters in the U.K., in the U.S. and in a number of other countries. The sales and
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marketing organization currently consists of approximately 82 people globally: 60 are located at our headquarters
in the U.K.; 10 are located in our offiees in Hong Kong and Sydney; and 12 are located in the U.S.

In addition to ocur direct sales teams, we employ a small sales and marketing group aimed exclusively ai
generating indirect sales opportunities through estabiishing relationships and alliances with third-party system
integrators and consultants. In certain situations, we establish relationshi ps with business partners for developing
Jointly products and services that suit specific local country standards. For example, in China we have partnered
with the Academy of Broadcasting Sciences and have co-developed a Chinese standard for conditional access
products. We also utilize third-party resellers and agents for expanding our market and geographic coverage.

Our marketing groups are targeted to identify emerging market and customer opportunities around the world
and to provide product and segment marketing support. In support of the sales efforts, our global marketing team
conducts targeted marketing programs globally and in individual countries, including public relations,
adverusing, white papers, seminars and trade shows where we exhibit and arrange speaking engagements for our
key personnel.

For our products that are focused on the Internet and broadband networks, we deploy business development
managers who are specifically tasked to establish partnerships with other companies in this area in order to
accelerate our pace of entry into these emerging markets,

Competition

We compete in a number of business areas and no single company competes with us in all our product lines.
Competition in our core area of conditional access is inense and in addition to price and commercial terms is
based on:

& the ability to integrate with broadcasting equipment;

® the number of set-lop box manufacturers that have integrated conditional access system and
technologies in their products:

® the degree of compliance with the various intlemational, regional and national standards that govern
our industry;

® the availability of readily made value adding applications such as electronic program guides and
interactive services; and

®  the security that the overall system offers including the smart cards and their encryption technologies.

We consider our main conditional access systems competitors to be NagraVision, a division of Kudelski
SA; Canal+ Technologies SA; General Instrument Corporation, Irdeto B.V., a subsidiary of MIH Limited and
Viaccess, a division of France Telecom, among others.

Our main subscriber management systems competitors include MIH Limited, Wiztec Solutions, Lid., and
CabieData, Inc.

In the area of general broadcast system integration, we compete with other broadcasting infrastructure
companies such as General Instrument Corporation, Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., Philips Electronics and Echostar
Communications Corp.

Competitors in the supply of data broadcasting systems include Hughes Network Systems, Philips Video
Systems, DiviCom, Inc., The Fantastic Corporation, ComBox Ltd. and SkyStream Corporation.

Except for Canal+ Technologies SA, most of our cbrnpetir.ors in the interactive application market deliver
only some components of a complete system solution, Companies such as TiVo, Inc., Replay Networks, Inc. and
WINK Communications are competing with us only in the area of interactive, set-top box based SLOTage services.
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Other competitors in the application domain include Liberate Technologies, OpenTV, Inc., WorldGate
Communications Inc. and Power TV, Inc.

In the network authentication market, we compete against both large companies like Gemplus SCA and
Schlumberger Limited, and smaller companies like SCM Microsystems, Inc.; Security Dynamics Technologies,
Inc.; Litronic, Inc.; and DataKey, Inc.. In the area of secure multicast, our main competitors include companies
active in the Internet multicast community including IBM and Intel Corporation.

Research & Development

We believe that our ongoing commitment to research and development enables us (o retain a significant
competitive advantage. For the year ended June 30, 1999, approximately 28% of our revenues and approximately
33% of our employees were devoted to research and development. All of our research and development activities
are conducted either in our conditional access research and development facilities in Israel, where we employ
approximatety 210 engineers, or in our software development facility in Chilworth, UK. where we employ
approximately 70 engineers.

The majority of our research and development activities are centered on enhancing and expanding the scope
of our existing and planned products. Our non-product development relaied research is limited to the areas of
security algorithms and smarnt card chip design. Currently, we are engaged in research and new product
development effonts in the following areas;

Conditional access systems. We are developing a next-generation conditional access system that will
integrate a number of interactive and value-added services with the core capabilities of our VideoGuard system,
This conditional access system will be modular, based on an open standardized system architecture, and will be
depioyed without requiring significant customization. This system will also utilize newer computer ptatforms that
will offer a significant reduction in operating costs to the broadcasters.

Conditional Access Security and Smart Cards. Our card and security research team is working on new
customized smart card platforms and on software algorithms for security purposes. Furthermore, it is developing
a new smar card platform that will allow a number of applications to be concurrently active in a subscribers
smart card. We are also developing new set-top box conditional access software that will be compatible with
operating systems such as Microsoft’s WindowsCE™ and Sun Microsystems’ Java™.

Mobile and Handheld Device Applications, We are currently undertaking research projects into various
technologies that are expected to be uiilized in mobile and handheld devices and wireless networks in the home.
The goal of this work is 10 develop 2 platform that will integrate various key functions such as content
management and protection, secure broadcasting and data distribution and which can be deployed on a wireless
network.

Broadcaster backoffice systems. Broadcasters and content providers employ many systems for
performing a number of critical business functions, including managing their content inventory, editing content
to suit their specific formats and coordinating its transmission. The ability to describe in sufficient detail the
characteristics of each individual content element is essential to these tasks. This is accomplished by means of
detailed records that are commonly referred to as metadata. We are developing systems that will allow
broadcasters to integrate and simplify all digital content manipulation functions by means of metadata.
Furthermore, the use of metadata throughout the broadcaster’s head-end facilities will enable them to transmit
metadata to the subscriber. This metadata can then be interpreted by the subscriber’s set-top box and used to
enhance the degree of interaction between content and subscriber.

Media conversion. In order for content to be transmitted over digital satellite, cable or terretrial links it
must be converted into a specific format required by the MPEG standard. This form of streaming transmission is
inappropriate for the Intemet or any type of networks thar wers developed primarily for data communication
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purposes and use transmission standards that are commonly referred ag IP. We are developing products that will
facilitate the format conversion so content can be transmitted interchangeably between networks using either
MPEQG or IP standards.

Intellectual Property

Since the technology on which our business is dependent s critical (0 our success, we need to protect our
intellectual property rights in our proprietary technology and in that which is licensed to us. We tely on a
combination of patent, copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, licenses, confidentiality agreements and
contractual provision to protect our proprietary rights. We generally enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements with our employees, key customers and suppliers. We are the exclusive worldwide licensee of various
patents, patent applications and patentable inventions from Yeda Research & Development Company Limited in
Israel in the area of digital identification and signature schemes, which have been invented by Professor Adi
Shamir. We pay a royaity equal to a percentage of revenues in respect of the Shamir Patents to Yeda Research &
Development Company. We are also a licensee of digital compression and digital broadcasting patents from
Tandberg, the purchaser of our digital broadcasting business, for the ongoing marketing, supply and development
of products such as NDS Director and NDS Broadcaster.

Where we license our patents and other forms of intellectual property to third parties we receive a license
fee, a royalty or the intellectual property rights are priced into the product or system price or some combination
of the foregoing. We use third-party software in our product offerings for which we have the necessary licenses.

There has been substantial litigation in the technology industry, particularly, in the U.S., regarding
intellectual property rights. We have from time 1o time, received claims that we are infringing upon third-panties’
intellectual property rights. In February 1999, we settled a patent infringement claim made by a Delaware
partnership, which was settled on terms acceptable to us. We are increasingly being asked by our customers (o
indemnify them against third-party infringement claims and it is industry practice to accept and grant some form
of indemnity.

Employees

We employ approximately 830 full-time employees in our continuing operations, of which 414 are based in
Israel; 285 in the U.K., and 109 in the U.S. The remainder are based in Hong Kong and Australia. See *“—Doing
Business in Israel.™

None of our employees is subject to any collective bargaining agreement. Some of our employees in the
UK. are represented by the Broadcasting Entertainment Cinematograph Theatre Union, which represents its
members on matters such as discipline, grievance and appeals.

We believe that relations with our employees are satisfactory.

Properties

We operate from a number of locations principally located in the U.K., Israel and the U.S. All the UK. and
U.S. facilities are either licensed or leased from News Corporation or its affiliates. See “Relationship with
Principal Shareholder and Certain Related Party Transactions.” All other facilities are leased.
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A list of our main facilities is set forth below,

Approximate
Approximuate Lease Current

Location Principal Use Size (sq )  Explration  Annuaf Rent

West Drayton, UK. Executive and administrative offices 31000 2002-2014  £805.000
Maidenhead, UX. Smart card processing and distribution 15000 . 2004 £202,000
Chilworth UK., Software development 16,500 2009 £214,500
Eastleigh, UK. Digital broadcasting system integration 16,000 2005 £70,000
Jerusalem, Israel Research and development, conditional 100,000 2000-2006 $1,314,500

_ access system support

Haifa, Israel Research and development 7,000 2001 $101.361
Newport Beach, CA, U.S. Executive offices of NDS Americas 23,000 2001 $514,000
Lake Forest, CA, U.S. Smart card processing and distribution 29,000 2007 $236.000

In addition, we also have offices in Miami, Florida; Hong Kong; and Sydney, Australia. We believe that we
have sufficient office space for the foreseeable future.

Doing Business in Israel

Political Conditions

Since the establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between
Israel and its Arab neighbors. A state of hostility, varying from time to time in intensity and degree, has led to
security and economic problems for Israel, However, a peace agreement berween Israel and Egypt was signed in
1979, a peace agreement between Israel and Jordan was signed in 1994 and, since 1993, several agreements
between Israel and Palestinian representatives have been signed. In addition, Israel and several Arab States have
announced their intention to establish trade and other relations and are discussing certain projects. Israel has not
entered into any peace agreement with Syria or Lebanon, and there have been difficulties in the negotiations
with the Palestinians. We cannot be certain as to how the peace process will develop or what effect it may have
upon our business,

Despite the progress towards peace between Israel and its Arab neighbors and the Palestinians, certain
couniries, companies and organizations continue to participate in a boycott of Israeli firms. We do not believe
that the boycott has had a material adverse effect on our business, but restrictive laws, policies or practices
directed towards Israel or Israeli businesses may have an adverse impact on the expansion of our business,

Generally, all male adult citizens and permanent residents of Israel under the age of 51 are obligated to
perform up to 39 days, or longer under certain circumstances, of military reserve duty annually. Additionally, ali
such residents are subject to being called to active duty at any time under emergency circumstances. Currently, a
significant number of cur Israeli employees are obligated to perform annual reserve duty. While we have operated
effeciively under these requirements since we began operations, no assessment can be made as to the full impact
of such requirements on our workforce or business if conditions should change, and no prediction can be made
as to the effect on us of any expansion or reduction of such obligations,

Economic Conditions

Israel’s economy has been subject to numerous destabilizing factors, including a period of rampant inflation
in the early {0 mid-1980s, low foreign exchange reserves, fluctuations in world commodity prices, military
conflicts and civil unrest. The Isracli government has, for these and other reasons, intervened in various sectors
of the economy, employing, among other means, fiscal and monetary policies, import duties, foreign currency
restrictions and controls of wages, prices and foreign currency exchange rates. The Isracli government has
periodically changed its policies in all these areas.
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Trade Agreements

Israel is a member of the United Nations, the International Monetary Fund, the International Bank for
Reconstruction and Development and the International Finance Corporation. Israel is also a signatory to the
General Agreement on Tarffs and Trade, whick provides for reciprocal lowering of trade barriers among its
members. In addition, Israel has been granted preferences under the Generalized System of Preferences from
Australia, Canada and Japan. These preferences allow Israel to export the products covered by such programs
either duty-free or at reduced tariffs. Israel has entered into preferential trade agreements with the European
Union, the U.S. and the European Free Trade Association. In recent years, Israel has established commercial and
trade relations with a number of the other nations, including Russia, China and India, with which Israel had not
previously had such relations.

Grants

The State of Israel is interested in achieving growth of its high technology industries and has established
several mechanisms of incentives in this regard. One such program is “approved enterprise”. Under this scheme,
companies choose between either receiving grants accounting for about 24% of their capital investment based on
“approved plans” or an exemption from paying income tax for up to the first 10 years of operation. We are
currently operating under the second of these two schemes.

The State of Israel also is engaged in the European 5th Framework. Under this program, joint
“infrastructure™ technology development programs are being incentivized by up to 50% of the investment. The
program requires that at least three companies from three different European countries participate in the project.
We are currently evaluating engaging in some of these projects.

Employment Matters Relating to Israel

Israeli taw and centain provisions of the nationwide collective bargaining agreements between the Histadrut
(General Federation of Labor in Israel) and the Coordinating Bureau of Economic Organizations (the Israeli
federation of employers’ organizations) apply to our Israeli employees. These provisions principally concem the
maximum length of the work day and the work week, minimum wages, contributions to a pension fund,
insurance for work-related accidents, procedures for dismissing employees, determination of severance pay and
other conditions of employment. Israeli law generally requires the payment of severance pay upon the retirement
or death of an employee or upon termination of employment by the employer or, in certain circumstances, by the
employee. We currently fund our ongoing severance obligations by making monthly payments for insurance
policies,

Our general practice in Israel, although not legally required, is the contribution of funds on behalf of our
employees to an individual insurance policy known as “Managers’ Insurance.” This policy provides a
combination of savings plan, insurance and severance pay benefits to the insured employee. It provides for
payments 1o the employee upon retirement or death and secures a substantial portion of the severance pay, if
any, to which the employee is legally entitled upon termination of employment. Each employee contributes an
amount equal to 5% of such employee's base salary, and the employer contributes between 13.3% and 15.8% of
the employees base salary, We also provide our employees with an Education Fund, to which each participating
employee contributes an amount equal to 2.5% of such employee’s base salary, and the employer contributes
7.53% of the employees base salary. In addition to the employees employed by us, we aiso employ workers
through manpower agencies whose terms of employment are different from those of our employees.

Regulation
Directive 95/47 EU and Related Proposals

Various aspects of digital television technology are subject to regulation in cenain jurisdictions. Pursuant to
Directive 95/47 EU (the *Directive™) of the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union
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Member States of the EU are required to put in place various measures designed to provide for open access to
conditional access systems used by digital television networks, to reduce the threat of piracy in the European
digital audiovisual environment and to ensure a common approach to the development of technology for
advanced tetevision services, including the following;

(1) all consumer equipment capable of descrambling digital television signals is required to
descramble such signals according to a common European scrambling algorithm: and it has been agreed
that two concepts relating to digital conditional access systems can and should co-exist. These are
SimulCrypt (based upon a proprietary conditional access interface) and MultiCrypt (based upon a
standardized conditional access interface, the “Common Interface™). Both concepts will enable a single
consumer set-top box to receive all DVB-compliant digital satellite broadcasts regardless of the broadcaster.
DVB, which stands for digital video broadcasting, is a European project which has defined various
transmission standards for digital broadcasting systems. These concepts are expected to enable the digital
satellite market to establish itself in Europe more rapidly and more widely (and at lower cost to the
consumer) than had been the case for analog digital satellite television. The Euwropean Patliament has
reserved the right to mandate a single standard interface for conditional access and other functions. We
believe that the adoption of the Common Interface would not be in the best interests of the industry or the
consumer. We have fully supported the adoption of the common scrambling algorithm and were an active
participant in creating this standard, We have recently successfully demonstrated Simu!Crypt;

(2) Member States of the EU are required to take all the hecessary measures 10 ensure that the
operators of conditional access services, irrespective of the means of transmission, who produce and market
access services to digital television services, offer to all broadcasters on a fair, reasonable and non-
discriminatory basis, technical services enabling the broadcasters’ digitally transmitted services to be
received by viewers authorized by means of decoders administered by the service operators and comply
with EU competition law, particularly if a dominant position appears, and keep separate financial accounts
regarding their activity as conditional access providers;

(3) in granting licenses to manufacturers of consumer equipment, holders of industrial property rights
to conditional access products and systems shall ensure that this is done on fair, reasonable and non-
discriminatory terms. Taking into account technical and commercial factors, holders of rights shall not
subject the granting of licenses to conditions prohibiting, deterring or discouraging the inclusion in the same
product of a common interface allowing connection with several other access systems, or means specific to
another access system, provided that the licensee compiies with the relevant and reasonable conditions
ensuring as far as the licensee is concerned, the security of transactions of conditional access system
operators. These regulations do not have a material adverse effect on our business; and

(4) where television sets contain an integrated digital decoder, such sets must allow for the option of
fitting at least one standardized socket, permitting connection of conditional access and other elements of a
digital television system to the digital decoder.

In its Green Paper on the legal protection of encrypted services of March 1996 the EU Commission noted
that there were varying degrees of protection against piracy in different Member States and considered thar this
fragmentation was preventing the proper operation of the single markei and holding back the development of a
European market in encrypted services (including pay-television, digital television, pay-per-view, videc-on-
demand, near video-on-demand, games supplied on request and interactive teleshopping).

On November 20, 1998, the Commission adopted the Directive on the legal protection of conditicnal access
services, which addresses the issue of piracy of conditional access equipment, without regard to whether or not
such equipment is used for television broadcasting. The Directive therefore applies to broadcasting and
Information Society services provided on a conditional access basis, without distinguishing between methods of
content delivery. It aims at ensuring the legal Pprotection of conditional access services against unauthorized
reception and the free movement of these services in the Community, Under the Directive, Member States must
provide appropriate sanctions and remedies against acts of commercial “piracy” (e.g., the manufacture,
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marketing and sale of illicit devices and the installation, maintenance or replacement of such devices). Providers
of conditional access services will be entitled 1o bring an action for damages, apply for injunctive relief or have
the illicit devices seized.

On January 7, 1997, the UK. govemment introduced a new legislative framework for the regulation of
conditional access systems for digital television services to implement Directive 95/47 EU. These regulations
were brought into effect by the introduction of a new class license and a statutory instrument amending the
‘Telecommunications Act 1994 to extend the definition of a telecommunication system for the first time.

The aim of the UX. conditional access regulations and the class license is 1o ensure that providers of
conditional access services who produce and market access to digital television services offer such services on
fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory terms. This is to ensure that contro} of conditional access technology is
not used to distort, restrict or prevent competition in television or other content services, particulady where a
conditional access service provider is providing conditional access services to competitors of an associated
programming or other contents-supplied business,

The new class license applies to all persons who operate telecommunication systems used to provide
conditional access services whilst the new statutory instrument extends the definition of what amounts to a
telecommunication system, to include a conditional access system used to provide subscriber management
services (known as a “deemed system™). The statutory instrement also states that subscriber management
services provided by means of a deemed system shall be treated as telecommunication services.

The class license contains a number of enforcement mechanisms that require the provider of conditional
access services to co-operate with broadcasters and to make such services available to broadcasters on fair,
reasonable and non-discriminatory terms. Hence, a provider of conditional access services may not show undue
preference to, or exercise undue discrimination against particular persons or classes of persons in relation to the
provision of its services, unless it is only providing such services to itself. The conditional access operators are
under an additional obligation to cooperate with broadcasters to ensure the interconnection or interoperability of
the operators conditional access system and any associated apparatus to enable broadcasters to take advantage of

the operators conditional access services.

The class license also requires the provider of conditional access services to make available industrial
property rights for conditional access products and systems to broadcasters on fair, reasonable and non-
discriminatory terms. This requirement falls short of mandatory licensing of industrial property rights to
broadcasters, but prohibits any anti-competitive behavior and encourages licensees to include common interfaces,
or other conditional access systems within any equipment manufactured by the licensees.

In May 1999, OFTEL adopted guidelines setting how it proposes to deal with unfair pricing in relation 10
the provision of conditional access services. The guidelines do not form part of the class license or the regulations
or affect their legal scope. However, the Director-General has said that he would normaily expect to follow the
guidelines and to give his reasons if he departed from them.

OFTEL will only intervene in a firm's pricing of conditional access services in the event that commercial
negotiations fail to arrive at an outcome which is fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory. In the event that the
Director-General took the view that the prices offered were not fair, reasonable and discriminatory , he would
then take enforcement action under the Telecommunications Act 1984 to require the conditional access provider
to revise its prices in order to comply with the terms of the class license,

We do not believe that the new class license and statutory instrument will apply to us because we are not an
operator of conditional access systems.

Regulations relating to the license of industrial property rights in conditional access technology to, among
others, manufacturers of decoders were brought forward and came into force on August 23, 1996. Broadly, these
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regulations prevent the licensors of industrial property rights in conditional access technology from including in
the license agreements conditions which would prohibit or discourage manufacturers of consumer decoder units
from including in those units a common interface allowing comnection with other conditional access systems or
means specific to another conditional access system. These regulations do apply to us, but our policy on licensing
our technology is such that we do not expect the regulations to have a material adverse effect on our business
activities.

The main objective of the current arrangements is to prevent abuses of competition in relation to the
provision of digital conditional access services, without at the same time stifling innovation and inhibiting
investment in digital broadcasting. It is not presently proposed to introduce regulation for conditional access
services for analog television.

Regulatior of Competition

We are subject to general EU and U.K. competition taw regimes administered respectively by the European
Commission and, within the U.K., the Director General of Fair Trading and his office, the Office of Fair Trading.

European Union Regulation. EU law prohibits certain anti-competitive agreements and abuses of
dominant market positions through Articles 81 and 82 of the Treaty of Rome. Article 81 prohibits and renders
void agreements, decisions by association of undertakings and concerted practices that may appreciably affect
trade between EU Member States and which have as their ob ject or effect the prevention, restriction or distortion
of competition within the EU. EU Article 81(3) allows for exemption (on an individual basis or by category of
agreements) from such prohibition for agreements, decisions by association of undertakings or conceried
practices whose beneficial effects in improving production or distribution or promoting technical or economic
progress outweigh their restrictive effects, provided that consumers receive a fair share of the benefit, that
competition is not eliminated in respect of a substantial pant of the products in question and that restrictions
which are not indispensable to the achievement of the beneficial effects of the agreement or concerted practice
are not accepted. Article 82 prohibits the abuse of a dominant position within the EU or a substantial part of it
insofar as it may appreciably affect trade between Member States.

The European Commission is currendy entrusted with the principal enforcement powers under EU
competition law and the exclusive right to grant exemptions under Article 81(3). It has the power to impose
heavy fines (up to 10% of a group’s annual turnover) in respect of breaches of Articles 81 and 82. In most cases
the notification of potentially infringing agreements to the Commission under Article 81 with a request for an
exemption under Article 81(3) protects against the risk of fines under Article 81 from the date of natification.
However, in April 1999 the European Commission published a white paper in which it set out proposals for
modemization of the implementation of Articles 81 and 82. These proposals include the ending of the notification
and autherization system and the wansfer of much responsibility for the application and enforcement of the EU
competition rules to the competition authorities of Member States.

The Commission administers the EU Merger Control Regulation 4064/89 as-amended by Regulation
1310/97 which applies to concentrations having an EU dimension where the turmover of the undertakings
concemned in the concentration exceeds specified thresholds.

U.K. Compeiition Law. UK. competition law is undergoing fundamental reform. While mergers are still
controlled through the Fair Trading Act 1973, the Competition Act 1998 will replace much of the old U.K.
competition law. The Competition Act 1998 introduces a new prohibition regime modeled on the competition
rules in the EU Treaty, as well as stronger powers of investigation and enforcement. The Restrictive Trade
Practices Act 1976 and 1977, the Restrictive Practices Court Act 1976 and the Resale Prices Act 1976, as well
as the provisions of the Competition Act 1980 relating to anti-competitive practices, will be repealed from a date
to be appointed, expected to be March 1, 2000,
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From March 1, 2000, the new Act will prohibit:

®  Agreements or concerted practices which prevent, restrict or distort competition and may affect trade
in the UK. or part of it (the “Chapter I Prohibition™), and

®  Conduct which amounts to an abuse of a dominant position and affects trade in the UK. or part of it
(the “Chapter IT Prohibition™), '

The new Act introduces a system for voluntary notification. When the prohibitions come into force it will
be possible to notify an agreement or conduct to the Director-General of Fair Trading (“DGFT™) and request
either guidance or a decision as to whether an agreement or course of conduct infringes either of the Chapter I or
Chapter II Prohibitions or whether it is appropriate to grant an individual exemption in respect of the Chapter [
Prohibition. Before the prohibitions come into force it is possible (o request early guidance from the DGFT on
the application of the Chapter 1 Prohibition to agreements that are entered into between November 9, 1998 and
February 29, 2000 (both dates inclusive) (the “interim period™),

Failing to abide by the Chapter I or Chapter H Prohibition can render irms liable to fines of up to 10% of
UK. turnover over up to three years and third parties who have suffered loss as 2 result of an infringing
agreement may also bring actions in the U.K. courts seeking damages. The Act provides that the U.K. courts
handle cases in such a way as 10 ensure consistency with EU law.

Examples of practices which may infringe the Chapter I prohibition include directly or indirectly fixing
purchase or selling prices or any other trading conditions, limiting or controlling production, markets, technical
development or investment, sharing markets or sources of supply, applying dissimilar conditions to equivalent
transactions with other trading parties and making the conclusion of contracts subject to acceptance by the other
parties of supplementary obligations which, by their nature or according to commercial usage, have no
connection with the subject of such contracts.

Examples of practices infringing the Chapter II prohibition include directly or indirectly imposing unfair
purchase or setting prices or other unfair trading conditions; or limiting production, markets or technical
development to the prejudice of consumers, applying dissimilar conditions to equivalent transactions with other
trading parties and making the conclusion of contracts subject to acceptance by the other parties of
supplementary cbligations which, by their nature or according to commercial usage, have no connection with the
subject of such contracts.

Our Dealings with the EU and UK. Competition Authorities

A number of our commercial agreements have been notified to the EU Commission requesting confirmation
either that the agreements do not infringe Article 81(1), or altemnatively that all agreements would benefit from
exemption under Anticle 81(3). These agreements relate principally to our arrangements for licensing our
VideoCryprt analog wechnology. These include our arangements with BSkyB for the exploitation of VideoCrypt
in the UK. and Ireland, including the related arrangements for the supply of smart card technology and
subscriber management services (notified to the EU Commission in October 1993), and our arrangements with
Nethold for the exploitation of VideoCrypt in Benelux, Scandinavia and certain other territories (notified to the
Commission in June 1993). In the case of the arrangements with BSkyB, the parties have discussed with the
Commission proposed modifications to the agreements which, if adopted by the incorporation of suitable
amendments, would enable the agreements to qualify for exemption under Article 81(3). Such modifications have
yet 1o be finalized with the Commission, however. The Commission did not respond in any detail to the
notification of the arrangements with Nethold and we have since requested that the Commission not look at this
notification any further as Nethold is no longer in business.

In addition, particulars of a number of our agreements have been furnished to the Qffice of Fair Trading
under the Restrictive Trade Practices Act, including our arrangements with BSkyB for the exploitation of
VideoCrypr, and agreements with Sky Subscribers Services Limited (a subsidiary of BSkyB) and International
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Cable Casting Technologies-Europe (U.K.) Limited providing for the licensing by us of satellite encryption
technology for the transmission of audio signals relating to the “DMX™ music service and the provision by Sky
Subscribers Services Limited of subscriber management services. The Office of Fair Trading has concluded that
both of these agreements were registrable under the Restrictive Trade Practices Act but we have since asked the
Office of Fair Trading not to look into these agreements any further as the DMX music service has ceased to
operate and the significance of the restrictions in these agreements is presently being considered pursuant to the
Restrictive Trade Practices Act. We are unable Lo predict at this stage the outcome of such assessments.

U.K. Takeover Regulations

In the UK., takeovers of public companies are regulated by the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers. Any
takeover or merger transaction in respect of the Company, including any transaction under which control of the
Company is obtained or consolidated, will accordingly be subject to the rules of the Takeover Code and to the
requirements of the Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, which is the body which issues and administers the
Takeover Code.

During an offer period for the purposes of the Takeover Code, the Panel generally requires accelerated
disclosure of dealings in relevant securities (which could include ADSs) by certain persons, including disclosure
by significant shareholders (those owning ot controlling 1% or more of any class of relevant securities).

In addition, the Panel has published the Rules Goveming Substantial Acquisition of Shares. In general
terms, the rules restrict the speed with which a person may increase a holding of shares and rights over shares in
a company incorporated in, and resident in, the UK. 10 an aggregate of between 15% and 30% of the voting

rights.

Export Licensing Regulations

The export or transfer of technology is subject to various regulations in the U.K., U.S. and Israel. These
regulations restrict the right to export cenain types of encryption technology, impose licensing requirements and,
in some cases, restrict the export of encryption technology to proscribed countries.

Litigation

We are involved in a number of litigations, most of which involve claims by us against persons or
organizations engaged in signal theft. We have a close working relationship with law enforcement authorities,
the Federation Against Copyright Theft, Trading Standards Officers and the United Kingdoms Customs and
Excise in the investigation of signal theft. We also conduct our own investigations into those involved in the
development, marketing and distribution of unavthorized signal theft devices. Many individuals and entities are
involved in the developmenit, marketing and distribution of signal theft devices in other European countries, and
we have assisted in investigations in such countries by law enforcement agencies, and other commercial
organizations with whom we share a common interest.

We are not involved in any legal proceedings that management believes would materially adversely affect
our business, operating results or financial condition.
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MANAGEMENT

. The directors of NDS are as follows:

Name Age Position

Chase Carey 45 Non-Executive Director

David F. DeVoe 51 Non-Executive Director

James Murdoch 26 Non-Executive Director

Dr. Abraham Peled 54 Executive Director, President and Chief Executive
Arthur M, Siskind 61 Non-Executive Director

It is anticipated that, following the closing of this offering, two independent Non-Executive Directors will
be appointed to our board of directors.

The sole executive officer of NDS (in addition to Dr. Peled) is as follows:

Name E Position
Richard Medlock 39 Chief Financtal Officer

Set forth below is further information with respect to our directors and executive officers.

Background of Directors

Chase Carey has been a director of NDS since December 1998, Mr. Carey is an Executive Director of News
Corporation and has been the Co-Chief Operating Officer of News Corporation since 1996. Mr. Carey has been
a director of Fox Entertainment Group, Inc. since 1992 and Co-Chief Operating Officer of Fox Entertainment
Group, Inc. since August 1998. Mr, Carey was President of Fox Entertainment Group, Inc. from 1995 to 1998,
Executive Vice President of Fox Entertainment Group, Inc. and its Chief Operating Officer from 1991 to 1995,
Mr. Carey has served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Fox Television since July 1994. Mr. Carey
is @ member of the Boards of Directors of Fox Family Worldwide, Inc., TV Guide, Inc., Gateway 2000 and
Colgate University.

David F. DeVoe has been a director of NDS since October 1996. Mr. DeVoe has also been an Executive
Director, Chief Financial Officer and Finance Director of News Corporation since 1990 and a Senior Executive
Vice President of News Corporation since 1996, Mr. DeVoe has been a director of Fox Entertainment Group,
Inc. since 1991, and Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Fox Entertainment Group,
Inc. since August 1998. Mr. DeVoe has been a director of STAR TV since 1993 and a director of BSkyB since
1994,

James Murdoch has been a director of NDS since October 1999, Mr. Murdoch is an Executive Vice
President of News Corporation and has been President of News Digital Media, Inc. (formedy News America
Digital Publishing, Inc.) since November 1997. Mr. Murdoch was Vice President, Music and New Media of
News Corporation from November 1996 to November 1997. He founded Rawkus Entertainment LLP in August
1995 and has served as its chairmap since its inception. Mr. Murdoch is the son of Mr. K. Rupert Murdoch,
Chairman and Chief Executive of News Corporation,

Abraham Peled joined NDS as a director, President and Chief Executive in 1995, Prior to his employment
with us, Dr. Peled served as Senior Vice President for business development for Elron Electronic Industries,
based in Haifa. Dr. Peled was employed by IBM in the U.S. from 1974 to 1993, at which time he served as
Research Division Vice President, Systems and Software, with responsibility for all research and advanced
development worldwide. Dr. Peled received his BSc and MSc degrees in Electrical Engineering from the
Technion-Israel Institute of Technology and his M.A. and Ph.D. degrees in Electrical Engineering from Princeton
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University. Dr. Peled also serves on the News Corporation Executive Committee and advises News Corporation
with respect to various technology matters. Dr. Peled currently serves as the Deputy Chairman of the Board of
Directors of Tandberg Television ASA.

Arthur M. Siskind has been a director of NDS since October 1996, Mr. Siskind has also been an Executive
Director, Executive Vice President and Group General Counsel of News Corporation since 1991 and a Senior
Executive Vice President of News Corporation since 1996; Mr. Siskind has also been a director, Senior Executive
Vice President and General Counsel of Fox Entertainment Group, Inc. since August 1998, Mr. Siskind has been
a director of BSkyB since 1992 and a director of STAR TV since 1993. Mr. Siskind has been a Member of the
Bar of the State of New York since 1962.

None of the directors listed above is, or will be, subject to annual re-election, See “~Directors” below.

Background of Executive Qfficers
In additior to Dr. Peled, the sole executive officer of NDS is Richard Medlock.

Mr. Medlock was appointed Chief Financial Officer of NDS in 1996, Mr. Medlock served as Finance
Director of Creative Group Holdings Ltd. (Creative) from April 1994 until its sale in December 1994 to Policy
Management Systems Corporation (PMSC), at which time Mr. Medlock was appointed Chief Financial Officer,
Europe of PMSC. He is currently a non-executive director of Mondiale Publishing Group, and Logistics
Technology Group as well as a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. Mr,
Medlock received an M.A. in Economics from the University of Cambridge in 1983.

Senior Executives

The following persons are our senior executives:

Name & Positlen
Raffi Kesten 46 Vice President Operations
Andrew Mathieson 46 Vice President Sales and Marketing
Rafi Nave 50 Vice President of Research and Development
Dr. Mike Windram 54 Senior Vice President Broadcasting

Background of Senior Executives

Raffi Kesten has been Vice President Operations of NDS and General Manager of our Israeli subsidiary since
1996, From 1993 to 1996, Mr. Kesten was Vice President of Indigo, an international printing company. From
1982 to 1993, Mr. Kesten served in a variety of positions at Intel Corporation in the U.S. and in Israel.

Andrew Mathieson has been Vice President Sales and Marketing of NDS since 1994. Prior to Joining NDS,
Mr. Mathieson was a European Sales Manager of Data General Corporation. From 1991 to 1994, Mr. Mathieson
was a Director of Asset Technology ple. From 1984 to 1991, Mr. Mathieson served in a variety of sales and
marketing roles at Burroughs/Univac.

Raft Nave has been Vice President of Research and Development of NDS since 1998. From 1996 to 1998,
Mr. Nave was Vice President of Consumer Devices. Prior to Jjoining NDS, Mr. Nave was General Manager of
the Israeli office of NetManage. From 1980 to 1994, Mr. Nave served in a variety of positions at Intel
Corporation in the U.S, and Israel, including General Manager of Intel Israel.

Mike Windram has been Senior Vice President Broadcasting of NDS since 1999 and was Senior Vice
President and Managing Director of our digital broadcasting business from 1995 to 1999, From 1993 10 1995,
Dr. Windram was Director of the Advanced Products division of NTL that NDS acquired in 1995 and which
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subsequently became our digital broadcasting business, From 1971 to 1993, Dr. Windram served in 2 variety of
engineering, research and development and general management positions in the Independent Broadcasting
Authority. Dr. Windram is a director of Tandberg Television ASA.

Directors

The board is currently comprised of five directors, and will be increased to seven directors following the
closing of this offering,

The board will establish an audit committee and a remuneration commiitee following completion of the
offering. The audit committee will consist of at least three directors, including at least two independent directors.
The audit committee is expected to meet not less than two times a year. Its purpose will be to consider and
recommend the appointment of our auditors, approve the audit fee, consider any questions of resignation or
dismissal of the auditors, discuss with the auditors the nature and scope of the audit, review the half-year and
annual financial statements before submission to the board of directors, discuss problems and reservations, if any,
arising from interim and final audits and any other matters the auditors may wish to discuss, review the auditors’
management letter and management’s response, review our statement on internal control systems, consider the
major findings of internal investigations and management’s response and, if requested by the board of directors,
1o review potential conflicts of interest. The remuneration committee is expected to consist of three directors,
including at least two independent directors. The remuneration committee is expected to meet not less than once
a year in order to approve and recommend to the board of directors the hiring and the remuneration of the
executive directors and key personnel. In particular, the remuneration committee is required to approve any new
service agreement with any of our executive directors.

The following is a summary of relevant provisions contained in our articles of association concerning the
directors.

Unless otherwise decided by shareholders by ordinary resolution, the number of directors is not subject to a
maximum but shall not be less than two. Directors may be appointed by shareholders by ordinary resoluticn: in
addition, the board of directors or the holder of a majority of the voting rights exercisabie, on a poll, at general
meetings may appoint directors; any director so appointed by the board of directors retires from office at the
next annual general meeting, but is then eligible for re-appointment.

At each annual general meeting, as nearly as possible (but not exceeding) one third of those directors subject
to retirement by rotation are obliged to retire by rotation based principally upon the length of time in office and
are eligible for re-¢lection. A director holding the office of chairman or chief executive or appointed by the
holders of a majority of the voting rights and any director appointed since the previous annual general meeting
are net subject (o retirement by rotation. A director may be removed in a general meeting, by the holder of a
majority of the voting rights or by all the other directors.

No person is disqualified from being appointed or re-appoinied as a director and noe director is required to
vacate his office by reason of attaining the age of 70 or any other age. A director is not required to own any of
our shares. The quorum for meetings of the board is two directors, unless otherwise decided by the board.

A director may hold any other office of NDS (except that of auditor), and no contract, arrangement or
transaction involving NDS in which such directoris in any way interested (directly or indirectly) shall be avoided
provided that such director has disclosed such interest in accordance with the Companies Act. Subject to such
disclosure, a director may vote or be counted in the quorum with respect to any resolution of the board or of a
comimittee concerning any contract, arrangement, (ransaction or proposal to which we are, or will be, a party in
which he is interested, except a resolution concemning his own appointment,

The board may from time to time appoint one or more directors to any executive office on such terms and
for such periods as the board may (subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and any other applicable
statute) determine and, without prejudice to the terms of any coniract entered into in any particular case, may at

any time revoke any such appointment.

69

CASE NO. SA CV03-950 DOC(JTL)

ESC0179858




Compensation of Directors and Officers

Non-executive directors of NDS, other than those who are appointed by the holder of a majority of the
voting rights under its special power or who are full-time employees of News Corporation or its affiliates, will
be entitled to annual directors’ fees at rates consistent with those paid by comparable companies. The directors
may also be paid all expenses properly incurred by them in attending meetings of the directors or any committee
of the directors or general meetings of NDS or otherwise in connection with the discharge of their duties as
directors. Any director who holds any executive office or who serves on any committee of the directors, or who
otherwise performs services which in the opinion of the directors are outside the scope of the ordinary duties of
a director, may be paid such extra remuneration by way of salary, commission or otherwise, as the directors may
determine. The directors have power to provide benefits whether by payment of gratuities, pensions or otherwise
to (or to any person in respect of) any director or ex-director and for the purpose of providing any such benefits
to contribute to any scheme or fund or to pay premiums. The directors may purchase and maintain insurance for,
or for the benefit of, present or former directors, officers, employees of NDS or an associated company or trustees
of any pension fund in which our employees or any such other associated company are interested.

Dr. Peled entered into a service agreement with NDS on January 1, 1997 providing for an initial term of
three years, subject to annual renewals thereafter.

The aggregate amount of compensation paid by NDS and its subsidiaries during fiscal 1999 to all directors
and officers as a group for services in all capacities was £1.4 million.

Dr. Peled and Dr. Windram have been granted options under the News Corporation Share Option Plan to
purchase preferred limited voting ordinary shares of News Corporation. Dr. Peled has been granted options to
purchase an aggregate of 506,000 preferred limited voting ordinary shares at an average exercise price of A$6.50
per share, and Dr. Windram has been granted options to purchase an aggregate of 28,000 prefemed limited voting
ordinary shares at an exercise price of A$5.17 per share,

Pensions

UK. employees are members of either of two pension schemes: (i) the News International plc pension
scheme which is a defined contribution scheme into which we contribute an amount egual to 8% of an
employee’s salary and the employee contributes 4% of salary; or (i) a defined benefit scheme to which the
former employees of APD, the predecessor of the digital broadcasting business, belong. See “Business—Doing
Business in Israel” for a discussion of pension arrangements for our employees in Israel, Also see “Relationship
with Principal Shareholder and Certain Related Party Transactions.”

The aggregate amount set aside by us in fiscal 1999 1o provide pensions and other similar benefits for its
directors and officers was £0.1 million.

Incentive Schemes

We adopted the 1997 Executive Share Option Scheme in May 1997. As of the date hereof, options to
purchase an aggregale of 2,226,791 Series A ordinary shares are outstanding under the scheme. Normally, an
aption becomes vested over a period of four years, provided the option holder remains a director or employee,
Upon the closing of this offering, all vested options will become exercisable. :

Options held by persons who ceased (o be our employees as a result of the sale of the digital broadcasting
business by Ordinto Investments have terminated. No further options will be granted under this scheme.
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We intend (o establish two new share option schemes to provide employees with incentives linked to equity
participation in NDS, The new share option schemes are (i) an approved share option scheme (as defined by
U.K. Inland Revenue) and (ii) an unapproved share option scheme.

Series A ordinary shares allotted under the share option schemes will rank equally in all respects with Series
A ordinary shares then in issue, but will not participate in any dividend or other rights attaching to Series A
ordinary shares by reference to a record date preceding the date of exercise of an option.

Participants will be able to exercise their options and acquire Series A ordinary shares at a price which will
be fixed by the directors when the option is granted, but may not be granted at less than the greater of (1) the
market value of a Series A ordinary share (as determined in accordance with the rules of the share option
schemes) or (2) if new shares are to be subscribed on exercise, their nominal vaiye,

Under the share option schemes, the options may not be exercised on or after the tenth anniversary of the
date of grant and become exercisable over a four year period.

All of our employees (including employee directors) are eligible to participate in the share option schemes.
Options may be granted at the discretion of the directors or an appropriate committee thereof.

The share option schemes may be altered by resolution of the directors 6f NDS in any respect. Any
alteration to the approved share option scheme will require the prior approval of the UK. Inland Revenue,

An option may only be exercised by the person to whom it is granted or his personal representative and is
not transferable.

In the event of any rights or capitalization issue or of any reduction, sub-division, consolidation or other
variation of share capital, the option price and/or the number of shares over which options have been granted
may be adjusted. Any such adjustment in respect of options granted under the approved share option scheme
will require the prior approval of the U.K. Inland Revenue.

Share Limits

The limit on the number of shares which may be issued pursuant (0 options granted under all share option
schemes is in aggregate 10% of the ordinary share capital in issue at the time such options are granted.

Subject to any requisite approvals, it is proposed that options to acquire approximately 895,000 Series A
ordinary shares under the share option schemes will be granted upon completion of the global offering. All such
options are expected to have an exercise price equal to the initial public offering price per share (subject to
approval of the UK. Inland Revenue with respect to any options granted under the approved share option
scheme).
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RELATIONSHIP WITH PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDER AND
CERTAIN RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Stock Ownership of NDS

After this offering, all of the 42,001,000 outstanding Series B ordinary shares (entitled to ten votes per
share) will be owned by Newscorp Investments, an English corporation. Newscorp Investments is a wholly
owned subsidiary of The News Corporation Limited, a South Australia, Australia corporation. As a resuit, News
Corporation will beneficially own Series B ordinary shares entitled 1o 97.9% of the voting power of NDS after
the closing of this offering, or 97.6% if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in
full. There will be no Series A ordinary shares outstanding prior to the closing of this offering.

As of November 1, 1999, (1) Mr. K. Rupert Murdoch and members of his family (2) Cruden Investments
Pty. Limited, a private Australian investrent company owned by Mr. Murdoch, members of his family and
various corporations and trusts, the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Murdoch, members of his family and
cerntain charities and (3) a corporation which is controlled by trustees of settlements and trusts set up for the
benefit of the Murdoch family, certain charities and other persons owned 30.36% of the outstanding ordinary
shares of News Corporation. By virtue of shares of News Corporation owned by such persons and entities, and
Mr. Murdoch’s position as Chairman and Chief Executive of News Corporation, Mr. Murdoch may be deemed
to control the operations of News Corporation.

Business Relationships between us and News Corporation

We have in the past, engaged in a broad range of relationships with News Corporation and its subsidiaries
and its associated entities. These relationships have included the purchase by satellite broadcasters of systems,
software and services from us and to sale by us of our digital broadcasting business to Ordinto Investrnents on
July 1, 1999, as described below.

Master Intercompany and Other Agreements

For purposes of govering certain ongoing relationship between News Corporation and us, we have entered
into. and propose to enter into, various agreements and relationships, including those described below with News
Corporation, prior to the closing of this offering. The agreements described below were negotiated in the context
of a parent-subsidiary relationship and therefore are not the result of arm’s-length negotiations between
independent parties. There can be no assurance, therefore, that each of such agreements, or the transactions
provided for therein, or any amendments thereof will be effected on terms at least as favorable us as could have
been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

Cenain agreements summarized below are included as exhibits to the registration statement on Form F-1 of
which this prospectus is a part. The following descriptions summarize all material terms of such agreements.

Master Intercompany Agreement

We will enter into a Master Intercompany Agreement with News Corporation which will provide, among
other things, for agreements governing the relationship between us and News Corporation following the closing
of this offering. The consideration for each of the services and other arrangements set forth in the Master
Intercompany Agreement will be mutually agreed upon between News Corperation and us based upon allocated
costs; provided that all such consideration and any material arrangements will be subject to the approval of the
audit committee of NDS.

Cash Management and Financing

Pursuant to the Master Intercompany Agreement, we will utilize the wordwide treasury and cash
management function, including the use of bank overdraft facilities, of News Corporation and its subsidiaries,
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subject to specified limitations. In addition, our cash balances will be available to News Corporation and its
subsidiaries. Prior to this offering, no interest has been charged o us on our bank overdrafts nor has any interest
been paid to us on cash deposits. It is expected that following the closing of this offering, we will receive interest
on cash deposits with News Corporation and pay interest on overdrafts at commercial interest rates which shail
not exceed News Corporation's average cost of borrowing.

Services of Company Employees

The Master Intercompany Agreement will provide that our employees may from time to time be required to
devote time to the business activities of News Corporation, its subsidiaries and affiliated and associated
companies.

Facility Arrangements

Our leases in the United Kingdom are held in the name of News International, and charges relating to these
properties are passed through to us for payment on a cost basis. News Internarional also acts as a guarantor for
our leases in Jerusalem, Israel. :

Our principal facilities are located in premises leased by News Corporation, or entities in which News
Corporation has an interest. Under the Master Intercompany Agreement, in cases where we do not have a formal
sublease arrangement, we will license from the lessee of the premises the right to continue to occupy the
premises, and we as licensee, will be responsible for our pro rata share (based on square feet occupied) of all
monetary obligations imposed on the lessee under the relevant lease. The term of each license will be coextensive
with the applicable lease term, subject to certain provisions for early termination by the relevant entity in which
News Corporation has an interest.

Insurance

The Master Intercompany Agreement will provide that News Corporation or its subsidiaries will provide
insurance coverage on our behalf against some risks and in amounts of coverage consistent with current
coverages, or as otherwise may be agreed between us. The Master Intercompany Agreement will further provide
that News Corporation will not be obligated to maintain any type or amount of coverage.

Services

The Master Intercompany Agreement will provide that News Corporation and its subsidiaries will continue
to provide various services 1o us, including material procurement, transportation and financial and administrative
services.

Indemanities by NDS

News Corporation or its subsidiaries have, in the past, given certain guarantees or made commitments
relating to NDS. These include commitments made in connection with various leases. The Master Intercompany
Agreement will provide that we will indemnify and hold News Corporation and its subsidiaries harmless from
and against all liabilities arising from any default thereunder.

Credit Arrangemenits

We may from time {o time in the future be required to guarantee certain bank or other debt obligations of
News Corporation and its subsidiaries. Qur obligation to make such guarantees will depend upon the provisions
contained in the credit agreements and indentures of News Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries, as in effect
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from time to time. The principal amount of such debt obligations which was subject to guarantees by certain
subsidiaries of News Corporation at June 30, 1999 was in excess of $9 billion. There are no such guaraniees
ocutstanding at the date of this prospectus.

Pursuant to the Master Intercompany Agreement, News Corporation will indemnify and hold us harmiess
from and against all liabilities arising from any default under the debt instruments or obligations of News
Corporation or its subsidiaries (other than NDS and its subsidiaries) which have been guaranteed by us or our
subsidiaries.

Group Relief Agreement

We have entered into a Group Relief Agreement with Newscorp Investments, which provides for the mutual
surrender of losses and other allowances by group relief. Subject to the terms of the agreement, the pamy
accepting such surrender shall pay or cause to be paid to the surrendering party an amount equal 10 the amount
of tax such accepting party would have paid but for such sumender.

Intercompany Debt
Long-Term Debt Arrangements

At June 30, 1999, £131.2 million was payable to News Intemational under our long-term loan agreement
with News International. The loan is repayable on July 29, 2001 and carries interest at sterling 12-month LIBOR
plus 1.75%, payable quarterly.

Revolving Credit Facility

We have entered into a Revolving Credit Facility Agreement with News Intemational providing for
borrowings of up to £30 million, bearing interest at sterting three-month LIBOR plus 1.00%. At June 30, 1999,
£23.2 million was owed to News International under this facility.

Indebiedness following this Offering

Immediately following the closing of this offering and the application of the net proceeds, we will owe
approximately £63.5 million to News Corporation or its subsidiaries, or approximately £50.6 million if the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional ADSs in full.

Sale of Digital Broadcasting Business

On Juiy 1, 1999, we sold our digjtal broadcasting business to Ordinto Investments, which is also a
subsidiary of News Corporation, for £70.6 million. The digital broadcasting business is a leading supplier of
digital video compression, transmission and equipment for the broadcasting market. Its principal activities consist
of the design, development, supply and support of its products. On October 14, 1999, Ordinto Investments sold
the digital broadcasting business to Tandberg Television ASA.

We continued to operate the digital broadcasting business on behalf of Ordinto Investments from Tuly 1,
199 until October 14, 1999, Ordinto Investments has agreed to reimburse us with respect to such activities.

We have established a contractual relationship with Tandberg under which Tandberg will support the digital
broadcasting business products which have been sold 10 cur customers. Under this agreement we are obliged
also to support our products sold by Tandberg to their customers. Moreover, each party appoints the other as a
reseller in relation to futwre business opportunities. In addition, the parties have entered into a product
collaboration agreement relating to certain integrated products such as NDS Director and NDS Broadcaster, and
they have also granted cross licenses of various intellectual property rights associated with their respective
businesses. ;
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

Description of Existing Shares

The authorized share capital of NDS is £42,000,002 and $1 ;000,000 divided into 42,000,002 deferred shares
of £] each, 48,000,000 Series A ordinary shares of $.01 each and 52,000,000 Series B ordinary shares of $.01
cach, respectively. The issued share capital at the date of this prospectus is divided into 42,000,002 deferred
shares and 42,001,000 Series B ordinary shares. No Series A ordinary shares had been issued as of this date.

In November 1999, all the 42,001,000 ordinary shares of NDS owned by Newscorp Investments were
converted into Series B ordinary shares, :

Immediately following the closing of this offering and assuming that the underwriters’ over-allotment option
is not exercised, the issued share capital of NDS will be 42,000,002 deferred shares, 9,000,000 Series A ordinary
shares and 42,001,000 Series B ordinary shares.

Description of Deferred Shares

Upon a liquidation of NDS, the deferred shares entitle the holders to repayment of the capital paid up on
those shares, but only after each holder of ordinary shares has received (1) the amount paid up on their shares
and (2) an additional sum of $1 million per share. The deferred shares do not entitle the holders thereof to receive
notice of, or to attend or vote at, meetings of our shareholders, or to receive dividends,

Description of Ordinary Shares

The following is a description of the material rights of the Series A and B ordinary shares based on our
articles of association. Copies of our full articles of association have been filed as an exhibit to the registration
statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

The Series A ordinary shares and the Series B ordinary shares have identical rights except with respect to
voting, conversion and transfer. Series B ordinary shares may only be issued to News Corporation, its successors
and subsidiaries. Ordinary shares are issued by us in registered form,

Yoting Rights

Holders of Series A ordinary shares are entitled to one voie per share and holders of Series B ordinary shares
are entitled to 10 votes per share on all matters to be voted on by shareholders-on a poll taken at a general
meeting. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote each on a show of hands. Votes may be cast either
personally or by proxy.

Voting at any general meeting is by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. A poll may be demanded
by:
(1) the chairman of the meeting,
(2) not less than five shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote,

(3) any shareholder or shareholders representing in the aggregate not less than one-tenth of the total
voting rights of all shareholders entitled to attend and vote at such meeting or

(4) any shareholder or shareholders present in person or by proxy and holding shares conferring a right
to vote at the meeting on which there have been paid-up sums in the aggregate equal to not less than one-
tenth of the total sum paid on all shares conferring such ripht.

Where a poll is not demanded, the interests of beneficial owners of shares who hold through a nominee
may not be reflected in votes cast on a show of hands if such nominee does not attend the meeting or receives
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conflicting voting instructions from beneficial owners for which it holds as nominee. Since under English law
voling rights are only conferred on registered hoiders of shares, a person who owns shares through a nominee
(such as a holder of our ADS) may not directly demand or join in demanding a poll or cast the votes relating to
those shares,

Unless otherwise required by law or our articles of association, voting in a general meeting is by ordinary
resotution. An ordinary resolution, for €xample, the election of directors, the approval of financial statements,
the declaration of a final dividend, the appointment of auditors, the increase of authorized share capital or the
grant of authority to allot shares, requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast, either on a show of
hands or on a poll. A special resolution, for example, amending the memorandum or articles, changing our
CoTporaté name or waiving statutory preemption rights on the issue of new shares for cash, or an extraordinary
resoleton, for example, modifying the rights of any class of shares at a meeting of the holders of such class or
relating to certain matters concerning the liquidation of NDS requires the affirmative vote of at least three-fourths
of the votes cast, either on a show of hands or on a poll. In the case of an equality of votes whether on a show of
hands or on a poll, the chairman of the meeting is entitled to cast a deciding vote. Annual general meetings are
convened upon at least 21 days’ notice and extraordinary general meetings are convened upon at least 21 days’
notice when a special or extraordinary resolution is being proposed or 14 days’ notice when an ordinary
resolution is being proposed, in each case exclusive of both the day of dispatch of the notice and the day of the
meeting.

Restrictions on Voting and Other Rights

Unless the directors otherwise determine, no ordinary shareholder may vote at a general meeting either
personally or by proxy if (1) any call or other sum that is presently payable by him (o us in respect of such share
remains unpaid; or (2) such sharehoider or any other person who appears to be interested in that share has been
duly served with a notice from us requiring the provision of information regarding that share and is in default in
complying with such notice for a period of at least 14 days and the board decides to impose restrictions in respect
of that share. If these restrictions are imposed, such holder is also precluded from receiving any dividend or other
distribution in respect of, or from transferring the relevant share.

Quorum

The quorum at our general meetings is two or more persons holding ordinary shares who are present in
person or by proxy.

Dividends

Shareholders may by ordinary resolution declare dividends to be paid to shareholders according 10 their
rights and priorities, but no dividend may exceed the amount recommended by the directors. If in the opinion of
the directors our financial position justifies such payments, the directors may alse from time to time pay interim
dividends on the shares of such amounts as they think fit. Subject to the extent that rights attached to any shares
or their terms of issue provide otherwise, our profits which we resolve to distribute shall be distributed among
the holders of the shares ratably and in proportion {0 the amounts paid up on the shares during any portion. of the
period in respect of which the dividend is paid. Holders of Series A ordinary shares and Series B ordinary shares
will therefore share equally on a per share basis in any dividend. Dividends consisting of, or including a right to
elect 10 receive, Series B ordinary shares may be distributed only to holders of Series B ordinary shares
simultaneously with a like dividend in respect of Series A ordinary shares which is equal on a per share basis
with respect to each cutstanding share of the Series A ordinary shares and the Series B ordinary shares.

No dividend or other amount payable on, or in respect of, a share shall bear interest. Any dividend
remaining unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the date such dividend became due for payment will be
forfeited and will revert to us.
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Conversion of Series B Ordinary Shares

A holder of a Series B ordinary share may convert that share into a Series A ordinary share at any time by
giving notice in writing us at our registered office, accompanied by the certificate relating 1o the Series B ordinary
share. A Series B ordinary share will convert automatically into a Series A ordinary share if any sale, transfer or
other disposal, or any other transaction or event occurs as a result of which the Series B ordinary share is not
beneficially owned by:

(1) News Corporation, or

(2) any company which is a successor to News Corporation by reason of one or more reorganizations
Or reconstructions, or

(3) any subsidiary of News Corporation or any successor to it.

Upon any conversion of 2 Series B ordinary share, that share will be redesignated as a Series A ordinary
share and the number of Series A ordinary shares forming pan of the authorized share capital will be increased,
and the number of Series B ordinary shares reduced accordingly, without any further action or authorization on
the part of shareholders. Upon the conversion into Series A ordinary shares of all the Series B ordinary shares in
issue immediately before such conversion, all of the Series A ordinary shares, both issued and unissued, and any
unissued Series B ordinary shares, will be automatically redesignated as ordinary shares.

Distribution of Assets oﬁ a Winding-Up

If we are wound up, the liquidator may, with the sanction of an extraordinary resolution and any other
sanction required by the Companies Act and other applicable statutes: (1) divide any assets among the
shareholders and, for that purpose, value any assets and determine how the division shall be carried out between
the shareholders, and (2) vest the whole or any part of the assets in trustees upon such trusts for the benefit of
sharcholders as the liquidator thinks fit. However, no shareholder can be compelled to accept any assets upon
which there is any liability.

Preemptive Rights
Our articles do not contain any pre-emplive rights. The Companies Act confers on shareholders, to the

exient not disapplied, rights of pre-emption in respect of the issuance of equity securities that are, or are to be,
paid up wholly in cash. The term “equity securities” means:

(1) shares other than shares which, with respect to dividends and capital, carry a right to participate
only up 10 a specified amount in a distribution and other than shares allotted pursuant to an employee share
scheme; and

(2) rights to subscribe for, or to convert securities into, such shares,

Pursuant to the Companies Act, these provisions may be disapplied by a special resolution of the
shareholders, either generally or specifically, if the directors are generally authorized to allot relevant securities,
such authorization being for a maximum period of five years and such a special resolution has been passed in
respect of all our authorized and unissued shares for the period up to September 30, 2004,

Disclosure of Interests

Section 198 of the Companies Act provides that a person, including a company and other legal entities,
who acquires any interest of 3% or more of any class of shares, including through ADRs, comprised in an
English public company’s “relevant share capital™ is required to notify the company in writing of such interest
within two business days following the day on which the obligation arises. After the 3% level is exceeded,
similar notifications must be made where the interest falls below the 3% level or otherwise in respect of increases
or decreases of 1% or more. For these purposes the Series A ordinary shares will form a separate class from the
Series B ordinary shares,

77

CASE NO. SA CV03-950 DOC(JTL)

ESC0179866



For purposes of the notification obligation, the interest of a person in shares means any kind of interest in
shares including interests in any shares:

(1) in which a spouse, or child or stepchild under the age of 18, is interested:

(2) in which a corporate body is interested and either (a) that corporate body or its directors generally
act in accordance with that person’s directions or instructions or (b) that person controls one-third or more
of the voting power of that corporate body; or

(3) in which another party is “interested” and the person and that other party are parties to 2 “concent
party” agreement under Section 204 of the Companies Act.

A concent party agreement is one which provides for one or more parties to acquire interests in shares of a
particular company and imposes obligations or restrictions on any of the parties as to the use, retention or
disposal of such interests acquired pursuant (¢ such agreement and any interest in the company’s shares is in fact
acquired by any of the parties pursuant to the agreement. Certain non-material interests may be disregarded for
the purposes of calculating the 3% threshold, but the obli gation of disclosure will still apply where such interests
exceed 10% or more of any class of a company’s relevant share capital and to increases or decreases of 1% or
more thereafter.

In addition, Section 212 of the Companies Act provides that a public company may by written notice require
a person whom the company knows or has reasonable cause to believe to be, or to have been at any time during
the three years immediately preceding the date on which the notice is issued, interested in shares consisting of
the company’s “relevant share capital” 1o confirm that fact or to indicate whether or not that is the case, and
where such person holds or during the relevant time had held an interest in such shares, to give such further
information as may be required relating to such interest and any other interest in the shares of which such person
is aware.

Where notice is served by a company under the foregoing provisions on a person who is or was interested
in shares of the company and that person fails to give the company any information required by the notice within
such reasonable time as is specified in the notice, the company may, as well as, or instead of, imposing
restrictions under the powers conferred by our articles of association, apply to the English court for an order
directing that the shares in question be subject to restrictions prohibiting, among other things, any transfer of
those shares, the exercise of voting rights in respect of such shares, the taking up of rights in respect of such
shares and, other than in liquidation, payments in respect of such shares.

A person who fails to fulfill the obligations imposed by Sections 198 and 212 of the Companies Act
described above is subject to criminal penalties,

Transfer of Shares

A transfer of shares may be effected by a transfer in writing in any usual form or in any other form which
the directors may approve. Any such instrument of transfer must be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and,
except in the case of fully paid shares, by or on behalf of the transferee, The transferor remains the holder of the
shares concerned until the name of the transferee is entered in the register of members in respect thereof.

The directors may, in their absolute discretion, and without giving any reason, refuse Lo register any transfer
of a share:
(1) which is not fully paid up;
(2) on which we have a lien;

(3) if a notice has been duly served in respect of that share pursuant to Section 212 of the Companies
Act and the notice has not been complied with within 14 days; or

(4) which is in favor of more than four persons Jjointly.
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The directors may also decline to recognize a transfer of shares unless it is in respect of only one class of
share and is deposited at our registered office or such other place as the directors may decide accompanied by
the relevant share certificate(s) and in any case such other evidence as the directors may reasonably require to
show the right of the transferor to make the transfer.

Variation of Rights

Whenever our share capital is divided into different classes of shares, all or any of the rights attached 10
any class may be varied with the written consent of the holders of af least three-fourths in nominal value of the
issued shares of that class or with the sanction of an extraordinary resolution passed at a separate general meeting
of the holders of such shares. :

So long as any Series B ordinary shares are in issue, any variation of the special rights antaching to either
class of the ordinary shares is deemed to be a variation of the special rights attaching to the other class.

Share Capital and Changes in Capital

Without prejudice to any rights conferred on the holders of any existing shares or class of shares, any shares
in our capital may be allowted with such rights or restrictions as shareholders by ordinary resolution, or to the
extent no such resolution is in effect the directors, may decide.

Shareholders may from time to time by ordinary resolution increase our capital by the creation of new
shares, consolidate all or any of our share capital into shares of larger amount than the existing shares; sub-divide
existing shares or any of them into shares of smaller amount, and reduce our share capital, any capital redemption
reserve and share premium account.

So long as any Series B ordinary shares are in issue, however, no consolidation, sub-division or other
reorganization may have the effect of the par value of such shares being different from the par value of the Series
A ordinary shares.

We may issue redeemable shares and may purchase our own shares, including any redeemable shares.

Non-U.K. Shareholders

There are no limitations in our articles on the right of non-U.K. citizens or residents to hold, or exercise
voting rights auaching to, our ordinary shares, :

Untraced Members

We may sell any share if, during a period of 12 years, at least three cash dividends have become payable in
respect of that share and have not been claimed and no communication has been received by us from the person
entitled to the share,

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Lloyds TSB Registrars will serve as transfer agent and_rcgistrar for our ordinary shares.
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DESCRIPTION OF AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

American Deposttary Receipts

The Bank of New York will issue the ADSs. Each ADS will represent an ownership interest in Series A
ordinary shares. The Series A ordinary shares or the right to receive Series A ordinary shares will be deposited
by us with the custodian, which is currently the London office of The Bank of New York, the Custodian. Each
ADS will also represent secutities, cash or other property deposited with The Bank of New York but not
distributed to ADS holders. The Bank of New York's Corporate Trust Office is located at 101 Barclay Street,
New York, NY 10286, its principal executive office is located at One Wall Street, New York, New York 10286,
and the Custodian’s office is currently located at One Canada Square, London, E14 SAL, England,

You may hold ADSs either directly or indirectly through your broker or other financial institution. If you
hold ADSs directly, you are an ADS holder. This description assumes you hold your ADSs directly. If you hold
the ADSs indirectly, you must rely on the procedures of your broker or other financial institution to assert the
rights of ADS holders described in this section. You should consult with your broker or financial institution to
find out what those procedures are.

Because The Bank of New York will actually be the legal owner of the Series A ordinary shares, you must
rely on it to exercise the rights of a shareholder, The obligations of The Bank of New York are set out ina
deposit agreement among NDS, The Bank of New York and you, as an ADS holder. The deposit agreement and
the ADSs are generally governed by New York law,

The following is 2 summary of the deposit agreement. For more complete information, you should read the
entire deposit agreement and the ADR. Copies of the deposit agreement and the ADR will be available for
inspection at the Corporate Trust Office of The Bank of New York and at the London office of the Custodian set
forth above.

Share Dividends And Other Distributions

The Bank of New York has agreed to pay to you the cash dividends or other distributions it or the Custodian
receives on Series A ordinary shares or other deposited securities after deducting its fees and expenses. You will
receive these distributions in proportion to the number of Series A ordinary shares your ADSs represent.

Cash

The Bank of New York will, as promptly as practicable, convert any cash dividend or other cash distribution
we pay on the Series A ordinary shares into U.S. dollars, if it can do so on a reasonable basis and can transfer
the U.S. dollars to the United States. If that is not possible or if any approval from any govemment is needed
and can not be obtained, the agreement allows The Bank of New York to distribute the foreign currency only to
those ADS holders to whom it is possible to do so. It may hold the foreign currency it cannot convert for the
account of the ADS holders who have not been paid. It will not invest the foreign currency and it will not be
liable for the interest.

Before making a distribution, any withhelding taxes that must be paid will be deducted. See “Certain Tax
Considerations.” It will distribute only whole U.S. dollars and cents and will round fractional cents to the nearest
whole cent. If the exchange rates fluctuate during a time when The Bank of New York cannot convert the foreign
currency, you may lose some or all of the value of the distribution.

Series A ordinary shares

The Bank of New York will distribute new ADSs representing any Series A ordinary -shares we may
distribute as a dividend or free distribution, if we request it to make this distribution, The Bank of New York
will only distribute whole ADSs, It will sell Series A ordinary shares which would require it to issue a fractional
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ADS and distribute the net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. If The Bank of New York does not
distribute additional ADSs, each ADS will also represent the new Series A ordinary shares,

" Rights to receive additional Series A ordinary shares.

If we offer holders of securities any ri ghts to subscribe for additional Series A ordinary shares or any other
rights, The Bank of New York, after consultation with us, will have discretion as to the procedure 1o be followed
in making these rights available to you, If The Bank of New York decides it is not legal or feasible to make
these rights available t0 you, The Bank of New York may sell the rights and allocate the net proceeds. The Bank
of New York may allow rights that are not distributed or sold to lapse. In that case, you will receive no value for
them.

After consultation with us, if The Bank of New York makes rights available to you, upon instruction from
you it will exercise the rights and purchase the Series A ordinary shares on your behalf. The Bank of New York
will then deposit the Series A ordinary shares and issue ADSs 1o you. It will only exercise rights if you pay it
the exercise price and any other charges the rights require you to pay.

U.S. securities laws may restrict the sale, deposit, cancellation and transfer of the ADSs issued after exercise
of rights. For example, you may not be able to trade the ADSs freely in the United States. In this case, The Bank
of New York may issue the ADSs under a separate restricted deposit agreement which will contain the same
provisions as the deposit agreement, except for the changes needed to put the restrictions in ptace. The Bank of
New York will not offer you rights unless those tights and the securities to which the rights relate are either
exempt from registration or have been registered under the Securities Act with respect to a distribution to you.
We will have no obligation to register under the Securities Act those rights or the securities to which they relate.

Other Distributions

The Bank of New York will, after consultation with us, send to you anything else we distribute on deposited
securities by any means it thinks is legal, fair and practical. If it cannot make the distribution in that way, The
Bank of New York, after consultation with us, may decide to sell what we distributed and distribute the net
proceeds in the same way as it does with cash or it may decide to hold what we distributed, in which case the
ADSs will also represent the newly distributed property.

The Bank of New York is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a
distribution available to any ADS holders. We have no obligation to register ADSs, Series A ordinary shares,
rights or other securities under the Securities Act, We also have no obli gation to take any other action to permit
the distribution of ADSs, Series A ordinary shares, rights or anything else to ADS holders. This means that you
may not receive the distribution we make on our Series A ordinary shares or any value for them if it is illegal or
impractical for us to make them available to you.

Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancellation

The Bank of New York will issue ADSs if you or your broker deposit Series A ordinary shares or evidence
of rights to receive Series A ordinary shares with the Custodian, Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of
any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, The Bank of New York will register the
appropriate number of ADSs in the names you request and will deliver the ADSs as promptly as practicable at
its Corporate Trust Office to the persons you request.

You may tum in your ADSs at The Bank of New York’s Corporate Trust Office. Upon payment of its fees
and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, The Bank of New
York will deliver (1) the underlying Series A ordinary shares to the office of the Custodian to or upon the order
of the person designated in the instructions received by The Bank of New York and (2) any other deposited
securities underlying the ADSs at The Bank of New York’s Corporate Trust Office, or, at your request, risk and
expense, The Bank of New York will deliver the deposited securities at its Corporate Trust Office.
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Voting Rights

You may instruct The Bank of New York to voie the Series A ordinary shares underlying your ADSs.
Otherwise, you will not be able to exercise your right to vote unless you withdraw the Series A ordinary shares.
However, you may not know about the meeting sufficiently in advance to withdraw the Series A ordinary shares.

We will ask The Bank of New York to notify you of the upcoming vote and arrange to deliver our voting
materials to you. The materials will (1) describe the marters to be voted on and (2) explain how you, on a
specified date, may instruct The Bank of New York to vote the Series A ordinary shares or other deposited
securities underlying your ADSs as you direct. For instructions to be valid, The Bank of New York must receive
them on or before the date specified. The Bank of New York will try, as far as practical, subject to English law
and the provisions of the Memorandum and Anicles of Association, to vote or to have its agents vote the Series
A ordinary shares or other deposited securities as you instruct. If The Bank of New York does not receive
instructions from you by the date specified, The Bank of New York will deem you to have instructed The Bank
of New York to give a discretionary proxy to a person designated by us and The Bank of New York will give a
discretionary proxy to a person designated by us to vote such Series A ordinary shares,

We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that Yyou can instruct The
Bank of New York to vote your Series A ordinary shares. In addition, The Bank of New York and its agents are
not responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying out voting instructions.
This means that you may not be able to exercise your right to vote and there may be néthing you can do if your
Series A ordinary shares are not voted as you requested.

Fees and Expenses
ADS holders must pay: For:

$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADSs Each issuance of an ADS, including as a result of a
distribution of Series A ordinary shares or rights or
other property. Each cancellation of an ADS,
including if the agreement terminates.

3.02 (or less) per ADS Any cash payment.

Registration or Teansfer Fees Transfer and registration of Series A ordinary shares
on the share register of the Foreign Registrar from
your name to the name of The Bank of New York or
its agent when you deposit or withdraw Series A

ordinary shares,

Expenses of The Bank of New York Conversion of foreign currency w0 U.S, Dollars,
cable, telex and facsimile Transmission expenses,

Taxes and other govemmental charges The As necessary.
Bank of New York or the Custodian have to

pay on any ADS or share underlying an

ADS, for example, stock transfer taxes,

stamp duty or withholding taxes

Payment of Taxes

The Bank of New York may deduct the amount of any taxes owed from any payments to you. The Bank of
New York may refuse to transfer your ADSs or allow you to withdraw the deposited securities underlying your
ADSs until such transfer taxes or other charges are paid. The Bank of New York may also withhold any dividend
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or other distributions, or may sell deposited securities, by public or private sale, to pay any taxes owed. You will
remain liable if the proceeds of the sale are not enough to pay the taxes. If The Bank of New York sells deposited
securities, it will, if appropriate, reduce the number of ADSs to reflect the sale and pay to you any proceeds, or
send o you any property, remaining after it has paid the taxes.

Reclassifications, Recapitalization and Mergers
Ifwe:  Change the nominal or par value of our Series A ordinary shares;
Reclassify, split up or consolidate any of the deposited securities;
Distribute securities on the Series A ordinary shares that are not distributed to you; or

Recapitalize, reorganize, merge, liquidate, sel! all or substantially all of its assets, or take any similar
action,

Then:  The cash, Series A ordinary shares or other securities received by The Bank of New York will become
deposited securities,

Each ADS will automatically represent its equal share of the new deposited securities.

The Bank of New York may, and will if we ask it to, distribute some or all of the cash, Series A ordinary
shares or other securities it received. It may also issue new ADSs or ask you to surrender your outstanding ADSs
in exchange for new ADSs, identifying the new deposited securities.

Disclosure of Interests

You, and each ADS holder, agree to provide the information that we request in each disclosure notice (a
Disclosure Notice) given pursuant (o the Companies Act or our Memorandum and Aricles of Association. You
acknowledge that you understand that if you fail to provide this informatior on a timely basis, sanctions may be
imposed against the holder of Series A ordinary shares represented by ADSs in which you are or were or appear
to be or have been interested, as provided in the Companies Act and our Memorandum and Articles of
Association. These sanctions include the withdrawal of the voting rights and the imposition of restrictions on the
rights to receive dividends. You also agree to comply with the provisions of the Companies Act that require you
to notify us if you become directly or indirectly interested, within the meaning of the Companies Act, in 3% or
more of our outstanding Series A ordinary shares or are aware that another person for whom you hold ADRs is
so interested. You must notify vs of your or their interest within two business days after becoming so interested
or so aware. In addition, the Companies Act requires that you notify us if your or their interest changes by at
least 1% of our outstanding Series A ordinary shares.

Amendment and Termination

We may agree with The Bank of New York to amend the agreement and the ADSs without your consent for
any reason. If the amendment adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other governmental charges
or administrative expenses of The Bank of New York, or prejudices an important right of ADS holders, it will
only become effective thirty days after The Bank of New York naotifies you of the amendment. At the time an
amendment becomes effective, you are considered, by continuing to hold your ADR, to agree to the amendment
and to be bound by the ADR and the agreement as amended.

The Bank of New York will terminate the agreement if we ask it to do so. The Bank of New York may aiso
terminate the agreement if The Bank of New York has told us that it would like to resign and we have not
appointed a new depositary bank within 90 days. In both cases, The Bank of New York must notify you at least
90 days before termination.
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After termination, The Bank of New York and its agents will be required 1o do only the following under the
agreement:

*  collect dividends and distributions on the deposited securities;
*  sell Aghts offered to you; and _
*  deliver Series A ordinary shares and other deposited securities upon cancellation of ADSs.

Any time after one year after termination, The Bank of New York will, if practicable, sell any remaining
deposited securities by public or private sale. After that, The Bank of New York will hold the proceeds of the
sale, as well as any other cash it is holding under the agreement for the pro raia benefit of the ADS holders that
have not surrendered their ADSs. It will not invest the money and will have no liability for interest. The Bank of
New York’s only obligations will be to account for the proceeds of the sale and other cash. After termination our
only obligations will be with respect 10 indemnification and to pay fees and expenses of The Bank of New York.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability to ADS Holders

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of The Bank of New York, and
it limits our liability and the liability of The Bank of New York. We and The Bank of New York:

*  are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without negligence
or bad faith;

*  are not liable if either of us is prevented or delayed by law or circumstances beyond our control from
performing our obligations under the deposit agreement;

*  are not liable if either exercises discretion permitted under the deposit agreement;

*+  have no obligation to become involved in a lawsuit or other proceeding related to the ADRs or the
deposit agreement on your behalf or on behalf of any other party; and

* may rely upon any documents we believe in good faith to be genuine and 1o have been signed or
presented by the proper party.

In the deposit agreement, we and The Bank of New York agree 1o indemnify each other under specified
circumstances,

Requirements for Depositary Actions

Before The Bank of New York will issue or register transfer of an ADS, make 2 distribution on an ADS, or
withdrawal of Series A ordinary shares, The Bank of New York may tequire:

*  paymeni of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmenital charges and transfer or registration fees
charged by third parties for the transfer of any Series A ordinary shares or other deposited securities;

*  production of satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or other information
it deems necessary; and

*  compliance with laws or governmental regulations relating to ADSs or the withdrawal of deposited
securities and any such reasonable regulations, if any, The Bank of New York may establish, from time
to time, consistent with the agreement, including presentation of transfer documents,

The Bank of New York may refuse to deliver, transfer, or register transfers of ADSs generally when our
books or The Bank of New York’s books are closed, or at any time if The Bank of New York or we think it
advisable to do so.
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You have the right to cancel your ADSs and withdraw the underlying Series A ordinary shares at any time
except:

*  when temporary delays arise because: we or The Bank of New York have closed our transfer books; in
connection with voting at a shareholders” meeting; or we are paying a dividend on the Series A
ordinary shares;

*  when you or other ADS holders seeking to withdraw Series A ordinary shares owe money to pay fees,
taxes and similar charges; or

*  when it is necessary to prohibit withdrawals in order to comply with any laws or governmental
regulations that apply to ADSs or to the withdrawal of Sedes A ordinary shares or other deposited
securities.

This right of withdrawal may not be limited by any other provision of the deposit agreement.

Pre-Release of ADSs

Subject to the provisions of the deposit agreement, The Bank of New York may issue ADSs before deposit
of the undertying Series A ordinary shares. This is called a pre-release of ADSs. The Bank of New York may
also deliver Series A ordinary shares prior to the receipt and cancellation of pre-released ADSs even if the ADSs
are cancelled before the pre-release transaction has been closed out. A pre-release is closed out as soon as the
underlying Series A ordinary shares are delivered to The Bank of New York. The Bank of New York may receive
ADSs instead of Series A ordinary shares to close out a pre-release. The Bank of New York may pre-release
ADSs only under the following conditions: '

(1) before or at the time of the pre-release, the person to whom the pre-release is being made must
represent to The Bank of New York in writing that it or its customer, as the case may be,

(a) owns the Series A ordinary shares or ADSs to be remitted,

(0) will assign all beneficial rights, title and interest in the ADSs or Series A ordinary shares to The
Bank of New York in its capacity as the depositary and for the benefit of the holders of the ADSs
and

(cy will not take any action with respect to the ADSs or Series A ordinary shares that is inconsistent
with the assignment of beneficial ownership (including, without the consent of The Bank of New
York, disposing of the ADSs or Series A ordinary shares) other than in satisfaction of the pre-
release;

(2) the pre-release must be fully collateralized with cash or collateral that The Bank of New York considers
appropriate; and

(3) The Bank of New York must be able to close out the pre-release on not more than five business days’
notice.

The pre-release will be subject to whatever indemnities and credit regulations that The Bank of New York
considers appropriate. In addition, The Bank of New York will limit the number of ADSs that may be outstanding
al any time as a result of pre-release.

Notices and Reports

On or before the date of giving by us of notice to its shareholders, by publication or otherwise, of any
meeting of holders of Series A ordinary shares or other deposited securities, or of any adjourned meeting of such
holders, or of the taking of any action in respect of any cash or other distributions or the offering of any rights in
respect of the deposited securities, we agree to transmit to The Bank of New York and the Custodian a copy of
the notice thereof in the form given to holders of Seres A ordinary shares or other deposited securities. The
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Bank of New York will, at our expense, arrange for the prompt transmittal by the Custodian to The Bank of
New York of such notices and any other reponts and communications which are made genetally available by us
to holders of its Series A ordinary shares, and arrange for the mailing of copies thereof 10 all ADR holders or, at
our request and expense, make such notices, reports and other communications available to ADR holders on a
basis similar to that for holders of Series A ordinary shares or other deposited securities or on such other basis
as we may advise The Bank of New York may be required by any applicable law or regulation,

The Bank of New York will make available for inspection by ADR helders at its principal executive office,
any repors and communications received from us which are both (i) received by The Bank of New York as the
holder of the deposited securities, and (ii) made generally available to the holders of such deposited securities
by us.

Inspection of Transfer Books

The Bank of New York shall keep books in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, for the
registration and transfer of ADRs which at all reasonable times shall be open for inspection by the ADR holders
and us, provided that such inspection shall not, to The Bank of New York’s knowledge, be for the purpose of
communicating with ADR holders in the interest of a business or object other than our business or a matter
related to the deposit agreement or ADRs. The Bank of New York may close the books, at any time or from
time to time, when deemed expedient by it in connection with the performance of its duties under the deposit
agreement or at our request.

Book-Entry Qwnership

We and The Bank of New York have made application to DTC for acceptance of the ADSs in DTC"s book-
entry setllement system. Upon acceptance of such application, a single global ADR evidencing all the ADSs will
be issued to DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC. Thereafter, Cede & Co. will
be the holder of record of all the ADSs. Accordingly, each beneficial owner of an interest in the global ADR
must rely upon the procedures of DTC and the institutions having accounts with DTC (“DTC Participants”) to
exercise or be entitled to any rights of a holder of an ADR. So long as any ADSs are traded through DTCs
book-entry settlement system, or unless otherwise required by law, ownership of beneficial interests in the global
ADR will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by
(1) DTC or its nominee with respect to DTC Participanis’ interests or (2) DTC Participants, Where the context
requires, the term ADR includes the globai ADR.

If such application is not accepted, or if DTC subsequently ceases to make its book-entry settlement system
available for the ADSs, we will be required under the deposit agreement to consult with The Bank of New York
regarding other arrangements for book-entry settlement, Only in the event that it is impracticable without undue
effort or expense to have or continue to have the ADSs available in book-entry form shail we instruct The Bank
of New York to make ADRs available in physical, certificated form.

Information Concerning DTC
With respect to DTC, we understand thar:

DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking
organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing
agency” registered pursvant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold
securities of DTC Participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions among its Participants
in such securities through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of DTC Participants, thereby eliminating
the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC Participants include securities brokers and dealers
(including firms that may act as underwriters of the ADSs offered hereby), banks, trust companies, clearing
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corporations and certain other organizations, some of whom (and/or their representatives) own DTC. Access o
the DT'C book-entry system is also available o others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that
clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC Participant, either directly or indirectly.

Because DTC can only act on behalf of DTC Participants, who in tum act on behalf of a indirect DTC
Participants and certain banks, the ability of an owner of a book-entry ADS 1o pledge such ADS to persons or
entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such ADS may be
limited by the lack of a definitive certificate for such ADS. The laws of some states require that certain persons
take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Consequently, the ability to transfer book-entry ADSs to
such persons may be limited. In addition, beneficial owners of book-entry ADSs through the DTC system will
receive distributions attributable to the shares or deposited securities only through DTC Participants.

The foilowing information has been provided by DTC:

DTC Management is aware that some computer applications, systems, and the like for processing data that
are dependent upon calendar dates, including dates before, on, and after January 1, 2000, may encounter ““Year
2000 problems."” DTC has informed its participants and other members of the financial community that it has
developed and is implementing a program so thar its Systems, as the same relate to the timely payment of
distributions (including principal and income payments) to holders, book-entry deliveries and settlement of trades
within DTC, continue to function appropriately. This program includes a technical assessment and a remediation
plan, each of which is complete. Additionally, DTC’s plan includes a testing phase, which is expected to be
completed within appropriate time frames.

However, DTC's ability to perform propedy its services is also dependent upon other parties, including but
not limited to issuers and their agents, as well as third party vendors from whom DTC licenses software and
hardware, and third party vendors on whom DTC relies for information or the provision of services, including
telecommunication and electrical utility service providers, among others. DTC has informed the industry that it
is contacting (and will continue to contact) third party vendors from whom DTC acquires services to: (a) impress
upon them the importance of such services being Year 2000 compliant and (b) determine the extent of their
efforts for Year 2000 remediation (and, as appropriate, testing) of their services. In addition, DTC is the process
of developing such contingency plans as it deems appropriate.

According to DTC, the foregoing information with respect to DTC has been provided to the industry for
informational purposes only and is not intended to serve as a representalion, warranty or contract modification of
any kind.
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CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following discussion represents the opinion of Allen & Overy, UK. counsel to NDS, as to UK. tax
law, the opinion of Squadron, Ellenoff, Plesent & Sheinfeld, LLP, U.S. counsel to NDS, as to U.S. tax law and
the opinion of Loeff Claeys Verbeke as to Belgian tax law. The discussion summarizes material UK. tax
consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of ordinary shares and shares represented by ADSs
evidenced by ADRs by UK. resident and nor-resident Holders, material U.S, Federal income tax consequences
of such acquisition, ownership and disposition by a U.S. Holder and material Bel gian 1ax consequences of such
acquisition, ownership and disposition of ordinary shares and shares represented by ADSs evidenced by ADRs.
As used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” shall mean a beneficial owner of ordinary shares or ADSs that is, for
U.S. federal income tax purposes: (i) a citizen or resident of the U.S., (i) a domestic corporation, (jii} a domestic
partnership, (iv) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source,
(v) a trust if a court within the U.S. is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust
and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of that trust. However, in the
case of a partnership, estate or trust, the term “U.S. Holder” shall only include the panmership, estate or trust to
the extent its income is taxed to the entity. or its partners or beneficiaries on a net income basis by the U.S. This
summary is based upon current UK., U.S. and Belgian law, and U K. Inland Revenue and U.S. Internal Revenye
Service and Belgian Tax Authority practice, as at the date of this prospectus, and in relation to the U.S. federal
tax consequences (i) the U.K.-United States Income Tax Convention in effect as at the date of this prospectus
(the “Treaty") and (ii) in part upon representations of the Depositary. This summary assumes that each obligation
provided for in or otherwise contemplated by the Deposit Agreement and any related agreement will be
performed in accordance with their respective terms. '

The part of this summary which deals with the U.S, federal tax consequences relates to the material aspects
of the taxation position of U.S. Holders and does not address the tax consequences to a U.S. Holder (i) that is
resident (or, in the case of an individual, ordinarily resident) in the UK. for UK. tax purposes, (ii) whose holding
of ordinary shares or ADSs is effectively connected with a permanent establishment in the U.K. through which
such U.S. Holder carries on business activities or, in the case of an individual who performs independent personal
services, with a fixed base situated therein, or (jii) that is a corporation which alone or together with one or more
associated companies, controls directly or indirectly, 10% or more of NDS. Prospective purchasers who are in
doubt as to their tax position, including, if relevant, the consequences under foreign, 1J.S. state and local, and
other laws, of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of shares or ADSs should consult their own advisors.

U.S. Holders of ADSs will be treated as owners of the ordinary shares underlying the ADSs and deposited
with the Custodian of the Depositary. Accordingly, except as noted, the U.S. federal and U.K. tax consequences
discussed below apply equally to U.S. Holders of ADSs and shares,

Holders of ADSs should, in principle, be treated for Belgian tax purposes as owners of the ordinary shares
underlying the ADSs and deposited with the Custodian of the Depositary. However, there is no clear tax
legislation confirming this interpretation. The summary of the Belgian tax position below is based on the
assumption that Holders of ADSs will be treated for Belgian tax purposes as owners of underlying ordinary
shares. '

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE ORDINARY SHARES OR ADSs ARE ADVISED TO
CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE US. BELGIAN, UK. OR OTHER TAX
CONSEQUENCES IN THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND
DISPOSITION OF THE ORDINARY SHARES OR ADSs, INCLUDING THE EFFECT CF ANY STATE OR
LOCAL TAX LAWS,
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U.K. Considerations
UK. Taxation

The following statements are intended only as a summary of current UK. tax legislation and published
practice of the Inland Revenue as it applies to certain categories of Holders. They relate to persons who hold
ordinary shares and shares represented by ADSs evidenced by ADRs as capital investments and who are the
beneficial owners of such ordinary shares and shares represented by ADSs evidenced by ADRs. They may not
apply to cenain classes of Holders, such as dealers in securities. The statements are a general guide, and should
be treated with appropriate caution. Any prospective investor who is in any doubt as to his tax position, or who
is subject to tax in any -jurisdiction other than the UK. is strongly recommended to consult his professional
advisers immediately. Prospective investors who are subject to tax in the U.S. should also refer to the section
headed “U.S. Taxation” below.

1. Non-resident Holders (including U.S. residents)

(i) Dividends

Whether Holders who are resident for tax purposes in countries other than the UK. are entitled to a payment
from the Inland Revenue of a proportion of the tax credit in respect of any dividends received depends in general
upon the provisions of any double taxation convention which exists between such countries and the UK.,
Individual Holders who are resident for tax purposes in countries other than the UK. but who are (inter alia)
Commonwealth citizens, nationals of any State which is a member of the European Economic Area or residents
of the Isle of Man or the Channel Islands will be entitled 10 a tax credit in relation to dividend payments which
they will be entitled to offset against their total UK. income tax liability. The right of such Holders and of non-
resident Holders to claim repayment of the tax credit from the Inland Revenue will depend on the existence and
terms of any double taxation treaties between the U.K. and the territory in which they are resident. However, the
amount of the tax credit described at 2(i)(b) below will mean that the amount reclaimable under any double tax
treaty will in most cases be nil. In particular, the amount of that tax credit reclaimable by a Holder resident in
the U.S. and who is entitled to claim payment of part of that tax credit ynder the Treaty has been reduced to a
negligible amount or to nil depending on the categorization of the Holder for purposes of that Treaty. It should
also be noted that the United States and the United Kingdom have announced their intenticn to re-negotiate the
terms of that Treaty,

(ii) Taxation of Chargeable Gains

A Hoider who is not resident and not ordinarily resident for tax purposes in the UK. will not normally be
liable for U.K. tax on chargeable gains realized on the disposal of his ordinary shares or ADSs unless at the time
of the disposal such Holder carries on a trade, profession or vocation in the UK. through a branch or agency and
such ordinary shares or ADSs are used or held or have been acquired for use by or for the purposes of such
trade, profession or vocation or branch or agency.

(iii) Inheritance Tax
(a) Ordinary shares and ADSs will be assets sitvated in the UK. for the purposes of U.K. inheritance tax.
A gift of such assets by, or the death of, an individual holding such assets may (subject to cenain exemptions
and reliefs) give rise to a liability to U.K. inheritance tax. Such a charge may arise even if the Holder is neither
domiciled in the UK. nor deemed to be domiciled there for UK. inheritance tax purposes under special rules
relating to long residence or previous domicile. For inheritance tax purposes, a transfer of assets at less than full
market value may be treated as a gift. Special rules apply 1o gifts where the donor reserves or retains some

benefit. Special inheritance tax rules also apply to ordinary shares and ADSs held by close companies or by
trustees of settlements bringing them within the charge to inheritance tax.

(b) An individual who is domiciled in the U.S. for the purposes of the U.K./United States Estate and Gift
Tax Convention (the “Estate Tax Treaty”) and who is not a national of the UK. for the purposes of the Estate
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Tax Treaty will generally not be subject 10 UK. inheritance tax in respect of the ordinary shares or ADSs on the
individual's death or on a gift of the ordinary shares or ADSs during the individual’s lifetime, provided that any
applicable U.S. federal gift or estate tax liability is paid, unless the o inary shares or ADSs are part of the
business property of a permanent establishment of an enterprise of the individual in the UK. or pertain to a fixed
base in the U.K. of the individual used for the performance of independent personal services. Where the ordinary
shares or ADSs have been placed in trust by a settlor who, at the time of settlement, was domiciled in the U1.S,
for the purposes of the Estate Tax Treaty and not a national of the U.K. for the purposes of the Estate Tax Treaty,
the ordinary shares or ADSs will generally not be subject to U.K. inheritance tax (provided that the ordinary
shares or ADSs are not part of the business property of a permanent establishment in the U.K. and do not pertain
to a fixed base in the U.K. as mentioned above). In the exceptional case where the ordinary shares or ADSs are
subject both to U.K. inheritance tax and to U.S. federal gift or estate tax, the Estate Tax Treaty generally provides
for the tax paid in the U.K. to be credited against tax paid in the U.S. or for tax paid in the U.S. t0 be credited
against tax payable in the UK. based on priority rules set out in the Estate Tax Treary.

2. UK. Resident Holders

(i) Dividends

The following statements relate only to the UK. tax treatment, under current U.K. tax legislation and
published practice of the Inland Revenue, of dividends paid on ordinary shares and ADSs to persons who are
resident in the UK. for UK. tax purposes. Subject to the above, the tax treatment of dividends paid by the
Company should be as follows:

(a) NDS will not be required to withhold tax from dividend payments it makes.

(b) An individual Holder who is resident for tax purposes in the UK. will generally be entitied to a tax
credit in respect of any dividend received by him from NDS. The tax credit will be equal to one-ninth (11.11%)
of the cash dividend (or 10% of the gross dividend). The tax credit will be available to set against the Holder’s
liability (if any) to U.K. income tax on the gross dividend, as described in the following paragraph.

(¢) Dividends received by a basic or lower rate taxpayer will be taxed at a reduced rate of 10% of the Bross
dividend. Therefore, the tax credit associated with a dividend received by a basic or lower rate taxpayer will
satisfy that individual’s income tax liability in respect of the dividend. Dividends received by a higher rate
taxpayer will be taxed at a rate of 32.5%. The effect of this will be that after taking into account the 10% tax
credit a higher rate taxpayer will be required to pay additional income tax in respect of the dividend, in an amoun
equal to 25% of the cash dividend. However, save with very limited exceptions, it will not be possible for an
individual resident for tax purposes in the UK. to claim payment of any part of the tax credit from the Inland
Revenue.

(d) A Holder which is a company resident for tax purposes in the U.K. and which holds the ordinary shares
or ADSs as a capital investment will not normally be liable to corporation tax on any dividend received.

(e) Tax exempt pension funds will not be entitled to reclaim from the Inland Revenue tax credits attaching
to dividend payments made by NDS. Further, no such repayment may be reclaimed by, inter alia, any tax exempt
charities, heritage bodies and scientific research organizations. However, such charities, heritage bodies and
scientific research organizations (but not pension funds) will, as a result of the withdrawal of the right of such
bodies to reclaim tax credits in relation to dividends paid on or after 6 April 1999, be entitled to limited
compensation for the loss of that right in relation to any dividends paid on or after 6 April 1999 but before 6
April 2004,

(i) Taxation of Chargeable Gains

{a) A disposal or deemed disposal of ordinary shares or ADSs by a Holder who is resident or ordinarily
resident in the UK. for UK, tax purposes or by a Holder who carries on a trade, profession or vocation in the
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UK. through a branch or agency where such ordinary shares or ADSs are used or held or have been acquired for 7

use by or for the purposes of such trade, profession or vocation or branch or agency, may give rise to a chargeable
gain or allowable loss for the purposes of U.K. taxation of capital gains depending on the individual
circumstances of the Holder. An indexation allowance can be used for UK. corporation tax purposes to reduce
or eliminate a chargeable gain but not to decrease or increase an allowable loss. “Taper relief”” (which provides
relief from capital. gains tax according to the duration of ownership of the relevant asset i.e. the ordinary shares,
or ADSs) may be available 10 reduce any capital gains tax charge suffered by an investor which is disposing of
its ordinary shares but which is not subject to corporation tax (because it is not a “company” for the purposes of
the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988),

(b) If an individual Holder, who was resident or ordinarily resident in the UK. for some part of ar least
four of the immediately preceding seven tax years, becomes neither resident nor ordinarily resident in the UK.
on or after 17 March 1998, chargeable gains accruing to him on the disposal of ordinary shares while neither
resident nor ordinarily resident in the U.K. may, if he is neither resident nor ordinarily resident for less than five
complete tax years, be treated as accruing to him in the year of his return to the U.K. For this purpose, a “rax
year” begins on 6 April and ends on 5 April in the following calendar year. The effect of this is that such an
individual Holder may (subject to any available exemption or relief) be liabie to U.K. tax in respect of any such
chargeable gain,

(iil) Inheritance Tax

Ordinary shares and ADSs will be assets situated in the UK. for the purposes of UK. inheritance tax. A
gift of such assets by, or the death of, an individual holding such assets may (subject to certain exemptions and
reliefs) give rise to a liability to U.K. inheritance tax. For inheritance tax purposes, a transfer of assets at less
than full market value may be treated as a gift. Special rules apply to gifts where the donor reserves or retains
some benefit, Special inheritance tax rules also apply to ordinary shares and ADSs held by close companies or
by trustees of settlements bringing them within the charge to inheritance tax.

3. UK. Resident Holders and non-resident Holders

Stamp DutyiStamp Duty Reserve Tax

(a) Any conveyance or transfer on sale of the ordinary shares will usually be subject to stamp duty on the
instrument of transfer, generally at a rate of 0.5% of the amount or value of the consideration rounded up Gf
necessary) to the nearest multiple of £5. A charge to stamp duty reserve tax (“SDRT™) at the rate of 0.5% of the
amount or value of the consideration will arise in relation to ag agreement to transfer such ordinary shares.
However, where within 6 years of the date of the agreement (or, if the agreement is conditional, the date on
which it becomes unconditional) an instrument of transfer is executed pursuant to the agreement and stamp duty
is paid on that instrument, any liability to stamp duty reserve tax will be canceled and any such tax which has
been paid will be repaid.

(b) Stamp duty or SDRT charges at the rate of 1.5% of the amount or value of the consideration, or in
some circumstances, the vaiue of the ordinary shares, may arise on a transfer or issue of ordinary shares to the
Custodian of the Depositary or to certain persons providing a clearance system (or their nominees or agents) and
will be payable by the Depositary or such other persons, with the exception that NDS will pay any U.K. SDRT
and/or stamp duty arising as a. result of the deposit by NDS of ordinary shares with the Custodian of the
Depositary in connection with this offering.

(c} In accordance with the terms of the Deposit Agreement, any tax or duty payable by the Depositary or
the Custodian of the Depositary on any subsequent deposit of ordinary shares will be charged by the Depositary
1o the Holder of the ADS or any deposited security represented by the ADS.

(d) No UK. stamp duty will be payable on the acquisition or transfer of an ADS or beneficial ownership of
an ADS, provided that the ADS and any separate instrument of transfer or written agreement to transfer remains
at all times outside the UK., and provided further that any instrument of transfer or written agreement to is not
executed in the UK. An agreement to transfer ADSs will not give rise to a liability for SDRT,
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{e) Any transfer for value of the underlying ordinary shares represented by ADSs (which will exclude a
transfer from the Custodian of the Depositary or the Depositary to an ADS holder on a cancellation of the ADSs),
may give rise to a liability to U.K. stamp duty. The amount of UK. stamp duty payable is generally calculated at
the rate of 0.5% of the amount or value of the consideration for the transfer of the ordinary shares rounded up (if
necessary) to the nearest multiple of £5. However, on a transfer from the Custodian of the Depositary to a U.S.
Holder or registered Holder of an ADS upon cancellation of the ADS only a fixed UK. stamp duty of £5 per
instrument of transfer will be payable.

(f) it should be noted that centain categories of person are not liable to stamp duty or SDRT and that others
may be liable at a higher rate or may, although not primarily liable for SDRT, be required to notify and account
for it under the Stamp Duty Reserve Tax Regulations 1986.

U.S. Taxation
Taxation of Dividends

Distributions made with respect to ADSs and the ordinary shares (including the one ninth UK. tax credit,
as described below) will constitute dividends for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent paid out of
current or accumulated eamings and profits of the Company as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Distributions in excess of current and accumulated eamnings and profits of NDS will be treated as a return of
capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the ADSs which will not be subject to tax, and
thereafter as a gain from the sale or exchange of a capital asset. Dividends paid by NDS generally will be treated
as foreign source dividend income and will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to
corporate shareholders under the U.S, Internal Revenue Code,

The amount of any distribution will generally equal the fair market value in U.S. dollars of the pounds
sterling (or other foreign currency) or other property received on the date of payment, which in the case of a
distribution paid in pounds stering (or other foreign currency) will be based on the exchange rate on such date.
A U.3. Holder will have a basis in any pounds sterling (or other foreign currency) distributed, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, equal to the dollar value of pounds sterling (or other foreign currency) on the date of
payment. Any gain or loss recognized upon a subsequent disposition of pounds sterling (or other foreign
currency) will generally be ordinary income or loss and will generally be U.S. source gain or less for foreign tax
credit purposes.

Under the Treaty, the UK. tax credit in respect of dividends (one ninth of the cash dividend) is treated as
an additional distribution to U.S. Holders. U.S. Holders will not receive a cash payment for UK. tax credit
because the U.K. tax credit will, in effect, be reduced to zero by UK. withholding tax as provided in the Treaty.
Subject to certain complex limitations, the U.K. withholding tax will be treated for U.S. tax purposes as a foreign
tax that may be claimed as a foreign tax credit against the U.S. federal income tax liability of the U.S. Holder,
Alternatively, a U.S. Holder may claim the foreign tax paid as a deduction. A deduction does not reduce U.S, tax
on a dollar basis like a credit. The deduction, however, is not subject to the limitations described above.

Taxation of Capital Gains

A U.S. Holder will, upon the sale or exchange of an ADS or an ordinary share, recognize a gain or a loss
for U.S. federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realized upon
such sale or exchange and the U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the ADS or ordinary share. Such gain or loss
will be a capital gain or loss if the ADS or ordinary share was a capital asset in the hands of the U.S. Holder and
will be long-term capital gain or loss if the ADS or ordinary share was held by the U.S. Holder for more than
one year immediately prior to such sale or exchange. Under most circumstances, gain or loss from the sale or
exchange of ADSs or ordinary shares by the U.S. Holder will be treated as U.S. source gain or loss for foreign
tax credit purposes.
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Because U.S. Holders of ADSs will be treated as the owners of the ordinary shares for U.S. federal income
lax purposes, &s discussed above, the surrender of ADSs in exchange for ordinary shares will not be a taxable
event for the purposes of U.S, federal income tax, Accordingly, U.S. Holders will not recognize any gain or loss
upon such surrender.

Belgian Tax Considerations
Taxation of dividends

Dividends received by Belgian resident individuals who acquire and hold ordinary shares (or ADSs) as
private investments will be subject to the Belgian withholding tax at the rate of (presently) 25%, computed on
the dividend received, where the dividend is paid through a paying agent established in Belgium. The Company
has irrevocably waived the benefit of the reduced rate of 15% — applicable to newly issued shares if certaip
conditions are met — in order to ensure the liquidity of the ordinary shares or ADSs. This withholding tax
constitutes the final Belgian income tax.

Where the dividend is not paid through such, paying agent, no withholding tax will be due in Belgium, but
the dividend must be declared in the annual tax return and the net amount received will be taxed at a rate of
(presently) 25% increased by the municipal surcharge.

For Belgian resident individual investors who acquire the ordinary shares (or ADSs) for professional
purposes, the Belgian withholding tax does not fully discharge their tax kability. Dividends received must be
declared by the taxpayer and will be taxed at the progressive tax rates of personal income tax. Withholding tax
retained at source may, in principle, be off-set against personal income tax (and is reimbursed to the extent that
1t exceeds the actual tax payable), provided that the taxpayer has full ownership of the shares at the time of
payment or attribution of the dividends and provided that the dividend distribution does not give rise to a
reduction in value of, or a capital loss on, the shares.

For Belgian legal entities subject o Belgian income tax on legal entities (such as non-profit organisations),
Belgian withholding tax at the rate of (presently) 25% will be due on the dividend where the dividend is paid
through a paying agent established in Belgium. This withholding tax constitutes the final Belgian income (ax.

Where the dividend is not paid through such, a paying agent, such Belgian legal entities must pay the
Belgian withholding tax themselves 10 the Belgian Treasury. This withholding tax constitutes the final Belgian
income tax. '

For Belgian resident companies and for companies with fiscal residence outside Belgium holding ordinary
shares (or ADSs) through a permanen: establishment or a fixed base in Belgium, the dividend will be taxed at
the normal income tax rate in Belgium for companies (presently 40.17%). Where the corporate shareholder hoids
a participation of at least 5% or with an acquisition value of at least BEF SO million, 95% of the dividend
received will be deductible (“participation exemption™), provided that the distributing Company falls outside
the scope of Article 203. §1 of the Beigian Income Tax Code 1992 (hereinafter referred 10 as “BITC/92""), which
should be the case as the distributing company will be subject to a normal taxation regime in the UK.

This participation exempticn also applies, even if the quantitative criteria are not fulfilled, if the corporate
shareholder is identified as:

® A financial institution mentioned in Article 56, §t of the BITC/92;
®  An insurance company mentioned in Article 56, §2, 2, h of the BITC/92;
® A securities firm mentioned in Article 47 of the Law of April 6, 1995; or

®  An investment company.
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Capital Gains Tax

Belgian resident individuals holding ordinary shares (or ADSs) as a private investment will nat, generally,
be liable for Belgian income tax on capital gains realized upon the sale, exchange, redemption or other transfer
of shares of NDS, unless the Belgian Tax Administration demonstrates that the capital gain is the result of
speculation.

Belgian resident individuals holding ordinary shares (or ADSs) for professional purposes are taxable at the
ordinary progressive income tax rates for business income on any capital gains realized on the disposal of such
shares,

Belgian legal entitles subject to the Belgian income tax on legal entities are not, generally, liable for Belgian
income tax on capital gains realized upon the sale, exchange, redemption or other transfer of shares of NDS.

Belgian resident companies and companies with fiscal residence outside Belgium holding shares of NDS
through a permanent establishment or a fixed base in Belgium, are generally not liable for Belgian income tax
on capital gains realized upon the sale, exchange, redemption or other transfer of shares of NDS, provided that
the distributing company falls outside the scope of Article 203, §1 of BITC/92, which should be the case since
the distributing company will be subject to a normal taxation regime in the UK.

Capital losses realized upon the sale, exchange, redemption or other transfer of shares of NDS are generally,
not tax deductible. '

A non-resident shareholder who does not hold the shares through a permanent establishment or fixed base
in Belgium, will not be subject to any Belgian income tax on capital gains realized upon the sale, exchange,
redemption or other transfer of shares of NDS.

Belgian tax on stock market transactions

Investors purchasing or selling shares through a Bel gian professional intermediary are subject to the tax on
stock market transactions (taxe sur opérations de bourse “ —'TOB”) in the amount of 0.17% (but limited to
BEF 10,000 per transaction and per party) on the purchase and the sale in Belgium of existing shares of a
company. The delivery of newly issued shares, through a Belgian professional intermediary, is subject to this tax
in the amount of 0.35% (but limited to BEF 10,000 per order), ' _

The tax is not due by:

®  Professional intermediaries mentioned in article 2 of the Law of 6 April, 1995 acting for their own
account;

®  Insurance companies mentioned in article 2, §1 of the Law of 9 July, 1975 acting for their own account;
Pension funds mentioned in article 2. §3 6° of the Law of 9 July, 1975 acting for their own account:

¢  Collective investment institutions mentioned in the Law of 4 December, 1990 acting for their own
account;

¢  Non-residents, acting for their own account, upon delivery of a cenificate of non-residence.

Belgian tax on the physical delivery of bearer securities

The physical delivery of bearer securities through an intermediary established in Belgium triggers a tax in
the amount of 0.2% on the value of the shares.

Since book-entry settlement is mandatory for all financial instruments traded on EASDAQ, physical
delivery triggering this tax should not occur.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Upon completion of the offering, we will have 51,001,000 ordinary shares outstanding, assuming no
exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option. Of these, 9,000,000 Series A ordinary shares will be freely
transferable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act unless they are held by affiliates
of NDS as that term is used under the Securities Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder such act. In
addition, up to 3,121,791 Seres A ordinary shares may be issued pursuant (o the exercise of outstanding options
under our share option schemes,

The Series B ordinary shares beneficially owned by News Corporation were purchased from NDS in
reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and may be restricted securities
within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

The ordinary shares beneficially owned by News Corporation and the shares issuable under our share option
schemes are eligible for sale in the U.S. public market subject to compliance with Rule 144 or Rule 701 under
the Securities Act, and may be sold outside the U.S. without such compliance pursuant to Regulation S under
the Securities Act. Any subsequent sale of a substantial number of ADSs by News Corporation in the public
market following this offering could adversely affect the market price of the ADSs and may make it more
difficult for us to sell our equity securities in the future at times and prices which we deem appropriate.

Rule 144

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, 2 person, or persons whose shares are aggregated, whose
shares were acquired from us or an affiliate at least two years prior to the date of sale, and an affiliate who has
beneficially owned our shares for at least two years, is entitled to sell, within any three-month period, a number
of ADSs (or Series A ordinary shares underlying such ADSs) that does not exceed the greater of:

(1) 1% of the then outstanding ordinary shares of NDS; or

(2) the average weekly trading volume in the ADSs on NASDAQ during the four calendar weeks
preceding such sale, subject to the availability of certain current public information about NDS, notice
requirements, and restrictions on the manner of sale set forth in Rule 144,

Rule 144(k)

A person, or persons whose shares are aggregated, who is not deemed an affiliate of NDS and who has not
been an affiliate of NDS at any time during the 90 days preceding any sales, and who has beneficially owned
shares for at least three years, is entitled to sell such ADSs and ordinary shares under Rule 144(k) without regard
to the volume limitations and other restrictions described above.

Lock-Up Arrangements

NDS has agreed in the Underwriting Agreement and News Corporation and each of NDS’ directors and
executive officers has agreed not to offer, issue, sell, contract to sell or grant any option to purchase or otherwise
dispose of, direcly or indirectly, except as provided in such lock-up arrangements, any ordinary shares, ADSs or
any securities of NDS substantially similar to the ordinary shares or ADSs, including but not limited to any
securities that are convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for, or that represent the right to receive,
ordinary shares, ADSs, or any substantially similar securities for a period of 180 days after the effective date of
the offering, in each case, without the prior written consent of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. See
“Underwriting.”

Prior to the offering, there has been no public market for the Series A ordinary shares or the ADSs and no
predictions can be made of the effect, if any, that sales or the availability of Series A ordinary shares or ADSs
for sale will have on the market price prevai ing from time to time, Nevertheless, sales of a substantial number
of ADSs in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect the prevailing
market prices of the ADSs,

95

CASE NO. SA CV03-950 DOC(JTL)

ESC0179884




UNDERWRITERS

Morgan Staniey Dean Witter is acting as global coordinator on behalf of the various underwriters named
below.

Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in an underwriting agreement dated the date of this
prospectus, the U.S. underwriters named below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, Allen &
Company Incorporated and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated are acting as the U.S,

representatives, and the international underwriters named below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. International

Limited, Allen & Company Incorporated and Mermill Lynch International are acting as international
representatives, have severally agreed 1o purchase from us, and we have agreed to sell to them, an aggregate of
9,000,000 ADSs. The number of ADSs that each underwriter has agreed to purchase is set forth opposite its
name below.

Name ADSs

U.S. Underwriters:
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated . .................ooovueiie
Allen & Company Incorporated . ..............oovuininee

Incotporated . . .. .. ...

Subtotal ...
International Underwriters:

Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited . .................. et

Allen & Company INCorporated ..............ouuniruneenensnsnn .

Mermill Lynch Intemnational . ........ ... o

Subtotal ... ..

The U.S. underwriters and the international underwriters, and the U.S, representatives and the intemnational
representatives, are collectively referred to as the “‘underwriters” and the “representatives”, respectively. The
underwriters are offering the ADSs subject to their acceptance of the ADSs from us and subject to prior sale.
The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the several underwriters to pay for and accept
delivery of the ADSs offered by this prospectus are subject to the approval of centain legal matters by their
counsel and to certain other conditions, The underwriters are obligated to take and pay for all of the ADSs offered
by this prospectus if any such ADSs are taken. However, the underwriters are not required to take or pay for the
ADSs covered by the underwriters’ over-allotment option described below.

In the agreement between U.S. and international underwriters, sales may be made between U.S. underwriters
and international underwriters of any number of ADSs as may be mutually agreed. The per ADS price of any
ADSs sold by the underwriters is the public offering price listed on the cover page of this prospectus, in United
States dollars, less an amount not greater than the per ADS amount of the concession to dealers described below.

The underwriters initially propose to offer part of the ADSs directly to the public at the public offering price
listed on the cover page of this prospectus and part to certain dealers at a price that represents a concession not
in excess of § per ADS under the public offering price. Any underwriter may allow, and such dealers
may reallow, a concession not in excess of § per ADS to other underwriters or to some dealers. After the
initial offering of the ADSs, the offering price and other selling terms may from time to time be varied by the
representatives.

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated expects to deliver the ADSs to purchasers against payment on
. 1999,
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We have granted 1o the U.S. underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days from the date of this prospectus,
to purchase up 1o an aggregate of 1,350,000 additional ADSs at the public offering price listed on the cover page
of this prospectus, less underwriting discounts and commissions. The U.S. underwriters may exercise this option
solely for the purpose of covering over allotments, if any, made in connection with the offering of the ADSs
offered by this prospectus. To the extent the option is exercised, each U.S, underwriter will become cbligated,
subject to some conditions, to purchase about the same percentage of the additional ADSs as the number listed
next to the U.S. underwriter's name in the preceding table bears to the total number of ADSs listed next to the
names of all U.S. underwriters in the preceding table. If the U.S. underwriters’ option is exercised in full, the
total price to the public would be § » the total underwriters’ discounts and commissions would be $
and the total proceeds to us would be §

The underwriters have informed us that they do not intend sales to discretionary accounts to exceed five
percent of the total number of shares of common stock offered by them.

The ADSs have been approved for quotation, subject to cfficial notice of issuance, on the Nasdaq National
Market under the symbol “NNDS™ and on the European Association of Securities Dealers’ Automated
Quotation.

Pursuant to the agreement between U.S. and international underwriters, each intemnational underwriter has
represented and agreed that:

® it has not offered or sold and, prior to the date six months after the closing of the sale of the ADSs to
the international underwriters, will not offer or sell, any ADSs to persons in the U.K. except to persons
whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing, or disposing of investments
(as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances that have not
resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the U.K. within the meaning of the Public Offers
of Securities Regulations 1995 or as otherwise permitted by those Regulations;

® it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services Act 1986 with
respect to anything done by it in relation to the Series A ordinary shares in, from or otherwise involving
the U.K.; and

® it has only issued or passed on and will only issue or pass on in the U.X. any document received by it
in connection with the offering of the Series A ordinary shares to a person who is of a kind described
in Article 11(3) of the Financial Services Act 1986 (Investment Advertisements) (Exemptions) Order
1996, as amended, or is a person to whom such document may otherwise be lawfully issued or
passed on.

We, each of our directors and executive officers and News Corporation have agreed that, without consent of
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated on behaif of the underwriters, none of us will, directly or indirectly, during
the period ending 180 days after the date of this prospectus:

& offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or
contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend or otherwise transfer or dispose of,
directly or indirectly, any ordinary shares, ADSs or any securities convertible into or exercisable or
exchangeable for ordinary shares or ADSs; or

®  enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in par, any of the
economic consequences of ownership of the ordinary shares or ADSs,

whether any transaction described above is to be settled by delivery of ordinary shares or such other securities,
in cash or otherwise,

The restrictions described in this paragraph do not apply in certain circumstances, including the sale of the
ADSs to the underwriters in this offering:
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In order to facilitate the offering of the ADSs, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize,
maintain or otherwise affect the price of the ADSs. Specifically, the underwriters may over-allot in connection
with the offering, creating a shont position in the ADSs for their own account. In addition, to cover over-
allotments or to stabilize the price of the ADSs, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, ADSs in the open
market. Finally, the underwriting syndicate may reclaim selling concessions allowed to an underwriter or a dealer
for distributing the ADSs in the offering, if the syndicate repurchases previously distributed ADSs in transactions
to cover syndicate short positions, in stabilization transactions or otherwise. Any of these activities may stabilize
or maintain the market price of the ADSs above independent market levels. The underwriters are not required to
engage in these activities, and may end any of these activities at any time.

The underwriters and we have agreed to indemnify each other against certain liabilities, including liabilities
under the Securities Act,

At our request, the underwriters have reserved for sale, at the jnitial offering price, up to 500,000 ADSs
offered hereby for our directors, officers and employees and cenain other persons. The number of ADSs available
for sale to the general public will be reduced to the extent such persons purchase such reserved shares. Any
reserved shares which are not so purchased wil] be offered by the underwriters to the general public on the same
basis as the other shares offered by this prospectus.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for the ADSs. The initial public offering price will be
determined by negotiations between the U.S. representatives and us. Among the factors to be considered in
determining the initial public offering price will be our future prospects and our industry in general, as well as
our sales, earnings and other financial operating information in recent periods, and the price-earnings ratios,
price-sales ratios, market prices of securities and other financial and operating information of companies engaged
in activities similar to ours. The estimated initiai public offering price range set forth on the cover page of this
preliminary prospectus is subject to change as a result of market conditions and other factors.

Cernain of the underwriters have from time to time provided investment banking financial advisory services
to News Corporation, us and our associated entities, for which they have received customary compensation, and
may continue to do so in the future. Stantey S. Shuman, an Executive Vice President and Managing Director of
Allen & Company Incorporated, is a director of News Corporation.
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VALIDITY OF SECURITIES

The validity of the ordinary shares underlying the ADSs we are offering will be passed upon for us by Allen
& Overy, London, England, English solicitors. The validity of the ADSs will be passed upon by Squadron,
Ellenoff, Plesent & Sheinfeld, LLP, New York, New York, U.S. counsel to NDS, and by Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom LLP, New York, New York, U.S. counsel for the underwriters. Squadron, Ellenoff, Plesent &
Sheinfeld, LLP and Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP may rely, without independent verification,
upon the opinion of Allen & Overy with respect to certain matters of English law.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 1999 and 1998 and for each of the three years in the
pericd ended June 30, 1999 included in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement have been
audited by Arthur Andersen, independent chartered accountants, as indicated in their reports with respect thereto,
and are included herein in reliance upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing in giving
said reports.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed a registration statement on Form F-1 under the Secutities Act with the Commission, with
respect to our offering of the ADSs. This prospectus does not contain all of the information in the registration
statement. You will find additional information about us and the ADSs in the registration statement. For more
information about statements in this prospectus relating to legal documents, we refer you to copies of the
documents that are filed as exhibits to the registration statement,

You may read and copy the registration statement, the exhibits to the registration statement and the reports
and other information filed by us in accordance with the Exchange Act, at the Public Reference Section of the
Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W,, Washington D.C. 20549; Seven World Trade Center, 13th Floor, New
York, New York 10048; and 500 West Madison Street, Chicago, Hllinois 60661. You may obtain copies of all or
any portion of the material by mail from the Public Reference Section of the Commission at 450 Fifth Street,
N.W., Washington D.C. at prescribed rates or by request from NDS, Those reports, proxy statements and other
information may also be inspected at the offices of Nasdag Operations, 1735 K Street, N.W., Washington, D.C.
20006. Our filings will also be available to the public from commercial document retrieval services. You may
obtain information on the operation of the Commissions public reference facilities by calling the Commission in
the U.S. at 1-800-SEC-0330. The Commission also maintains a WebSite at http: www.sec.gov. that contains
reports, proxy statements and information statements and other information regarding registrants that file
electronically with the Commission.

Upon completion of the offering, we will become subject to the informational requirements of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 that are applicable to a foreign private issuer. Accordingly, we will file with the
Commission annual reports on Form 20-F within six months after the end of each financial year and reports on
Form 6-K containing material information which we publicly provide to any stock exchange on which our
securities are traded or which we distribute to our shareholders. As a foreign issuer, we will be exempt from the
Exchange Act rules relating to short swing profits reporting and liability and regarding the content and fomishing
of proxy statements to shareholders.
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SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a company incorporated under the laws of England and Wales and a substantial portion of our assets
and those of certain of our subsidiaries are located outside of the U.S. In additon, some members of our board
of directors and executive officers, and the independent auditors named in this prospectus, are residents of
countries other than the U.S. and substantially all of the assets of such persons are located outside of the U.S.
Although we have agreed to accept service of process in the U.S. by an agent designated for such purpose, it
may not be possible for holders of the ADSs to: :

(1) effect service of process upon some of our directors or officers or those of our subsidiaries; or

(2) enforce against such persons, in U.S. courts or courts of a foreign jurisdiction, the judgments of
U.S. courts whether or not predicated upon the civil liability provisions of U.S. federal securities laws or
other laws of the U.S. or any state thereof.

We have been advised by our English legal advisors, Allen & Overy, that there is doubt as to the
enforceability in the U.K. against any of these persons in an original action or in an action for the enforcement
of judgments of U.S. courts or civil liabilities predicated solely upon U.S. federal securities laws. There is
currently no treaty between the U.S. and England providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of
Judgments (other than arbitration awards) in civil and commercial matters. As a result, a final judgment for the
payment of money obtained in a U.S. court, based on civil liability, whether or not predicated solely upon U.S.
federal or state securities laws, would not necessarily be enforceable in England,

We have appointed Arthur M. Siskind, Esq. /o The News Corporation Limited, 1211 Avenue of the
Americas, New York, New York 10036, as our agent for service of process in any suit, action or proceeding with
respect to the Series A ordinary shares or ADSs and for actions under U.S, federal or state securities laws brought
in any U.S. federal or state court located in The City of New York, Borough of Manhattan, and we will submit
to such jurisdiction.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Approval of Belgian Banking and Finance Commission

This prospectus has been approved by the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission (“ Commissie voor
het Banken Financiewezen/Commission Bancaire et Financiére™) on » 1999 in accordance with Articie
2%1er, §1, par. 1 of Royal Decree No. 185 of 9 July 1935 and Article 11 of the Royal Decree of 31 October 1991
on the publication of prospectuses in connection with public issues of securities. The approval of this prospectus
by the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission does not imply any judgments as to the appropriateness or the
quality of this offering or the ADSs nor the situation of NDS. The notice prescribed by Article 29, §1, of Royal
Decree No. 185 will appear in the financial press on or prior to , 1999,

Responsibility
The directors of NDS named in this prospectus accept responsibility for the information contained in this
document and declare that, to the best of their knowledge, the information contained in this document is in all
material respects in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the meaning of this
prospectus in any material respect.

Authorization
On November 1, 1999, our board of directors approved the offering of the ADSs.

Listing
We have applied to list our ADSs on the Nasdag National Market under the symbol “NNDS” and on the
European Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation. The first day of trading is expected o be
, 1999,

Availability of Information

Companies applying for admission to trading on EASDAQ are required to publish relevant financial and
other information regularly and to keep the public informed of all events likely to affect the market price of their
securities. Price sensitive information will be made available to investors in Europe through the EASDAQ-
Reuters Regulatory Company Reporting System and other international information vendors. Investors which
have no direct access to such information system should inquire with the financial intermediary with whom the
investors have opened a securities account for the purposes of holding and trading ADSs, the terms on which
such information will be provided to them by such financial intermediary.

On the completion of thig offering, we will become subject to the informational requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are applicable to a foreign private issuer, We will file with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission annual reports on Form 20-F including annual audited consolidated
financial statements within six months after the end of each financial year and reports on Form 6-K containing
material information which we publicly provide to any stock exchange on which our securities are traded or
which we distribute to our shareholders. Copies of that informarion may be obtained from the sources indicated
under “Where You Can Find More Information” in this prospectus.

A copy of our memorandum and articles of association is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of
which this prospectus forms a part and can be obtained from the sources indicated under “Where You Can Find
More Information” in this prospectus. Copies of our memorandum and articles of association will also be made
available to any person upon written request addressed to Company Secretary, NDS Group plc, ! Heathrow
Boulevard, 286 Bath Road, West Drayton, Middlesex UB7 0DQ, England.

Seitlement and Clearance

The ADSs will be represented by one global ADR certificate that will be deposited with DTC in the United
States. Transactions in the ADSs executed in the U.S. will be settled by book-entry through financial institutions
that are participants in DTC.
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DTC is a limited-purpose trust company that was created to hold securities for its participants and to
facilitate the clearance and settiement of transactions in such securities between DTC panticipants through
electronic book-entry changes in accounts of DTC participants, DTC participants include securities brokers and
dealers, banks and trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Access to DTC’s
system is also available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or
maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC participant, either directly or indirectly. Persons who are DTC
participants may beneficially own securities held by or on behalf of DTC oaly through DTC participants or DTC
indirect participants.

The ADSs will be quoted on EASDAQ in U.S. dollars. Transactions in the offered shares on EASDAQ will
be setded in U.S. dollars or any other Euroclear or Cedelbank eligible currency through the Euroclear or
Cedelbank System. Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, Brussels Office, is operator of the Euroclear
System. Cedelbank is a société anonyme under Luxembourg law. Euroclear and Cedelbank are DTC indirect
paruicipants. Investors in the ADSs on EASDAQ must have a securities account with a financtal institution that
directly or indirectly has access to Euroclear or Cedelbank.

Euroclear and Cedelbank hold securities and book-entry interests in securities for their direct participants
and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants, and
between their participants and participants of certain other securities intermediaries, including DTC, through
electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants or other securities intermediaries.

Euroclear and Cedelbank provide their respective participants, among other things, with safekeeping,
administration, clearance and settlement, securities lending and borrowing, and related services. Euroclear and
Cedelbank have established an electronic bridge between their two systems across which their respective
participants may settle trades with each other,

Euroclear and Cedelbank participants are investment banks, securities brokers and dealers, banks, central
banks, supranationals, custodians, investment managers, foreign depositories, corporations, trust companies and
certain other organizations and include certain of the underwriters.

Cedelbank and the Euroclear operator will not monitor any transfer and ownership restrictions.
Persons proposing to trade the ADSs on EASDAQ should inform themselves about the costs of sech trading,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

To The Board of Directors of
NDS Group ple,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NDS Group plc (formerly News Digital
Systems plc) as of 30 June 1999 and 1998 and the related consolidated profit and loss accounts and consolidated
cash flow statements for each of the three years in the period ended 30 June 1999, all expressed in pounds stetling
and prepared on the basis set forth in Note 1 1o the consolidated financial statements. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s directors. Our respensibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with United Kingdom generally accepted auditing standards which
are substantially consistent with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoe about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a lest basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the NDS Group plc at 30 June 1999 and 30 June 1998 and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 30 June 1999, in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles in the UK.

Accounting practices used by the Company in preparing the accompanying financial statements conform
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United Kingdom, but do not conform with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. A description of these differences and a complete
reconciliation of consolidated profit (loss) for the financial year and total shareholders’ funds to United States
generally accepted accounting principles is set forth in Note 28,

Arthur Andersen
Chartered Accountants

London, England
November 1, 1999
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NDS GROUP PLC
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS

Year ended Year ended  Year ended
30 June 30 June 3 Jume

Notes 1997 1998 1999
£'000 £000 £000

Turnover
Continuing Operations .................................. 89,022 101,332 127,574
Discontinued operations . ... .................. ... ... .. ... 78,515 87,465 88,348

23 167,537 188,797 215,922
Costofsales ...t 3 (89,256) (90,276) (101.020)
Grossprofit .. ..o 78,281 08,521 114,902
Operating expenses ..............ouuuininin o 3 (69,981) (87.394) (98,029)
Operating profit (loss)
Continuing Operations . .................ooeiuinin. . 5,742 8,137 18,734
Discontinued operations . . ................. ... ... ... .. 2,558 2,990 (1.861)

3 8,300 11,127 16,873

Finance charges (net) . .................. ... ... ... .. .. .. 4 (11,066) (10444) (13,205
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation ... .. ... .. .. 5 (2,766) 683 3,668
Taxation ......... ... 6 312 (508) (1,194
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation ......... .. .. (2.454) 175 2,474
Minority interests. . ........................ .. ... . .. 18 (527 (293) (356)
Profit (loss) for the financial year................ ... .. .. .. {2,981) (118) 2,118
Basic and diluted eamings (loss) pershare ................... 7 .1p) 0.3p) 5.0p

The statement of movements in reserves and the reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds are
provided in Note 17 (c).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated profit and loss accounts.
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NDS GROUP PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES

Year ended  Year ended  Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June

Notes 1997 1998 1999

£000 £'000 £'000

Profit (loss) for the financial year ... ... e ... (2,981) (118) 2,118
Foreign exchange translation ................. ... ... .. .. . 17¢ (192) __(?E) 398

............. (3,173) (206) 2516

—_— —_——

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses.
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NDS GROUP PLC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

30 June 30 June
Notes 1998 1999
£1000 £000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets ... ... ... 9 34,928 32,652
Tangible @ssets . . ... ..o 10 31,550 34,851
66,478 67,503
Current assets
SOCKS oo v s 11 18,303 33,258
Debtors——due withinone year . . ... ..................0.0...... 12 42,665 75,405
—due afteroneyear ........ ... i 6 8,717 3,307
Cashatbankandinhand ............. ... ... 0. ... 13 4214 2,690
73,859 114,660
Creditors .
Amounts falling due withinone year. . .............. ... ... ... 14 (74,194 (120,637
Net current liabilities . . . ..................................... (295) (5,977
Total assets less current liabilities ......................... ... .. 66,183 61,526
Creditors
Amounts falling due afteroneyear ........................... 15 (132,996) (133,540
Provisions for liabilities and charges . ................... ... .. ... 16 (20,322) (12,120)
Netliabilities . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... ... ... . ... .. . ... (87.135) (84,134)
Capital and reserves
Share capital ...... ... .. . 17 264 264
Profitand lossaccount . ..................... ... ... ... ... .. 17 (263,932)  (261,416)
Capital contribution ........... ... ... ... .. .. ... 17 133,265 133,265
Total equity shareholders™ funds .................. ... .. ... (130,403) (127,887
Nonequitycapital ......... ... ... ... . ... ... 17 42,000 42,000
Total shargholders’ funds . ........................ ... ... (88,403) (85,887
MINOMLY INMEIESES . . .. .\ttt e 18 1,268 1,753
Total capitalemployed .. .......................... ... ... ... (87.135) (84,134)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of fkese consolidated balance sheets.
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NDS GROUP PLC
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Year ended  Year ended  Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June

Notes 1997 1998 1999

£000 £000 £1000
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities ,.......... 19 14,971 39,707  (25,255)
Returns on investments and servicing of finance, ........... 20 (1,555) (10,444 (13,205)
Taxation. ......o.oovviniiii i 20 (980)  (2,193) (1.612)
Capital expenditure and financial investment .............. 20 (19,336) (12,815 (13,334
Cash (outflow) inflow before financing (6,900) 14,255 (53,406)
Financing . ......... oo 20 (6,005) 57 10,546
(Decrease) increase in cash inthe year. . ................... 21 (12,905) 14,198  (42,860)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated cash Jflow statements.
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. | Accounting policies and principal activity

NDS Group plc (the “Company™) is incorporated in England and Wales. It changed its name from News
Digital Systems plc on 19 August 1999. The Company, together with its subsidiaries (the “NDS Group™), is
engaged in the business of providing conditional access software and systemns used by broadcasters and content
providers. With effect from | July 1999, the business of developing and manufacturing digital compression
products was transferred out of the NDS Group (see Note 26a). The results of that business are shown as
discontinued operations in the accompanying financial statements.

Accounting standards and pronouncements which come into effect subsequent to 30 June 1999 include
Financial Reporting Standard (‘FRS’) 15 “Tangible Fixed Assets” under UK. GAAP and SFAS 133
‘Accounting for Derivative Investments and for Hedging ‘Activities’ under U.S. GAAP. Compliance with these
standards, 1o the extent that it is not already achieved. will be ensured in future periods. The main impact is
likely to result in additional disclosures being made in the financial statements. We expect minimal disclosure
impact from SFAS 133 because the Company has no instruments that fall within its scope. In addition,
compliance with those standards which apply to entities with listed securities only, including FRS 13
“Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments: Disclosures” under U.K. GAAP will be ensured where
appropriate.

The principal accounting policies, all of which have been applied consistently throughout the three-year
period, are:

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable UK financial reporting and accounting standards,

(b) Basis of consolidation

The financial statements consolidate the accounts of the Company, all its subsidiary undertakings and NDS
Americas Inc. (see below) drawn up 10 30 June each year. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated on consolidation.

The Company’s ultimate parent company is The News Corporation Limited, which taken together with its
subsidiary and associated undertakings is referred to herein as “The News Corporation Group”. The immediate
parent of the Company is Newscorp Investments which, together with its subsidiary undertakings, is referred to
herein as “The Newscorp Investments Group”.

The NDS Group has an operational presence in the USA, whose activities are carried out through NDS
Americas Inc, which is a company not owned by the NDS Group, but by another entity within The News
Corporation Group. NDS Americas Inc. is consolidated in these financial staternents since, under UK. GAAP
and in accordance with section 258 of the Companies Act 1985, there is a control contract between the Company
and the shareholders of NDS Americas Inc. A minority interest equal to the whole of the net income and net
assets of NDS Americas Inc. is recorded under UK. GAAP, Information about minority interests is disclosed in
Note 18,

The results and cash flows of subsidiaries or businesses acquired or sold are consolidated for the periods
from or to the date on which control passed 1o or from the NDS Group. There were no acquisitions or disposals
during the three years presented.

(¢} Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings or businesses represents the excess of the
fair value of the consideration given over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Goodwill
is capitalised and written off on a straight-line basis over its useful economic life, which is estimated to be 20
years. This is the Directors’ estimate of the period over which benefits will accrue to the NDS Group in respect
of this goodwill. Provision is made for any impairment.
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NDS GROUPPLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

{(d) Research and developmen:

Research and development expenditure is written off 1o the profit and loss account as incurred.

(e} Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. They are depreciated on a straight
line basis over their expected useful economic lives or anticipated length of use by the NDS Group. The useful
lives, are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over lesser of useful life or period of lease
Equipment and fumniture 3 to 6 years
() Stocks and work-in-progress

Stocks and work-in-progress are valued at the lower of cost (calculated on a first in, first out (FIFO) basis)
and net realisable value. Cost represents purchase price and, in respect of manufactured items, includes an
appropriate proportion of production overheads. Provision is made for cbsolete, slow-moving or defective items
where appropriate.

(g} Debtors

Debtors are recognised as the amounts due to the NDS Group, net of any valuation reserve.

(h) Foreign currency

The reporting currency and principal functional currency of the NDS Group is UK pounds sterfing,
However, the functional currency of each of the subsidiaries of NDS Group ple is the local currency of the
country in which each subsidiary is located.

Normal trading activities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in sterling at actual exchange rates
as at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cumrencies at the year end
are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at the year end with any resulting gain or loss being recorded in
the profit and loss account.

The results and cash flows of overseas operations are translated into sterling at the average rates of exchange
during the period and their balance sheets at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences
arising on translation of the opening net assets and resuits of overseas operations are dealt with through reserves,

(i) Taxation

Corporation tax is provided on the taxable profits for the year at the rate prevailing during the year.

Taxation deferred or accelerated is accounted for using the liability method on all timing differences, only
to the extent that they are expected to reverse in the future without being replaced. No deferred tax assets arising
from indexation of certain assets for tax purposes are recognized,

() Turnover

Tumover represents amounts receivable by the NDS Group for goods and services provided in the ordinary
course of business, net of trade discounts, value added tax and other sales-related taxes.

F-8

ESC0179899

CASE NO. SA CV03-950 DOC(JTL)




NDS GROUF PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The provision of software and systems for broadcasters gives rise to a number of revenue streams for which
accounting policies are applied as follows:

—LConditional access security services

The NDS Group derives revenues from the provision of conditional access systems to television
broadcasters and content providers. Conditional access Systems enable such customers to manage and control the
distribution of programs and information and to protect such content from signal theft. The NDS Group
conditional access systems include software that is installed at the broadcasters’ facilities as well as software and
smart cards in set-top boxes, digital televisions and PC’s. Revenues from the provision of conditional access
systems, comprise the following elements: '

*  Smart cards
Smart cards are sold to the broadcaster for distribution to and use by their subscribers. The revenues
derived from these sales are recognised upon despatch of the cards.

¢ Subscriber fees :

In some circumstances, NDS receives fees from broadcasters for the maintenance of security of
conditional access systems for a specified duration which is typically between 18 and 40 months. Fees
are received over the duration of the agreed service period and are related to the number of subscribers
that the broadcasters have. These revenues are recognised in the period in which the security services
are performed, The extent of services, which comprise maintenance of security of the conditional
access systems, will vary between customers and, on occasion, may include the supply of smart cards
for no extra charge to the broadcasters at a future date in order to replace a population of smart cards
to maintain their security. This is an integral part of the wider security maintenance activities and the
subscriber fees continue to be recognised as the services are performed. Costs associated with such
arrangements include, therefore, the production of the smart cards 10 be provided. In these
circomstances, a provision is made in the financial statements, which reflects the amount of the total
anticipated costs relating to the subscriber fees recognised to date. The proportion of revenues
recognised to date as compared with total security fees expected over the duration of the mainienance
agreement is applied to the total anticipated costs in order to calculate the provision required as at each
balance sheet date. Movement in the provision are included within the profit and loss account as part
of cost of sales.

—Development contracts

Some of the NDS Group’s development contracts have characteristics of long-term contracts as defined in
Statement of Standard Accounting Practice No. 9 (Revised) “Stocks and long-term contracts”.

Contracts are undertaken for customers on the basis of time and materials and according to fixed price terms,
or a combination of the two, Tumover for contracts negotiated on a time and materials basis is recognised as
costs are incurred. For fixed price contracts, turnover and profit are recognised according to the proportion of the
estimated total contract value completed, ascertained by reference to percentage of technical completion.

The duration of development contracts undertaken has varied from under one year to approximately two
years. Where a contract has not sufficiently progressed for the outcome to be seen with reasonable certainty, but
no loss is expected, no profit is recognised. All losses are recognised as soon as incurred or reasonably foreseen.

Total contract tunover and profitability to date are reviewed periodically and the cumulative effects of
changes are recognised in the period in which they are identified.

‘Contract work-in-progress’ is included within stocks and represents costs incurred for which no related
turnover has been recognised, net of foreseeable losses and ‘Payments received on account’. ‘Payments received
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

on account’ in excess of amounts included within stocks are included within creditors and represent amounts
received from customers not recognised as tumover,

—Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised in the period in which it is earned.
—Breadcast products

Revenue from the sale of broadcast products is recognised when the products are despatched (o the
customer.

(k) Pension costs

For defined benefit schemes the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension costs is
the estimated regular cost of providing the benefits accrued in the year, adjusted to reflect variations from that
cost. The regular cost is caiculated so that it represents a substantially level percentage of current and future
payroll. Variations from regular cost are charged or credited to the profit and loss account as a constant
percentage of payroll over the estimated average remaining working life of scheme members, Defined benefit
schemes are externally funded with the assets of the scheme held separately from those of the NDS Group in
separate trustee administered funds. Differences between amounts charged to the profit and loss account and
amounts funded or paid directly to members of unfunded schemes are shown as either accruals or prepayments
in the balance sheet,

For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect of pension
costs is the contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and
contributions actually paid are shown as either accruais or prepayments in the balance sheet

() Government grants

The NDS Group receives grants towards the cost of certain capital expenditure. Such prants are treated as
deferred income and released to the profit and loss account over the expected useful lives of the assets concemned.

{m) Warranty provisions

Where the NDS Group provides a warranty to customers (typically one year) a provision is recognised for
the anticipated costs to be incurred during the warranty period. The amount of the provisicn is calculated based
on historical experience and projected failure rates for individual components. Costs are charged to the provision
as incurred.

(n} Leases

Amounts payable under operating leases and license agreement are charged on a straight line basis over the
lease or license term.

{0) License agreements

The NDS Group has the right to-use certain intellectuat property under various license agreements, Royalties
payable under these agreements are typically calculated as a percentage of relevant revenues and are charged in
the profit and loss account to match with the recognition of those revenues. One of these agreements is with a
related party,

(p) Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
prnciples requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates,
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
2. Segment information
(a) Geographical destination

Tumover may be anaiysed by geographical destination as follows:

Yearended Yearended Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June

1997 1998 1999

: £'000 £600 £000
UK 36,476 49,631 73,334
Europe excluding UK .. ..........ooo o 30,083 30,427 27,965
USA oo e 53,768 59,350 76,700
Americas excluding USA ........................ . ... 16,818 22,336 16,555
Asla-Pacific......... ..o L 30,392 27,053 21,368

167,537 188,797 215,922

(b) Geographical origin

For the purpose of the analyses presented below, the NDS Group’s operations in Israsl have been included
within the UK segment in order to reflect the fact that these operations directly support UK trading activity.

(i) Tumover

Year ended  Year ended  Year ended
30 June 30 Jupe 30 June

1997 1998 1999

£'000 £000 £000
UK 166,360 178,117 188,414
USA 1,177 10,680 27,508

167,537 188,797 215,922

1998 1999
£000 £7000 £000
UK (3,293) 236 3,120
USA e 527 541 548
(2,766) 683 3,668
(iii) Net assets (iabilities)
30 June 30 June
1998 1999
£000 £'000
UK (88,403) (85,887
USA o 1,268 1,753
(87,135 (84,139)
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NDS GROUP PLC |
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued)

(iv) Fixed assets

1 1999

£000 £000

Intangible assets: UK ......iioininni e 34,928 32,652
U A _ —

34,928 32,652

Tangible assets: UK ...... ..o 28,933 32,141

U A 2,617 2,710

31,550 34,851

Total fixed assets: UK . ....uiuinuinuetieene e 63,861 64,793

L 2.617 2,710

(¢) Business segments

The Group has two business segments being the provision of integrated broadcasting system software and
the development and manufacture of digital compression products (the discontinued operation). A number of
revenue streams are associated with the former segment.

These two business segments have separate operational management, operate from different locations and
offer distinet products and services, which require different technology and marketing strategies. The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 to these financial stalements. The results of
the development and manufacture of the digital compression products segment are shown in Note 3. The digital
broadcasting business, which consisted solely of this segment, was sold on 1 July 1999. The net assets of this
disposed segment are shown in Note 26a.

(d) Principal customers

Turnover from related parties is disclosed in Note 24b. Tumover from the principal third party customer of
the continuing operations (defined as a customer accounting for greater than 10% of total turnover) is
£28,240,000 (1998 : £17,165,000; 1997: £19,484,000). :

Substantial revenues are derived from businesses in which The News Corporation Group has an equity
interest (see Note 24).
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

3. Continuing and discontinued operations

An analysis of revenues and costs and operating profit between the continuing and discontinued operations
is as follows;

(a) Year ended 30 June 1999
Continuing  Discontinued

operations operations Total
£000 £000 £°000
Tumover. .. ..o 127,574 88,348 215,922
Costofsales..........oovuuuvii i (52,174 (48,846) (101,020
Gross Profit. . ..o 75,400 39,502 114,902
Operating expenses (excluding Royalties and Goodwill amortization) . . . . (55,297)  (28,736) (84,033)
Tradingprofit ... o 20,103 10,766 30,869
Royalties . ... .. . o — (11,720) (11,720)
Goodwillamonization................................_ ....... (1,369) (907 {2,276}
Operating profit (1058) . .. ........oovuiuine s 18,734 (1,861) 16,873
Operating expenses comprise:
Salesandmarketing. . ............. ... ... ... .. ... . .. (7.012) (7.210) (14,222)
Research and development ................. ... 0. ... .. (36,050) (12,732) (48,782)
General and administration. . ................... ... ....... (13,794) (8,794) (22,588)
Gain on foreign exchange movements. .. ..................... 1,55% — 1,559

(55.297)  (28,736) (84,033}

Continming  Discontinued
operations operations Total
£000 £000 £000
Tumover. ... 101,332 87,465 188,797
Costof sales ... ... (48,725)  (41,551)  (90.276)
Gross profit. . ... e 52,607 45914 98,521
Operating expenses (excluding Royalties and Goodwill amortization) . . . . (43,101) (27,637 (70,738)
Trading profit .......... . . 9,506 18,277 27,783
Royalties .. .. ..o — (14,380) (14,380)
Goodwill amortization. . ................ ... ... ... .. ... (L,369) (507 (2,276)
Operating profit . ............. ... . i 8,137 2,990 11,127
Operating expenses comprise;
Sales and marketing. .. ............... ... ... (6,535) 5,971y  (12,506)
Research and development . ............................... (22,876)  (11,292) (34,168)
General and admimistration. . ................... ... ...... (11,285 (10374) (21,659)
Loss on foreign exchange movements........................ (2,405) — (2,405)

(43,101)  (27,637) (70,738)
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—Continued)

(¢) Year ended 30 June 1997
Continuing Discontinued

operations operations Total
£'000 £7000 £000
Tumover ... ... . 89,022 78,515 167,537
Costofsales ...........oooviuuneenn (49,003) (40,253) (89,256)
Grossprofit .. ......... ... .. 40,019 38,262 78,281
Operating expenses (excluding Royalties and Goodwill
AMOMHZAON) . .o vve i v (32,908) (21,607 (54,515)
Trading profit . ......... .. . . 7111 16,655 23,766
Royalties....... ..o — (13,190) {13,190)
Goodwill amontization ....................... e (1,369} (907) (2,276)
Operating profit ................. ... 0 5,742 2,558 8,300
Operating expenses comprise;
Salesandmarketing ....................... ... ... (2,310) (2,339 (4,649)
Research and development .......................... (20,5535) (10,992) (31,547
General and administration ....................... ... (8,109) (8,276) (16.385)
Loss on foreign exchange movements ... .......... ... .. (1,934) — (1,934)
(32,908) (21,607) (54,515)
4. Finance charges (net)
Year ended Year ended Year ended
30 June 30 June 3 June
1998 1999
£'000 £000 £'000
Net interest payable on amounts due to The News
Corporation Group (see Notes 14 & 15y ........ Cee e 11,345 10,378 13,262
Other interest receivable. . ..., .................. .. ... .. (365 & 12
Other interestpayable ................ ... .. ... ... .. 86 74 _
10,444 13,205

;

All the finance charges are attributable to the continuing operations.
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

5. Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation

(a) The profu (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging ( crediting):

Yearended Yearended Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June

1997 1998 1999
! £000 £000 £000
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets . .. ................. 5,718 8,852 11,045
Amortisation of goodwill .. .. ... ... ... . ... .. ... . . ... 2,276 2,276 2,276
Foreign exchange losses (gains) .................... ... 1,934 2,405 (1,559)
Primary auditors remuneration:

—Audit Services. ... ... i 125 115 115

—Non-audit services ........................... 2 172 35
Secondary auditors remuneration: '

—AUdit Services. ... ..., 13 15 17
Release of deferred capital government grants. . ........... (353) (287 (672)
Management fees payable to The NewsCorp Investments

GrOUD ..o 600 600 656
Operating lease costs . .. .........ovvurenns e, 1,901 3,165 3,598
Directors’ emoluments (including pension contributions). . . . . 404 561 612
Employee costs (see Note 5b) ........................ 34,321 45,880 54,814

Certain directors have additional responsibilities within The News Corporation Group and receive
emoluments for those services from the relevant News Corporation Group entities,

(b) Employee costs
The average monthly number of employees (including executive directors) was: .
Yearended Yearended Year ended

30 June 30 June 30 June
1997 1998 1999

Number Number Number

Development and manufacture of digital compression

products ... .. 411 518 594
Provision of integrated broadcasting system software ... ... . 450 623 717
861 1,141 1,311

e —
P——— — | e

An analysis of total employee costs is as follows:

Yesrended Year ended  Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 Jume

1997 1998 1999

£000 £000 £'000
Wagesand salaries .............. .. ..o, 31,345 42,191 50,429
Sccial SeCUnty COStS . .. ... ... 1,760 2,235 2,697
Penmsion coslsS .. ... .. 1,216 1,454 1,688

34,321 45,880 54,814

{c) Pensions

The group provides pension arrangements tb 103 full-time employees through a defined benefit scheme and
the related costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of professionally quatified actuaries.
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The main assumptions used in the most recent actuarial valuation of the scheme, which was conducted as at
! December 1998, are as follows:

long-term investment yield 7% p.a.
rate of increase in salaries 5.5% p.a.
rate of increase in pensions in payment 3.5% p.a.

The market value of the scheme assets estimated as ar 30 June 1999 was £11,279,000 which represents a
level of funding of 91%. The deficit should be eliminated by increased contributions in the future. 81 of the

members were transferred with the digital broadcasting business and the NDS Group will not be liable for any
deficit autributable to these employees.

The pension cost for the year was:

Yearended Year ended Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June

1997 1998 1999
£'000 £'000 £7000
Defined contribution scheme. . .................. ... .. . . 554 753 1002
Defined benefit scheme ................. ... .. ... . 662 701 686

1,216 1.454 1,688

There were no pension contributions unpaid or prepaid as at 30 June 1999 or 30 June 1998,

6. Taxation

Yearended Yearended  Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June

1997 1998 1999

£000 £000 £2000
UK Corporation tax at 30.75% (1998 31.0%; 1997 325%) ..... (1,773) 3617 (5,768)
Movement on deferred taxation ................ ... .. ..., 1,111 (3,640) 5,410
Overseas taxation. .. .............ouievues o 350 531 1,552

(312) 508 1,194

The charge (credit) for UK. Corporation tax represents amounts surrendered by (to) The Newscorp
Investments Group in respect of tax group relief.

The Group is subject to taxation on the profits of its overseas subsidiaries. All profits arise on transactions
with UK Group companies, It is also subject to taxation on certain remittances from overseas subsidiaries and
customers, for which UK double taxation relief is substantially available.

The tax rate differs from the statutory taxarion rate as a consequence of certain permanent differences and
the application of different overseas tax rates.
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
A reconciliation of the tax charge is as follows:

Year ended Year ended  Year ended
30 June 30 June 30 June
1997 1998

1999
_ £4000 £000 £'000
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation ............ (2,766) 683 3,668
Primafacietaxrate ................... ... . ... . ... . 32.50% 31.00% 30.75%
Prima facie tax charge {eredit) ........................ .. (899} 212 1,128
Taxcharge (credit) .. ... (312) 508 1,194
Difference ........... (587) __(ﬁ) _(66)
Difference due to;
Different tax rates on profits earned outside of UK. .......... 1,006 " 839 856
Effect of changesintaxrate ....................... .. ... (339 (319) —
Permanent differences
Non-deductible goodwill . .. ...... ... .. ....... ... .. (740) (706> (700)
Non-deductible expenses. . ...................... . . (514) (110) (222)
(587) (296) (66)

There are material differences between profits recognised in the financial statements of NDS Group
compenies and profits caleulated for tax purposes. Centain charges, primarily goodwili amortisation, are
disallowable for tax purposes and others are recognised for tax purposes in periods different from those in which
they are recognised in the financial statements, These latter timing differences give rise to deferred tax assets,
the potential benefit of which is recognised unless the assat is not expected to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets recognised relate to:

1998 1999
£'000 £'000
Short tern timing differences on accrued éxpenses .............. 5,240 1,304
Long term timing differences on fixed assets . . ................. 580 803
Timing differences attributable to royalty payments . .. ........... 2,897 1,200

There were no unrecognised deferred tax assets or liabilities at 30 June 1999 or 30 June 1998, with the

exception that potential deferred tax assets arising from the indexation of cenain assets of the Group's operations
in Israel.
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NDS GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—{Continued)

The tax charge (credit) may be analysed between continuing and discontinued operations as follows:

Year ended Yearended Year ended
30 June 36 June 30 June
1997

1998 1999
£1000 £°000 £°000
UK Corporation tax
Continuing operations. . ................. (594) (821) (2,925)
Discontinued operations . ................ (779 4,438 (2,843)

(1,773) 3,617 (3,768)

Movement on deferred tax
. Continuing operations................... (834) (445) 2,801
Discontinued operations .. ............... 1,945 (3,194) 2,609

1,111 (3.640) 5,410

————

Overseas taxation
Continuing operations., . . ................ 350 531 1,552
Discentinved operations .. ...............

|

531 1,552

Total 1ax charge (credit)
Continuing operations................... (1,478) (736) 1,428
Discontinued operations ................. 1,166 1,244 (234)
(312) 508 1,194

The NDS Group’s Israeli subsidiary has been granted “approved enterprise status” for certain of its
investment and expansion programmes under Isracli law, As at 30 June 1999 five programmes were applicable
to the group.

Two of the programmes are enttled to receive grants of 38% of the cost of the approved fixed assets and
will be subject to 10% company tax on the proportion of taxable income arising from the programmes for a
period of ten years commencing with the first year of taxable income (subject to certain time limits). The period
of benefits relating to these programmes will expire no later than the years ending 30 June 2002 and 30 June
20085.

The other programmes are to receive grants of 24% of the costs of the approved fixed assets. The company
1s entitled to a tax holiday from the first two years and 10 10% company tax on the proportion of taxable income
arising from the programmes for the subsequent eight years (also subject 1o certain time limits). The period of
benefits relating to two of these programmes will expire no later than the years ending 30 June 2006 and 30 June
2007. The benefit period for the latest programme not yet fuily impiemented, has not commenced.

If the company fails to comply with the conditions of the approval, it will be required to refund the amount
of the grants, in whole or in part, with interest from the date of receipt of the grants. The company has registered
a floating charge on its plant and equipment in favour of the State of Israel to secure compliance with the terms
of the grants.

Any cash dividends paid out of profits derived from an approved enterprise are generally subject to a
witholding tax of 15%. Cash dividends paid out of income, which has benefited from the aforementioned tax
holiday, would result in the company having to pay corporate tax, ai the above mentioned reduced rate, on the
amount distributed,

In the event of distribution of cash dividends from income taxed at zero rate, a reduced tax rate in respect
of the amount distributed would have to be paid. As of June 30, 1999, a distribution of all accumulated profits ag
a cash dividend would result in an additional tax expense which would approximate $560,000 as the tax rate
which applies to such distribution would be 10%. Effectively such dividend distribution would be reduced by
the amount of the tax.
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